Particle tracking as modelling tool for coastal management in the Baltic Sea

Dissertation zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades doctor rerum naturalium (Dr. rer. nat.) der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Universität Rostock

vorgelegt von Bianca Schippmann eingereicht in Rostock am 30.07.2013

verteidigt in Rostock am 06.12.2013



urn:nbn:de:abv:28-diss2014-0029-1

Gutachter

Privat-Dozent Dr. Gerald Schernewski Leibniz Instiut für Ostseeforschung Warnemünde, Sektion biologische Meereskunde

Prof. Dr. Heide Schulz-Vogt Leibniz Instiut für Ostseeforschung Warnemünde, Sektion biologische Meereskunde

Prof. Dr. Arturas Razinkovas-Baziukas Research & International Co-operation Coastal Research & Planning Institute Klaipeda University

Ich danke meinem Betreuer Gerald Schernewski für die konstruktiven Disskussionen und Anregungen, und die Möglichkeit diese Arbeit zu schreiben.

Weiterhin danke ich Hans Burchard und Ulf Gräwe, die mir bei Modellierproblemen immer mit Rat und Tat zur Seite standen.

Ein großes Dankeschön geht außderdem an meine Arbeitsgruppen (COPPS, AG Küste) und Kollegen am IOW für die immer gute Zusammenarbeit und motivierenden Pausen. Insbesondere geht mein Dank hierbei an Elisabeth Schulz, die mich bei Programmierprobleme immer tatkräftig unterstützt hat, und an Annethea Muller, die meine Texte immer, und ohne Wenn und Aber sprachlich korrigiert hat.

Ein besonderer Dank gilt Holk und meinen Eltern. Sie waren immer für mich da und haben mir in schweren und manchmal aussichtslosen Zeiten die Kraft gegeben weiter zu machen.

Contents

1	Ger	neral introduction	10				
	1.1	Motivation of this dissertation	10				
	1.2	Bathing water quality of the Baltic Sea	12				
1.3 EU Bathing Water Quality Directive							
1.4 Microorganisms							
	1.5	The model system	18				
		1.5.1 General Estuarine Transport Model	18				
		1.5.2 Stochastic differential equations and the					
		General Individuals Transport Model	19				
	1.6	The thesis structure	22				
2	Esc	herichia coli pollution in a Baltic Sea lagoon	23				
	2.1	Introduction	23				
	2.2	Study site	24				
	2.3	Measurements and methods	26				
		2.3.1 Measurements	26				
		2.3.2 Forcing the circulation model	27				
	2.4	GETM validation	28				
		$2.4.1 \text{Elevation} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	28				
		$2.4.2 \text{Temperature} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	29				
		$2.4.3 \text{Scenarios} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	31				
	2.5	Results	33				
		2.5.1 Wind scenarios	33				
		2.5.2 Mortality scenarios	34				
		2.5.3 River discharge scenarios	36				
		2.5.4 Emissions amount scenarios	37				
		2.5.5 Realistic simulation in 2006	37				
		2.5.6 Scenario summary	39				
	2.6	Conclusion and discussion	41				
3	A n	nodel tool for bathing water quality management	45				
	3.1	Introduction	45				

	3.2	Study site and measurements	47
	3.3	Scenario application	50
	3.4	Results	51
		3.4.1 Realistic model simulations	51
		3.4.2 Idealised simulations	54
		3.4.3 Recommendations towards an improved management and monitoring	57
	3.5	Discussion and conclusion	59
4	Dog	umongo of potential human pathogonic Vibria	65
4	nec	arrence of potential human pathogenic <i>Violito</i>	00
	4.1	Introduction	65
	4.2	Area of interest and measurements	67
	4.3	Methods and model scenarios	72
		4.3.1 Setup information and validation	72
		4.3.2 Model validation	75
	4.4	Results	80
	4.5	Discussion and conclusion	86
5	The	bathing water quality information system	90
J	тпе	bathing water quality information system	30
	5.1	The implementation	90
	5.2	The application	91
6	Sum	mary and conclusion	93

List of Tables

1.1	EU Bathing Water Directive threshold values for $E.coli$ in cfu /100	
	ml (corresponds to faecal coliforms). (*) Based upon a 95-percentile;	
	(**) Based upon a 90-percentile (European Environment Agency (2010);	
	European Union (1976, 2006)).	15
2.1	Mean, maximum and minimum root mean square error and coefficient of	
	determination computed from the surface elevation model results of 2006	
	and 2008.	30
2.2	Root mean square error and coefficient of determination for surface tem-	
	perature at Trzebiez and Swinoujscie.	30
2.3	Parameter sets for the different particle tracking scenarios.	33
2.4	Prerequisites and major outcomes of the scenarios.	41
3.1	Transport ranges in km towards east according to south west winds for two	
	wind speeds 3 and 6 m s ^{-1} after 1, 2, until after 10 days. The western	
	dispersion is about 1 km for both wind speeds and all days	57
4 1		
4.1	Mean, maximum and minimum root mean square error and coefficient	
	of determination computed from the modelled sea surface elevation and	
	modelled sea surface temperature (in brackets) in 2010 and 2011. \ldots	77
4.2	Statistical evaluation of the daily-mean sea surface temperature in $^{\circ}$ C	
	from June to September in 2010 and 2011. Std: Standard deviation, Min:	
	Minimum, Max: Maximum, 90-perc: 90 percentile, 95-perc: 95-percentile.	82

List of Figures

	Simulated conditions for summer tourism in Europe for 1961–1990 (left)	
	and 2071–2100 (right) according to high emissions scenario (modified after	
	European Environment Agency (2012b)). The black frame marks the Baltic	
	Sea	13
1.2	Bathing water quality of the Baltic Sea in July 2013. Places with excellent	
	bathing water quality are marked in dark green, with good quality in green,	
	sufficient in yellow and poor in red. (source: European Environment Agency	
	(<mark>2013b)))</mark>	14
1.3	<i>E. coli</i> stock (source: Marler (2011))	17
1.4	Color-enhanced scanning electron micrograph showing Salmonella Ty-	
	phimurium (red) invading cultured human cells (source: Rocky Mountain	
	Laboratories, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National	
	Institutes of Health (2005)).	17
1.5	Electronic microscope picture of V.cholerae with scale = 1 μ m (source:	
	Muhsin Özel, G. (Holland/ Robert Koch Institute) (2012)).	19
0.1	(-) Catallita mintered of the Wastern Daltie (Flack Fauth) Calented, and of	
<u> </u>	(a) Satellite picture of the Western Baltic (Flash Earth). Selected: area of	
<u> </u>	(a) Satellite picture of the Western Baltic (Flash Earth). Selected: area of Oder Lagoon. (b) Topography of entire model set-up area and grid outline	25
	(a) Satellite picture of the Western Baltic (Flash Earth). Selected: area of Oder Lagoon. (b) Topography of entire model set-up area and grid outline showing every 20-th grid box.	25
2.2	 (a) Satellite picture of the Western Baltic (Flash Earth). Selected: area of Oder Lagoon. (b) Topography of entire model set-up area and grid outline showing every 20-th grid box. Coliform (a) and <i>E. coli</i> concentrations (b) in 2006 measured in Czarnocin (cellere). Trephics (red). Stempics (blue). Let every (light mean) and Dahie 	25
2.2	(a) Satellite picture of the Western Baltic (Flash Earth). Selected: area of Oder Lagoon. (b) Topography of entire model set-up area and grid outline showing every 20-th grid box	25
	(a) Satellite picture of the Western Baltic (Flash Earth). Selected: area of Oder Lagoon. (b) Topography of entire model set-up area and grid outline showing every 20-th grid box	25
2.2	 (a) Satellite picture of the Western Battic (Flash Earth). Selected: area of Oder Lagoon. (b) Topography of entire model set-up area and grid outline showing every 20-th grid box. Coliform (a) and <i>E. coli</i> concentrations (b) in 2006 measured in Czarnocin (yellow), Trzebiez (red), Stepnica (blue), Lubczyna (light green), and Dabie (dark green) plotted against the thresholds of the EU Bathing Water Directives 1976/7/EEC (solid line: guide value, dotted line: mandatory 	25
	 (a) Satellite picture of the Western Battic (Flash Earth). Selected: area of Oder Lagoon. (b) Topography of entire model set-up area and grid outline showing every 20-th grid box. Coliform (a) and <i>E. coli</i> concentrations (b) in 2006 measured in Czarnocin (yellow), Trzebiez (red), Stepnica (blue), Lubczyna (light green), and Dabie (dark green) plotted against the thresholds of the EU Bathing Water Directives 1976/7/EEC (solid line: guide value, dotted line: mandatory value) and 2006/7/EC (dashed-dotted line: guide value, dashed line: 	25
	 (a) Satellite picture of the Western Battic (Flash Earth). Selected: area of Oder Lagoon. (b) Topography of entire model set-up area and grid outline showing every 20-th grid box. Coliform (a) and <i>E. coli</i> concentrations (b) in 2006 measured in Czarnocin (yellow), Trzebiez (red), Stepnica (blue), Lubczyna (light green), and Dabie (dark green) plotted against the thresholds of the EU Bathing Water Directives 1976/7/EEC (solid line: guide value, dotted line: mandatory value) and 2006/7/EC (dashed-dotted line: guide value, dashed line: mandatory value). 	25
2.2 2.2 2.2	 (a) Satellite picture of the Western Battic (Flash Earth). Selected: area of Oder Lagoon. (b) Topography of entire model set-up area and grid outline showing every 20-th grid box. Coliform (a) and <i>E. coli</i> concentrations (b) in 2006 measured in Czarnocin (yellow), Trzebiez (red), Stepnica (blue), Lubczyna (light green), and Dabie (dark green) plotted against the thresholds of the EU Bathing Water Directives 1976/7/EEC (solid line: guide value, dotted line: mandatory value) and 2006/7/EC (dashed-dotted line: guide value, dashed line: mandatory value). Filtered wind direction (a) together with <i>E. coli</i> measurements at two 	25
	 (a) Satellite picture of the Western Battic (Flash Earth). Selected: area of Oder Lagoon. (b) Topography of entire model set-up area and grid outline showing every 20-th grid box. Coliform (a) and <i>E. coli</i> concentrations (b) in 2006 measured in Czarnocin (yellow), Trzebiez (red), Stepnica (blue), Lubczyna (light green), and Dabie (dark green) plotted against the thresholds of the EU Bathing Water Directives 1976/7/EEC (solid line: guide value, dotted line: mandatory value) and 2006/7/EC (dashed-dotted line: guide value, dashed line: mandatory value). Filtered wind direction (a) together with <i>E. coli</i> measurements at two exemplary stations Trzebiez (red stars) and Stepnica (green stars) and wind 	25 27
2.2 2.2 2.2	 (a) Satellite picture of the Western Battic (Flash Earth). Selected: area of Oder Lagoon. (b) Topography of entire model set-up area and grid outline showing every 20-th grid box. Coliform (a) and <i>E. coli</i> concentrations (b) in 2006 measured in Czarnocin (yellow), Trzebiez (red), Stepnica (blue), Lubczyna (light green), and Dabie (dark green) plotted against the thresholds of the EU Bathing Water Directives 1976/7/EEC (solid line: guide value, dotted line: mandatory value) and 2006/7/EC (dashed-dotted line: guide value, dashed line: mandatory value). Filtered wind direction (a) together with <i>E. coli</i> measurements at two exemplary stations Trzebiez (red stars) and Stepnica (green stars) and wind speed (b) summer 2006. 	25 27 27
2.2 2.2 2.3 2.3	(a) Satellite picture of the Western Battic (Flash Earth). Selected: area of Oder Lagoon. (b) Topography of entire model set-up area and grid outline showing every 20-th grid box	25 27 27
2.2 2.2 2.3 2.3	 (a) Satellite picture of the Western Battic (Flash Earth). Selected: area of Oder Lagoon. (b) Topography of entire model set-up area and grid outline showing every 20-th grid box. Coliform (a) and <i>E. coli</i> concentrations (b) in 2006 measured in Czarnocin (yellow), Trzebiez (red), Stepnica (blue), Lubczyna (light green), and Dabie (dark green) plotted against the thresholds of the EU Bathing Water Directives 1976/7/EEC (solid line: guide value, dotted line: mandatory value) and 2006/7/EC (dashed-dotted line: guide value, dashed line: mandatory value). Filtered wind direction (a) together with <i>E. coli</i> measurements at two exemplary stations Trzebiez (red stars) and Stepnica (green stars) and wind speed (b) summer 2006. Time series of the measured water gauges (blue) against the model results (red) from April to October 2008 at stations: Koserow (a), Wolin (b), 	25 27 27

2.5	Time series of the measured water temperature (blue) against the model	
	results (red) from April to October 2008 at Swinoujscie (a) and Trzebiez (b).	31
2.6	Surface flow fields in the Oder mouth area for a steady south-west wind at	
	a speed of 3 ms^{-1} (a) and 6 ms^{-1} (b).	34
2.7	<i>E. coli</i> bacteria concentration pattern at: south-west wind at speed of 3	
	ms^{-1} (a), north-east wind at speed of 6 ms^{-1} (b), south-west wind at speed	
	of 6 ms ^{-1} (c) and north-west wind at speed of 6 ms ^{-1} (d). The black line	
	within the colour scale shows the EU threshold of 500 cfu/100 ml \Im	35
2.8	Risk map of maximal E. coli concentration computed with different	
	mortality rates (scenario M). (a) $\lambda = 0.009 \text{ h}^{-1}$, (b) $\lambda = 0.0185 \text{ h}^{-1}$ and	
	(c) $\lambda = 0.0571$ h ⁻¹ . The black line within the colour scale shows the EU	
	threshold of 500 cfu/100 ml	36
2.9	Water currents and speed, and $E. \ coli$ concentration risk map (scenario R)	
	at (a,d) summer minimum (64 m^3s^{-1}), (b,e) summer mean (414 m^3s^{-1}),	
	and (c,f) summer maximum (1606 m ³ s ⁻¹) Oder river discharge. The black	
	line within the colour scale shows the EU threshold of 500 cfu/100 ml \Im	38
2.10	$E. \ coli \ risk \ map \ computed \ with \ different \ E. \ coli \ emission \ amounts \ (scenario$	
	E). (a) 10^8 cfu/100 ml, (b) 10^6 cfu/100 ml and (c) 10^4 cfu/100 ml. The	
	black line within the colour scale shows the EU threshold of 500 cfu/100 ml. $\stackrel{<}{_\sim}$	39
2.11	Possible E. coli contamination on $18/07/06$ (upper) and $16/08/06$ at 12	
	o'clock (lower). The concentration maps (a,c) are shown in the left column	
	and trajectories of particles (b,d) representing <i>E. coli</i> emissions at different	
	days are shown in the right column.	10
3.1	(a) Satellite picture of the Western Baltic (Flash Earth). Selected: area	
	of Pomeranian Bight and Oder Lagoon. (b) Topography of entire model	
	set-up area with grid outline showing every 20-th grid box, and a map of	
	Poland indicating the study area location.	17
3.2	The situation at Miedzyzdroje beach. Long sandy beach (left) with fisher	
	boats docking close to the tourists bathing area (middle) and the shops at	
	the beach (right).	17
3.3	In-situ measurements of <i>E. coli</i> concentrations and <i>Salmonella</i> presence at	
	all sampling stations divided in stations west (light grey) and east (dark	
	grey) of the pier during the bathing season 2008. EU Bathing Water	
	Directive threshold values for $E.coli$ (cfu/100 ml) for sufficient (based upon	
	a 90-percentile) and excellent (based upon a 95-percentile) quality are shown	
	as dashed and dashed-dotted lines.	19
3.4	Measurement locations (a) and occurrence of <i>Salmonella</i> in summer 2008	
	(b)	19
3.5	Daily mean surface (a) and above-bottom (b) flow field pattern of the	
	southern Pomeranian Bight on 2008/08/08.	51

7

3.6	Trajectories of 5.000 particles emitted (a) east of the pier at Miedzyzdroje	
	beach, (b) at the fisher base, (c) at tower 12 and (d) in front of sewage	
	treatment plant in Swinoujscie (Swina river). For better visualisation the	
	figure show only a limited region of the domain.	53
3.7	Percentage particle distribution after 1 (a), 2 (b), 3 (c), \dots and 6 (f) days of	
	backtracking. The values are clustered in boxes of size of $300 \text{ m} \ge 300 \text{ m}$.	54
3.8	Possible Salmonella contamination on (a) $2008/08/08$ and (b) on $2008/09/07$	
	at 12 o'clock with an emission source in Miedzyzdroje. Shown are the	
	concentrations integrated over the entire water column. The black line	
	in the colorbar indicates the infection dose rate of an adult according to	
	Briese and Heinemeyer (1989) and Havemeister (1989). The small panel	
	in the upper left corners shows the wind direction and speed during the	
	simulation periods.	55
3.9	Modelled steady state surface flow fields (upper) and bottom flow fields	
	(lower) forced with constant 10 m wind of 6 m s^{-1} from east (a,c) and west	
	(b,d).	56
3.10	Scenario risk maps of maximal <i>Salmonella</i> density according to the forcing	
	with steady state flow fields from the 8 cardinal wind directions with	
	speed of 6 m s ^{-1} . Shown are the concentrations integrated over the entire	
	water column. The black line within the colorbar indicates the Salmonella	
	threshold for an infection according to Briese and Heinemeyer (1989) and	
	Havemeister (1989).	62
3.11	Salmonella tracks according to the forcing with steady state flow fields from	
	the 8 cardinal wind directions with speed of 6 m s^{-1} after 1 (purple), 4 (red)	
	and 9 days (orange).	63
3.12	Schematic workflow for management and monitoring. A detailed description	
	can be found in the text.	64
4.1	Satellite image of the July-mean sea surface temperature in 2010 (left)	
	and 2011 (right) produced with the sensor NOAA-AVHRR with 1 km	
	resolution (source: Bundesamt für Seeschifffahrt und Hydrographie). The	
	black rectangle marks the location of the GWB.	68
4.2	Maps of the GWB showing the bathymetry, beaches and surf areas (upper	
	panel) as well as sediment distribution (lower panel)	69
4.3	Wind speed and direction in summer 2010 and 2011.	70
4.4	Positive Vibrio samples detected in Karlshagen and Lubmin and measured	
	water temperature during the summer seasons 2010 and 2011	71
4.5	Vibrio sampling stations in the GWB of the research programme KLIWAS	
	(light grey) and the two stations of the LAGUS monitoring (dark grey).	72

4.6	Water temperature and numbr of positive Vibrio samples (V and infinite samples)	
1.0	V chalarae V alginolaticale V narchaemolaticale) in adjment and water	
	v. choiceae, v. aiginorgicus, v. paranaemorgicus) in sediment and water	
	summed up over the five GWB monitoring stations (Figure [4.5]). The grey	
	background marks the sampling time. Water temperature data, depicted	
	as black line, were taken from the Landesamt für Umwelt, Naturschutz und	
	Geologie Mecklenburg Western Pomerania sampling station in the central	
	bay, empty spaces are times when no data were available. The black squares	
	with the error bars show the temperature measurements taken during the	
	KLIWAS monitoring averaged over the five sampling stations	73
4.7	Model domain and bathymetry of the Bay of Greifswald model setup. The	
	red lines depict the three open boundaries. The grid is outlined in grey	
	showing every 5-th grid box.	74
4.8	Left: Time series of measured sea surface elevation (blue lines) against	
	the model results (red lines). Right: Time series of measured sea surface	
	temperature (blue squares) against modelled sea surface temperature (red	
	line) from January to November 2010.	76
4.9	Particle release points for scenario 1 (a), 2 (b), 3(c) and 4 (d).	81
4.10	Modelled sea surface temperature in June and July of 2010 (left) and 2011	
	(right)	82
4.11	Exemplary daily-mean flow field patterns in the surface for different dates.	
	(a) Currents on $2010/06/19$ and (b) on $2010/07/1912$ forced with a variable,	
	realistic wind.	83
4.12	Transport and reproduction of particles with V. vulnificus-temperature-	
	dependent division rate released in the water column (a,b) and above	
	the sediment (c,d)in summer 2010 (left) and 2011 (right). (c,d) shows	
	the transport and reproduction assuming the WBSSH to be the source	
	of emission in May 2010 and 2011.	84
4.13	Transport and reproduction of particles with V. vulnificus-temperature-	
	dependent division rate released at Peenemünde (a,b), Strelasund (c,d),	
	Karlshagen (e,f) and Lubmin (g,h) in summer 2010 (left) and 2011 (right).	86
-		
5.1	GENESIS bathing water quality information service of the Oder estuary	92

Chapter 1

General introduction

1.1 Motivation of this dissertation

Baas Becking (1934) stated "Everything is everywhere, but the environment selects", which also refers to microorganisms adapting to different marine environments as i.e. fresh water (Pernthaler (2013)), low temperate water (Grant (2004); Oren (2007)), high temperate water (Jaenicke and Sterner (2013)), saline water (Oren (2013)) or deep sea sediments (Teske (2013)). A considerable number of investigations have been made concerning the distribution of bacteria in sea water. Among the earliest of these were the studies of Russell (1892), who conducted systematic studies of the distribution of bacteria in the Gulf of Naples.

Bacteria are sensitive indicators of water mass (Kriss (1963)) and they have a strong spatial and temporal distribution, the latter of which is relatively unexplored (Fuhrman et al. (2006)). The transport of bacteria in sea water is dominated by hydrographic regime parameters and water currents (Rheinheimer (1977)). Parameters as temperature and salinity determine the survival and/ or growth (Mazur (1980)). Together with the water currents (including turbulent mixing) these factors control the transport ranges of bacteria. Marine bacteria are well adapted to their environment and can further benefit from anthropogenic influences. For example *Cyanobacteria*, well known prokaryotes of the Baltic Sea, profited from increasing eutrophication during the last decades (Bundesamt (2012)). The increased nutrient concentration, arriving via estuaries as i.e. the Oder Lagoon, led to a pronounced growth during summers of the last decade (HELCOM Helsinki Commission (2006)). Additionally, bacteria of the genus Vibrio seem to benefit from high sea surface temperature, which is believed to increase due to climate change (cf. Theede et al. (2008); Baker-Austin et al. (2013)), favouring an increased Vibrio growth. In contrast, bacteria arriving in the coastal ocean via run-off from land (by e.g. sewage treatment plants, agriculture), as faecal bacteria, cannot reproduce in the saline environment (Rhodes and Kator (1988); Kashefipour et al. (2002)), but their die-off rates vary according to e.g. temperature and salinity (Mallin et al. (2000)). Therefore, their concentration decreases with increasing distance to the coast (Weyland (1967)) and

spatial gradient patterns are visible (Fuhrman et al. (2006)). An issue with high practical relevance in the field of bacterial transport in sea water is the distribution of human pathogenic bacteria in coastal waters since insufficient hygienic bathing water quality is often associated with bacterial contamination. This topic underlines the importance of a detailed analyses of bacterial transport and allows, furthermore, to test and apply new approaches. Therefore, the overall aim of this dissertation was to improve the understanding of bacterial transport in coastal waters and to identify the environmental key control parameters and their effect on the transport pattern.

There are many different types of water pollution, but the most common and widespread type is faecal pollution (European Environment Agency (2013a)). A contamination like this can present a risk for human health during swimming or bathing activities in water. Water pollution at bathing places can be caused by insufficient sewage treatment or sewage treatment plant overflow during strong rain events, or even by diffuse run-off from agriculture land. Alternatively, animals like sea birds or dogs can also be sources for faecal pollution close to or even at the beaches.

Since human pathogenic bacteria, as all microorganisms, are passive in the water, they cover small spatial areas and are temporally highly variable even at single beaches. Therefore water quality measurements are limited in how they are able to represent the condition of a single beach over time or the region as a whole and therefore can shed only partial light onto possible bacteria sources and spatial transport patterns. However, monitoring programs are time and cost intensive and there is often not enough money and staff to allow an expansion of the spatial and temporal sampling in order to provide a more complete picture of the bacterial distribution across the region. The monthly water quality monitoring, therefore, does not give insights in the bacterial distribution and neither provides support for a decision in favour of new tourism infrastructures, nor does it help deciding on better water quality management.

The application of circulation and particle tracking models presents a good and promising addition to the observations. They can add to the measurements by expanding the observations from single part measurements to a spatio-temporal picture. This is done by computing water currents with a circulation model, forced by e.g. measured wind and river run-off, and based on this, compute the pathways of hypothetical particles, representing microorganisms. A temporal and spatial picture of the particle distribution can be provided via forward-tracking simulations, while backward simulations can be used to find possible emission sources. Furthermore, the analyses of different wind and river run-off scenarios are possible. Particle tracking can be used as an off-line tool together with pre-simulated flow fields and also as an online tool. In the latter approach the tracking module is coupled or linked to the circulation model (cf. Navas et al. (2011)) whereas in the former case the circulation and tracking models are successively executed. In this dissertation we apply the off-line approach.

Although former studies on coastal management in the Baltic Sea area have used particle tracking together with circulation models, most of the studies were computed with twodimensional model systems (Schernewski and Jülich (2001); Schernewski et al. (2002)). These are not able to fully reproduce the three dimensional flow and transport patterns like with the model system applied here. Additionally, the advantages of the model approach used in this thesis, compared to the one recently used in Schernewski et al. (2012), are the much higher resolution and the large number of particles released. I was therewith able to assess the risk even at single beaches and could provide a better spatial distribution of the microorganisms than in previous studies. Therefore, the simulation results could be used to support authorities in beach management and to identify future monitoring sites. Applying the model system to different case studies within this dissertation demonstrates its potential for not only scientific analyses but also as a tool capable of answering questions of practical relevance. Moreover, the model system can act as a general tool for bathing water quality management. In the event that only short-term measurements are available, as in case of an accidental pollution event (e.g. with *Salmonella*), the model application can be used to derive concrete action recommendations.

Since there is not only a risk to human health from faecal pollutions in the Baltic Sea, but also from microorganisms which are a natural component of the water (e.g. potential human pathogenic *Vibrio spp.*), the application of the model system can be further used to analyse the impact of single parameters influencing the bacteria behaviour (i.e. water temperature) and therewith improve the understanding of the distribution of indigenous bacteria. Additionally, the system can help to support the authorities in identifying future monitoring parameters.

1.2 Bathing water quality of the Baltic Sea

The Baltic Sea is relatively small compared to world oceans, but is nonetheless one of the world's largest brackish water bodies. It is connected to the North Sea by only a small and narrow outlet: the Sound, which limits the water exchange and salt water inflow. The Baltic Sea area covers nearly 416.000 km² while its catchment area extends across a region about four times as large as the sea itself. In Germany, Denmark and Poland as much as 60-70% of the Baltic's catchment area consists of farmland. Forests, wetlands and lakes make up between 65% and 90% of the catchment area in Finland, Russia, Sweden and Estonia. (HELCOM Helsinki Commission (2013)) All in all over 85 million people live in the Baltic catchment area - 26% in large metropolitan, 45% in smaller urban, and 29% in rural areas. Population densities vary from over 500 inhabitants per km² in municipals of Poland, Germany and Denmark to less than 10 inhabitants per km² in the northern parts of Finland and Sweden. In the 10 km radius of the coastal zone alone live almost 15 million people.(HELCOM Helsinki Commission (2013))

For centuries the Baltic Sea has faced extensive pressure from different sources. These include pollution from cities and large industries. However, diffuse pollution from the densely populated catchment area, agriculture, tourism along the coasts and maritime transport also influence the Baltic Sea environment. (HELCOM Helsinki Commission,



Figure 1.1: Simulated conditions for summer tourism in Europe for 1961–1990 (left) and 2071–2100 (right) according to high emissions scenario (modified after European Environment Agency (2012b)). The black frame marks the Baltic Sea.

Baltic Marine Environment Protection Commission (2010) Tourism has become a major source of income in the southern Baltic Sea area due to the attraction of the long and sandy beaches, cliffs, island and lagoons are attractive for beach and bathing tourism. Millions of tourists visit these beaches every year (Schernewski and Sterr (2002)) and this industry is expected to grow continuously in the future (Figure 1.1, European Environment Agency (2012b)). For the Baltic coastal regions of Germany and Poland tourism has become the most crucial economic factor (e.g. more than 50% of the public income in Germany, Schernewski et al. (2002)). A large number of tourists visit these areas for bathing and water sport activities. For example, the coast of Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania has been coveted as beach and bathing destination for more than 200 years. The first German sea side resort Heiligendamm was founded in 1794 already while other important resorts (also at the island of Usedom) followed by the end of the 1890's (Schernewski and Sterr (2002)). Moreover, areas like the Bay of Greifswald (Pomeranian Bight) or the Oder Lagoon are frequently visited due to their shallow water bodies and comparative high water temperatures in summer. In order to develop sustainable bathing tourism high bathing water quality is of great importance. The deterioration of bathing water quality and the subsequent closing of beaches can have serious economic consequences for seaside resorts and may include a loss of reputation. However, despite the high pressure from different sources (mentioned above), the bathing water quality along most coasts of the Baltic Sea are regarded as good to very good (Figure 1.2) according to the EU Bathing



July 3, 2013

Image courtesy of NA SA © 2013 Microsoft Corporation eta_user

Figure 1.2: Bathing water quality of the Baltic Sea in July 2013. Places with excellent bathing water quality are marked in dark green, with good quality in green, sufficient in yellow and poor in red. (source: European Environment Agency (2013b))

Water Directive.

1.3 EU Bathing Water Quality Directive

To guarantee that European bathing waters are clean and without any health risk, the European Union passed the EU Bathing Water Directive 1976/7/EEC. The objective was to safeguard public health and protect the aquatic environment from pollutants in coastal and inland areas (European Environment Agency (2010)). It contained rules and standards for measurements of physical, chemical and microbiological parameters, for example pH-value, transparency, nitrate, coliform bacteria or *Salmonella*. Each EU member state was required to measure these parameters two weeks before the main bathing season started

and biweekly afterwards. The Directive contained mandatory and guide threshold values for each parameter. Bathing places were closed if the recommended values were not met. Overall, the bathing water quality of the EU member states has improved throughout the recent years under the 1976 Bathing Water Directive. However, the EU has revised and updated it and adopted the new European legislation on water quality in 2006 (Directive 2006/7/EC). This new directive simplifies the management and surveillance methods. It allows faster and better information about the water quality to the public, and demands that bathing water profiles contain the potential impairment and risk. Its classification of bathing water quality is based on a three/four years trend instead of a single year result (European Environment Agency (2010)) whereas water samples were taken once a month at each bathing place. Furthermore, the new directive contains 4 threshold categories (excellent quality, good quality, sufficient and poor) instead of the two (mandatory, guide) in the Directive 1976/7/EEC. One of the main changes is the replacement of the parameters total and faecal coliform bacteria by Escherichia coli (E. coli) and intestinal Enterococci. According to Auchenthaler and Huggenberger (2003) faecal coliform bacteria are more reliable than total coliform bacteria at indicating faecal contamination, but since *E. coli* is the only bacterium originating from faeces (Roijackers and Lürling (2007), the correlation between E. coli and faecal pollution is far better (World Health Organisation (2003)). The new directive is however not binding yet. It was

	${\bf guide}\;/{\bf excellent}$	mandatory / sufficient
$1976/7/\mathrm{EEC}$	100*	2000**
$2006/7/\mathrm{EC}$	250*	500**
transition period	100	2000

Table 1.1: EU Bathing Water Directive threshold values for E.coli in cfu /100 ml (corresponds to faecal coliforms). (*) Based upon a 95-percentile; (**) Based upon a 90-percentile (European Environment Agency (2010); European Union (1976, 2006)).

transposed into the EU law in 2008 and should be implemented by the member states by 2014. All member states could choose to report under either the directive (1976/7/EEC) or (2006/7/EC) until 2012. For example Germany, Denmark and Cyprus started reporting their water quality according to the new directive European Environment Agency (2010) in 2008 while Poland started to report under this directive in 2011 (Institute for Meteorology and Water Management Poland (2010b)). As a result of this diversity, the assessment of the EU was undertaken with transition period values until 2012 (Table 1.1). 19 European states (18 member states + Croatia) were benchmarked according to the new Directive in 2012. The benchmark was conducted under the thresholds of the transition period for the other ten countries. The Baltic Sea neighbouring countries Germany (88.1%) and Finland (83.4%) belonged to the ten countries which reached compliance levels with

excellent quality (or complying with the guide values) that were above the EU average in 2012. During this year up to 94% of European bathing waters complied with minimum quality standards of the Directive whereas 78.3% of all bathing places have excellent water quality. There is only a small number of places (1.9%) which did not conform with the EU standards. (European Environment Agency (2013a))

1.4 Microorganisms

Microorganisms mainly concerned about in this study are the bacteria *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*), *Salmonella* and potential human pathogenic *Vibrio spp*. The information given in this section about these bacteria are mainly taken from Dworkin et al. (2006) and the according chapters therein (Welch (2006); Ellermeier and Slauch (2006); J.J. Farmer III and F.W. Hickman-Brenner (2006)).

E. coli (Figure 1.3) is a Gram-negative, facultative anaerobic, rod-shaped bacterium that is nonsporeforming. It has a diameter of 0.5 μ m and a length of 1-3 μ m. *E.coli* is commonly motile in liquid by means of a peritrichous flagella and found in the lower intestine of birds and warm-blooded organisms (endotherms) including humans. It can be secondly found in soil and water as results of faecal contamination. It therefore provides a useful indicator for faecal pollution in bathing waters. The bacterium can grow at temperatures/ pH value ranging from 15 - 48° C/ 5.5 - 8, whereas its growth is optimal at temperatures/ pH value ranging from 37 - 42° C/ 7 (Ingraham and Marr (1987)). However, *E.coli* is known to be not able to replicate outside the intestine. *E. coli* can enter the water via effluents, the excretion of animals or after sewage treatment plants due to insufficient micro-biological treatment of effluents. Most of the *E. coli* strains are harmless, but some serotypes can cause intestinal illnesses (Brenner et al. (2005)). For example diarrhoea in human and animals by enterotoxigenic *E.coli* (ETEC) are estimated to cause 600 million cases of human diarrhoea and 800.000 deaths world wide.

Samonella (Figure 1.4) is a Gram-negative, rod-shaped, facultative anaerobic, nonsporeforming and predominantly motile enterobacteria. The bacterium is closely related to the *Escherichia* genus and is found worldwide in the intestinal tract of cold- and warmblooded animals (including humans), and in the environment. The main difference to *E.coli* is their pathogenesis, since the serovars are capable of infecting a variety of different hosts, causing diseases ranging from mild self-limiting gastroenteritis to potentially lethal systemic infections.

There are two species recognised Salmonella bongori and Salmonella enterica, the latter of which is subdivided into seven subspecies on the basis of biochemical characteristics. Overall, there are more than 2.500 documented Salmonella serotypes (Popoff et al. (2001)). Members of the S.enterica subspecies I account for 99% of all human infections. Infections with Salmonella cause illnesses such as typhoid fever, paratyphoid fever, and food-born illness (Auchenthaler and Huggenberger (2003)), but most often lead to self-limiting gastroenteritis. However, 10% of untreated Typhi patients will shed bacteria for up to



Figure 1.3: *E. coli* stock (source: Marler (2011)).



Figure 1.4: Color-enhanced scanning electron micrograph showing *Salmonella Typhimurium* (red) invading cultured human cells (source: Rocky Mountain Laboratories, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health (2005)).

three month, whereas 1-4% become long term carriers producing infective bacteria in their stools over a year (Miller and Pegues (2000)). The bacterial dissemination requires the survival outside of the animals. *Salmonella* bacteria can enter the water via the faeces of infected animals or humans, where contaminated water is a significant source of serovar Typhi in endemic areas. Generally, the bacterium is able to replicate in contaminated food, which is rich in nutrients. However, it is not clear so far, whether the bacterium is able to survive or replicate in other environments. Several studies suggest that although the organisms can survive, they do not replicate significantly in other environments.

Potentially human pathogenic Vibrio spp. (Figure 1.5) are a natural component of

the bacterial flora in oceanic, coastal and estuarine saline waters (Böer et al. (2012)) and lakes (Kirschner et al. (2008)). They are Gram-negative, facultative anaerobes with comma shape and have a polar flagella. Vibrio belong to the family Virbionaceae and are halophile bacteria which prefer salt concentration larger than 5 PSU, but can also be found in less saline water (Hauk (2012)). There are 12 human pathogenic species, but the most important for European waters are e.g. V.vulnificus, V.parahaemolyticus, V.cholerae and V.alginolyticus. All of them are non-cholera Vibrio which do not carry the cholera causing antigen 01 and O139 (Robert Koch-Institut (2012); Landesamt für Gesundheit und Soziales Mecklenburg - Vorpommern (2010)). Most of the strains could be isolated from human and the environment.

The occurrence of *Vibrio* in sea waters presents a potential risk for humans with predisposing factors for *Vibrio* infections (e.g. pre-existing diseases like diabetes mellitus, liver diseases and heart diseases as well as a general low immunity, (Robert Koch-Institut (2012); Oliver (2013))). An infection with *Vibrio* taken up orally (via contaminated water or raw seafood) is generally marked by gastrointestinal symptoms (mainly caused by *V.parahaemolyticus* and *V.alginolyticus*) and represents one of the main causes of foodborn diseases worldwide (cf. Su and Liu (2007); Jones and Oliver (2009)). An infection following contact with sea water (bathing, handling of raw fish and seafood (Dechet et al. (2008))) is associated with ear and wound infections which can lead to septicaemia and eventually even death. This is most often caused by *V.vulnificus* which is wide spread in the marine environment. Infections with *V.cholerae* cause cholera like diseases. It could be isolated from patients with mild diarrhoea, extraintestinal infections and the environment, which presents a very important reservoir.

Since all three presented bacterial groups can cause several illnesses (e.g. gastrointestinal infects, typhoid fever, septicaemia), they present a risk for human health if detectable in recreational waters. However, while *E. coli* is used as an indicator in the EU Bathing Water Directive 2006, there are no tests for *Salmonella* and *Vibrio* bacteria.

1.5 The model system

1.5.1 General Estuarine Transport Model

The numerical modelling tool applied for the present study is the General Estuarine Transport Model (GETM, see www.getm.eu and Burchard and Bolding (2002)). GETM is a primitive equation hydrostatic numerical model using the concept of bottom and surface following general vertical coordinates, such that even in shallow coastal waters a sufficient vertical resolution is obtained. Vertical turbulent mixing is calculated by a two-equation turbulence closure model with parameterised second moments (Umlauf and Burchard (2005)) provided by the turbulence module of the General Ocean Turbulence Model (GOTM, see www.gotm.net and Umlauf et al. (2005)). In the horizontal, the



Figure 1.5: Electronic microscope picture of *V.cholerae* with scale = 1 μ m (source: Muhsin Özel, G. (Holland/ Robert Koch Institute) (2012)).

discretisation can be carried out on Cartesian, spherical or curvilinear coordinates, the latter of which is applied for the present study to obtain variable horizontal resolution. For the advection of momentum and tracers, the high-accuracy positive-definite schemes according to Pietrzak (1998) are applied. For the vertical resolution the user can choose between bottom following and adaptive coordinates (Hofmeister et al. (2010)). Moreover, it is possible to attune the coastline variable with the help of the implemented wetting and drying algorithm. The transport model computes the physical state variables temperature, salt, currents (transport of momentum), bottom shear stress, turbulent kinetic energy and surface elevation with the help of state of the art advection/diffusion schemes of second and third order (Pietrzak (1998)). The computation of 2D and 3D variables are split within the circulation model. The fast barotropic part (2-D) is computed with the so-called micro timestep, while for the computation of the much slower baroclinic mode (3-D), where vertical velocity, diffusion, salt, etc. are calculated, a macro time step is used. GETM has already been successfully applied to a number of realistic high-resolution coastal and limnic areas such as for Willapa Bay (USA, Banas et al. (2007)), the Limfjord (Denmark, Hofmeister et al. (2009), the Western Baltic Sea (Burchard et al. (2009)), the alpine Lake Alpnach (Switzerland, Lorrai et al. (2011)) and the Oder Lagoon (Poland/Germany, Schippmann et al. (2013a)). The GETM code is written in Fortran 90/95 with a modular code structure and prepared for parallel computing. This advantage has been used to compute both setups of this thesis. They have run on the North-German Supercomputing Alliance in Berlin and Hannover.

1.5.2 Stochastic differential equations and the General Individuals Transport Model

In various branches of natural sciences, like physics, chemistry or biology, processes can be described via differential equations. For example in marine biology these processes can be the transport of microorganisms in the water. The transport of bacteria in ocean waters is not linear, but random disturbances influence the natural phenomena Spivakovskaya (2007). These call for the use of stochastic differential equations (SDE) also known as Langevian equations to realistically model the natural process. Focussing on hypothetical particle concentration fields (C), which represent the bacteria, their dispersion is often described via the advection-diffusion equation

$$\partial_t C = -\nabla \cdot (\underline{u} C - \underline{K} \cdot \nabla C)$$

$$\nabla \cdot \underline{u} = 0$$
(1.1)

where \underline{u} is the divergence free velocity field and \underline{K} is the diffusivity, a symmetric and positive definite tensor. In the following only diagonal diffusivity tensors are considered with K_h as horizontal and K_z as vertical diffusivity.

This Eulerian approach focuses the fluid motion on specific locations in space (Batchelor (2000); Lamb (1994 [1932])). On the contrary, the Lagrangian approach describes the dispersion process and tracks the movement of individual particles in space and time Charles et al. (2009). Instead of solving equation (1.1), the whole solution process can be transformed into the solution of a stochastic differential equation. The concentration field $C(t, \underline{x})$ may be interpreted as a transition density field in that case (cf. Gräwe (2011)). Consequently, equation (1.1) can be interpreted as Fokker Planck equation whose solution can be written in the Îto sense (Arnold (1974)) as

$$d\underline{x}(t) = (\underline{u} + \nabla \cdot \underline{K})dt + \sqrt{2\underline{K}}d\underline{W}(t)$$
(1.2)

where \underline{x} is the position vector. As an additional term, this equation contains a normally distributed random variable $\underline{W}(t)$, called Wiener noise increment. It is a Gaussian process with independent increments which possess a mean of $\langle d\underline{W}(t) \rangle = 0$ and a standard deviation of $Std(\underline{W}(t) - \underline{W}(s)) = \sqrt{|t-s|I}$. This variable accounts for the random movement of particles due to horizontal turbulence. Equation (1.2) becomes an ordinary differential equation if no turbulence is available.

If computing particle distribution in a turbulent medium, turbulent diffusion needs to be included in the equation. This is achieved via random displacement of each particle due to eddies of an average size of $\sqrt{2K}$ (Gräwe et al. (2010)). Adding up $\nabla \cdot \underline{K}$ prevents the artificial noise induced drift (Visser (1997); Hunter et al. (1993)) caused by the spatially variability of the turbulent diffusivity \underline{K} .

This approach was implemented in the General Individuals Tracking Model (GITM, Wolk (2003); Nagai et al. (2003); van der Molen et al. (2007)), a Lagrangian particletracking model, which was used to simulate the transport of the microorganisms. It was originally designed for GETM and has already been successfully applied (Wolk (2003); van der Molen et al. (2007); Schernewski et al. (2012); Schippmann et al. (2013a)). The transformation to a curvilinear grid was included by Schernewski et al. (2012). These reflect the coastline and the bathymetry of an estuary with high accuracy. The off-line model, forced with pre-simulated flow fields of GETM, solves the equation of motion of individual particles and describes particle movement depending on advection and turbulence whereas advection dominates the tracking process. The reliability of this process is guaranteed via the GETM validation. However, wave dynamics are not taken into account in GETM and therefore cannot be reflected by the particle transport. The diffusion plays only a minor role since the advective length scale is much larger than the diffusive length scale.

The transport of particles is evaluated in the GITM within two steps. First, the advection step is calculated as analytically solution of the ordinary differential equation (Duwe (1988)) on a discrete grid and linearly interpolated to the curvilinear grid according to the velocity field. Second, the diffusion is computed by solving equation (1.2) with a random walk scheme according to Hunter et al. (1993). Finally, both terms are added together. This principle of superposition is possible because both processes, advection and diffusion, do not feedback on each other and hence are linearly independent. More detailed information about GITM can be found in Wolk (2003).

GITM assumes that the organisms are floating passively with the currents. The horizontal and vertical diffusion of every particle was simulated with the random walk method of Hunter et al. (1993). It uses a constant horizontal diffusion of $K_h = 1 \text{ m}^2 \text{s}^{-1}$ and temporally and spatially varying vertical diffusion coefficients calculated by the hydrodynamic model to compute the vertical motion. We used a first order accurate tracking scheme according to Gräwe et al. (2012). In the simulations conducted with constant wind the time step was 10 s whereas it was set to 100 s in the realistic simulations of chapter 4. The output was stored every 30 minutes. Flow field simulations were validated by comparison of drifter experiments (as described in Schernewski et al. (2012)) with similar particle tracking scenario.

The most important property of the microorganisms to be included is the mortality rate. It is described via the exponential die-off rate (Chick (1908)) in chapter 2 and 3

$$\ln C = \ln C_0 - \lambda t \tag{1.3}$$

where C and C_0 are the present and initial concentrations, respectively, λ is the inactivation rate and t is the time. The mortality process has been added in post processing to keep the particle tracking simulations as general as possible. A temperature dependent division rate of microorganisms was applied to compute the results in chapter 4 (details see chapter 4).

1.6 The thesis structure

In the present dissertation, the following two chapters represent my work published during the past two years¹. Chapter 2 presents a first model application with the threedimensional model system for the bathing water management in the Oder river mouth where the often insufficient bathing water quality led to several bathing prohibitions in the past. The analysis focus on scenario experiments to evaluate e.g. environmental key parameters and their effect on E. coli transport patterns as published in Schippmann et al. (2013a). In chapter 3 the model system was applied to an exemplary case study of Salmonella pollution in the Pomeranian Bight. The results were expanded with backtracking simulations to determine possible emission source areas. Moreover, supraregional recommendations towards an improved management were derived in this study as published in Schippmann et al. (2013b). In contrast to the former chapters, where the bacteria obtained a constant mortality rate, in chapter $\frac{1}{4}$ a temperature-dependent growth rate was implemented. The model system was applied to a case study in the Bay of Greifswald, where the recurrence of potential human pathogenic Vibrio spp. caused several infections (and deaths) in the past, in order to benchmark e.g. whether the seasonal cycle of Vibrio presence and the inter-annual differences in Vibrio occurrence in the bay and in the southern Pomeranian Bight can be attributed to water temperature and depth. In the last chapter 5, the simplified online version of the presented model system and its implementation into a web platform is presented. It was developed during this dissertation in the framework of the EU-project "GENeric European Sustainable Information Space for Environment (GENESIS)".

¹also sections 1.3 and 1.5 in the thesis's introduction are based on the published work listed below the thesis

Chapter 2

Escherichia coli pollution in a Baltic Sea lagoon: A model-based source and spatial risk assessment

2.1 Introduction

More than 95% of the European beaches have been awarded the blue flag (Foundation for Environmental Education (2012), an indicator for good water conditions including good hygienic water quality. Bathing places of the outer Oder Lagoon coast, located at the Pomeranian Bight, belong to them. This fact has promoted the tourism development of that region since decades. For the last 50 years, tourism and especially bathing tourism has also become an important economic factor around the Oder Lagoon. However, the main focus is still on the outer coast. Each year approximately ten million tourists book an overnight stay in this region, whereas there are only about 40.000 overnight stays for the inner coasts (Statistical Government Poland (2012)). There are several plans by the German and Polish governments to support the development of this region. For example, the extensions of beaches, marinas and various water sport activities (Institute for Meteorology and Water Management Poland (2010a)) are planned in order to reduce the existing strong social and economic gradients between outer coast and hinterland. However, two main problems counteract the improvement of the inner lagoon coasts. At first, the often insufficient hygienic water quality, particularly in the Oder mouth area (from Szczecin to Trzebiez), led to beach closings in the past. These damaged the reputation of the region. Secondly, monitoring data gives only an incomplete picture of Escherichia coli (E. coli) bacteria sources and spatial transport patterns. It neither provides support for a decision in favour of new tourism infrastructures, nor does it help deciding on a better water quality management.

Since the direct study of pathogen agents is often too laborious, indicator organisms are used as scale for the hygienic water quality. These organisms show a possible presence of pathogens with similar biological origin and hence a potential health risks (Kreikenbaum (2004)). E. coli is the most reliable indicator for faecal contamination (World Health Organisation (2003)). Wheeler et al. (2003) and Whiteman and Nevers (2004) showed that E. coli bacteria concentrations are spatially small-scale and temporal highly variable even at single beaches. Thus, the water quality measurements can neither show a valid temporal course for one beach nor a full picture of a region.

The application of circulation and particle tracking models presents a good and promising addition to the observations. They can be used to compute water currents, forced by e.g. measured wind and river run-off, and according to this, compute the pathways of particles as for instance $E. \ coli$ bacteria. A temporal and spatial picture of the particle distribution (forward-tracking) can be provided. Furthermore, the analyses of different wind and river run-off scenarios are possible.

Particle tracking can be used as an off-line tool together with pre-simulated flow fields and also as an online tool. In the latter approach the tracking module is coupled or linked to the hydro-dynamical model (cf. Navas et al. (2011)) whereas in the former case the circulation and tracking models are successively executed. This approach has already been applied as a coastal management tool in the Oder lagoon (Schernewski and Jülich (2001); Schernewski et al. (2002)), at the north-west coast of England (Kashefipour et al. (2002)) or in the Mediterranean Thau lagoon (Fiandrino et al. (2003)).

In previous work of Schernewski et al. (2012), the authors applied the same 3D model system as we do in this study (section 1.5.2). The authors figured out the sources of *E. coli* pollution at Ueckermünde beach in the Oder Lagoon with the help of realistic simulations and idealised scenario modelling. In the present study the focus is on the Oder mouth area. It is the most interesting area of *E. coli* contamination in the Oder lagoon. Scenario analyses help to find the key control parameters for *E. coli* transport ranges on the one hand. On the other hand, realistic simulations of the bathing period in summer 2006 show a spatial and temporal picture of the *E. coli* distribution. Together with the good data availability, the high model resolution allows to zoom in on single beaches.

The main objectives of this study are a) to identify the environmental key control parameters and their effect on $E. \ coli$ transport patterns, b) to evaluate whether Szczecin and the Oder river have been the sources of pollution in the past and whether this is still the case today, c) to locate places where to establish new bathing places and d) to benchmark the effect of the new bathing water directive on the beach closings of the past.

2.2 Study site

The Oder (Szczecin) Lagoon is part of the Oder estuary located at the western Baltic Sea (Figure 2.1). It is shared between Germany (Small lagoon) and Poland (Wielki Zalew). The lagoon covers an area of 687 km² and has an average depth of 3.8 m. The highest natural depth is 8.5 m which can exceed 10.5 m in the artificial shipping channel (Radziejewska and Schernewski (2008)). Water exchange between the lagoon and the Baltic Sea happens via three outlets: the Peene Strom in the north-west (17% of water



Figure 2.1: (a) Satellite picture of the Western Baltic (Flash Earth). Selected: area of Oder Lagoon. (b) Topography of entire model set-up area and grid outline showing every 20-th grid box.

exchange), the Swine river in the north (69% of water exchange) and the Dziwna river at the north-east side (14% of water exchange) (Mohrholz and Lass (1998)). At the same time the Oder river run-off transports about 17 km^3 water per year. The overall water transparency is often below 1 m in summer due to wind- and wave-induced resuspension of sediment and high primary production (Schernewski et al. (2012)). The main processes that govern the fluxes in the Oder Lagoon are Oder river run-off and wind. The Oder river water drains continuously into the lagoon. The strength of the river run-off depends on the river lever (low and high water) caused by rainfall and storm events. The Oder river water needs 20-40 days until Swine river and circa 100-140 days until Peenestrom (Schernewski and Jülich (2001)). On the contrary, water exchange between the Baltic and the lagoon occurs only pulse-like via Swine river (Mohrholz (1998)) and hence plays a minor role. Strong wind events and higher water level in Pomeranian Bay allow the penetration of saline Baltic water along the shipping channel into the lagoon (Bangel et al. (2004)). The salt water influxes reach, however, not farther than the area around the Swine channel (Radziejewska and Schernewski (2008)). No water is exchanged via the Peene and Dziwna since the channels are too long (40 km) and shallow (max 3m) (Mohrholz and Lass (1998)). Due to the sporadic inflows of sea water into the Oder lagoon, the salinity ranges from 0.5 -2 in central parts. In the Oder mouth area the salinity concentration is seldom larger than 1 (Bangel et al. (2004)). Overall, the shallowness of the lagoon hinders a temporal vertical stratification (Bangel et al. (2004)). Mohrholz and Lass (1998) find the theoretical water exchange time of about 2 month.

Szczecin is located 21 km upstream the lagoon, has nearly 420.000 inhabitants and

produces 77.000 m³ waste water per day (European Comission (2000)). In 2003 only 16% of the city's population was connected to waste water treatment facilities and more than 60% of all waste water was discharged untreated into the Oder river (IKZM Oder (2007)). In 2006 65% of the sewage was treated biologically/chemically while 27% of Szczecin's effluents were still treated mechanically and 8% of the water even went untreated (Council of Ministers Republic of Poland (2008)). As a consequence of the EU project Water quality improvement in Szczecin (European Comission (2000)) more than the 80% of Szczecin's households were connected to waste water treatment plants in 2009 (World Health Organisation (2009). In addition to Szczecin, diffusive or small local sources of E. *coli* contribute to the overall budget (cf. Schernewski et al. (2012)). These originate from agriculture fields, cattle ranching or even seagull faeces and tourists themselves. Although the general Lagoon bathing water quality has improved during the last ten years (European Environment Agency (2010), the beaches at Dabie, Lubczyna, Stepnica, Trzebiez and Czarnocin needed to be closed in 2006 due to too high coliform bacteria concentrations (Depellegrin (2008), Schernewski et al. (2012)). Together with faecal Streptococci these are typical indicators for faecal pollution in the 1976 EU Bathing Water Directive (European Union (1976)).

2.3 Measurements and methods

2.3.1 Measurements

Within our study we apply several measurements to validate and force our models. Time series of water gauges and sea surface temperature are used to validate the circulation model. These are provided by the Federal Maritime and Hydrographic Agency for all German stations. All data, including water quality measurements, at the Polish stations have been provided by our GENESIS project partners from the Institute for Meteorology and Water Management Krakow. The wind measurements, used as forcing for the circulation model, are taken from the German Weather Service.

In 2006 the water quality measurements for the Oder mouth area started in May. Even at this time and again in June increased coliform concentrations have been observed. In contrast, the first increased *E. coli* concentrations have been measured at the end of June. *Coliform* bacteria concentrations reached their peak at the end of July and at the beginning of August. In mid July more than 10.000 cfu/100 ml total-coliforms have been measured at all beaches. The mandatory values of the 1976/7/EEC directive (2000 cfu/100 ml) are exceeded more than eightfold (Figure 2.2). Although *E. coli* have their highest concentration in the middle of June in Trzebiez, the measurements have seldom reached the thresholds of the new directive 2006/7/EC (Figures 2.2 (b)). The period of increased concentrations lasted until the end of September for both *coliform* and *E. coli* bacteria. However, the measurements are not continuous for all surveyed beaches.



Figure 2.2: Coliform (a) and *E. coli* concentrations (b) in 2006 measured in Czarnocin (yellow), Trzebiez (red), Stepnica (blue), Lubczyna (light green), and Dabie (dark green) plotted against the thresholds of the EU Bathing Water Directives 1976/7/EEC (solid line: guide value, dotted line: mandatory value) and 2006/7/EC (dashed-dotted line: guide value, dashed line: mandatory value).



Figure 2.3: Filtered wind direction (a) together with $E. \ coli$ measurements at two exemplary stations Trzebiez (red stars) and Stepnica (green stars) and wind speed (b) summer 2006.

beaches. Most of the bathing water samples have been taken at days with south winds (Figure 2.3). Particularly in August the wind direction was mainly south-west with speeds of $3-6 \text{ ms}^{-1}$.

2.3.2 Forcing the circulation model

The used topography is a combination of several data sets (Glockzin (2006), Bundesamt für Seeschifffahrt und Hydrographie (2010), pers. comment K. Buckmann). The raw bathymetry has an overall resolution of less than 50 m, which is interpolated to a curvilinear grid (Figure 2.1(a)). The model grid-spacing varies between 15 m in the southern Oder mouth and 200 m in the Pomeranian Bight. For the vertical resolution 10 sigma levels are used. The whole domain ($800 \times 1300 \times 10$ grid-points, 33.6% active water points) was decomposed into 294 active sub domains of $44 \times 44 \times 10$ grid-points to maintain the computational feasibility of the simulation. A micro time step of t = 0.4 s is used, while a macro time step of t = 8 min is chosen to compute the 3D variables. The output fields are stored on an hourly basis.

The realistic simulations start in April with a constant initial temperature of 5°C where the initial salt is given as 3D concentration field, interpolated from an older realistic Oder Lagoon simulation (Schernewski et al. (2012)) with lower resolution. The initial velocities are set to zero.

Realistic meteorological forcing with a resolution of 7 km, taken from the German weather service, is applied when computing the realistic flow fields. The steady state simulations are obtained by applying constant wind speeds from the 8 cardinal wind directions N, NE, ..., NW (45 degrees intervals) and the two 10 metre wind speeds 3 and 6 ms^{-1} , respectively.

The freshwater river run-offs of the Peene and Uecker have been chosen as constant values of 20.6 m^3s^{-1} and 9.5 m^3s^{-1} (summer median) for all simulations, respectively, since they are negligible. In contrast, the measured discharges of the Oder river are used for the realistic model simulations of 2006 and 2008. On the contrary, the climatology summer median, summer min and mean summer max discharge of 1912 – 2003 (414, 64, 1606 m^3s^{-1}), respectively, have been taken as Oder river run-off in different steady state simulations. Due to their relevance for tourism, we only considered the summer months April - October and the according Oder discharge.

GETM was forced with 2D and 3D fields along the open boundaries at the Pomeranian Bight (Figure 2.1). The 2D forcing includes sea surface elevation and depth averaged currents in combination with Flather boundary conditions (Flather (1976)). The 3D forcing includes salt and temperature. All boundary information is taken from a 600 m Baltic Sea simulation model. The 2D and 3D fields have a temporal resolution of 1 and 6 hours, respectively. This setup was also used to compute the results of chapter 3, but using a different area of interest (the Pomeranian Bight).

2.4 GETM validation

2.4.1 Elevation

The circulation model has only a few degrees of freedom and was fed with reliable boundary information from both meteorological forcing from the German Weather forecast Service and boundary conditions (sea level, velocities, salt and temperature). The latter of which were used to force the model from the open boundaries of our model domain (the area of interest). This "outer model", which has produced the boundary information, has been successfully validated against measurements. At the Oder Bank Buoy, located at the northern boundary of our model setup, modelled salinity has a Bias of -0.12 PSU and a root mean square error (RMSE) of 0.95 PSU. The temperature Bias was about 0.1 K and the RMSE was 0.7 K. In comparison with the standard deviation of the measurements (5.9 K) this is comparatively small. Consequently, our model setup was fed with reliable information and, moreover, validated itself. Since there is no defined river plume visible according to salt gradients, the ability of GETM to simulate the hydrodynamics of the Pomeranian Bight is proven with the water gauge time series. However, one of the most important tool so far to make Oder river plumes visible is the remote sensing of Chlorophyll-a and particulate matter (cf. Siegel and Gerth (2000)).

The 2006 and 2008 time series of the modelled sea surface elevation are compared to the corresponding water gauge measurements between April and October at Koserow (Pomeranian Bight), Karnin (Peene Strom) and Ueckermünde (Small Lagoon) in 2006 (not shown) and Koserow, Karnin (not shown), Ueckermünde, Wolin (Dziwna) and Trzebiez (Oder river mouth) in 2008.

GETM reproduces the general trend of the observations (Figure 2.4). Especially, the outer lagoon dynamics with their strong variability are very well captured (Figure 2.4 (a)). However, the forcing misses the strong peaks (caused by seiches) at the outer boundary (Koserow). This is due to the fact that the boundary information have too low variabilities which a high resolution model, that is nested, cannot produce by its own. Thus, the variabilities of the sea surface elevation are dominated by the open boundaries and hence GETM cannot reproduce the variability within the lagoon. Nevertheless, the overall water level coincides with the observations (Figure 2.4 (b)-(d)). This can also be found in the statistics. The mean root mean square error (RMSE) is approximately 7 cm (Table 2.1) in both years. In comparison with the standard deviation of the measurements (21.3 cm) this is comparatively small. The mean coefficient of determination (\mathbb{R}^2) of 0.68 and 0. 67, respectively, shows that the modelled sea surface elevation is in good agreement with the observed one (Table 2.1).

2.4.2 Temperature

The 2008 time series of the modelled sea surface temperature are compared to the corresponding measurements between April and October at Swinoujscie (Swine) and Trzebiez (Oder river mouth). GETM reproduces the seasonal temperature at both stations (Figure 2.5). The temperature deviations (RMSE) of the simulation are approximately 1.5 °C and 1.63 °C. Furthermore, the mean R² of 0.93 and 0.96 shows overall high agreement of model results and observations (Table 2.2).



Figure 2.4: Time series of the measured water gauges (blue) against the model results (red) from April to October 2008 at stations: Koserow (a), Wolin (b), Ueckermünde (c) and Trzebiez (d).

2006	mean	max	min
RMSE	0.07	0.08	0.06
\mathbf{R}^2	0.68	0.78	0.55
2008			
RMSE	0.07	0.09	0.06
\mathbf{R}^2	0.67	0.79	0.45

Table 2.1: Mean, maximum and minimum root mean square error and coefficient of determination computed from the surface elevation model results of 2006 and 2008.

2008	Trzebiez	Swinoujscie	
RMSE	1.63	1.51	
\mathbb{R}^2	0.96	0.93	

Table 2.2: Root mean square error and coefficient of determination for surface temperature at Trzebiez and Swinoujscie.



Figure 2.5: Time series of the measured water temperature (blue) against the model results (red) from April to October 2008 at Swinoujscie (a) and Trzebiez (b).

2.4.3 Scenarios

Scenario analyses help to find the key control parameters for *E. coli* transport. These are carried out under the assumption of a present state situation where all waste water is treated biologically/ chemically in Szczecin. As known from literature (Hagendorf et al. (2004); Umweltbundesamt (2011)) the total number of *E. coli* bacteria in treated effluent is 10^6 cfu/100 ml. Further we know that the sewage treatment plant Zdroje (close to emission location in the south) has a capacity of 18.000 m³ per day. In case of our steady state simulations that means $2 \cdot 10^{14}$ *E. coli* bacteria enter the river off the treatment plant per day. Adding the mean bacterial concentration of the Oder river ($2 \cdot 10^{14}$ cfu/m³ per day at the source in the south. Assuming the complete renovation of the sewers in Szczecin (according to European Comission (2000)), no diffuse loads are entered in the city and hence only the bacterial river load of 10^{14} cfu/m³ per day at this position is taken into account. Since we emit 10.000 particles at each emission location every particle represents $4 \cdot 10^{10}$ *E. coli* bacteria in the south and 10^{10} *E. coli* bacteria off the city.

In order to validate the impact of wind on the *E. coli* transport, 16 tracking experiments have been done according to the 8 cardinal wind directions and two different wind speeds in the first scenario.

In the following scenarios a constant south-west wind with 3 ms^{-1} is used as forcing since this is the prevailing summer wind condition (Schernewski et al.) (2012).

The second steady state scenario comprises a mortality rate experiment because the inactivation rate of *E. coli* bacteria is not well-defined. The mortality rate strongly depends on the turbidity, salinity, temperature conditions of the environment and also on the measurement method. Kashefipour et al. (2002) reported about die-off rates/ T_{90} times (the time needed to reduce the initial bacterial population by 90 %) in coastal and riverine

waters between $\lambda = 0.097 \text{ h}^{-1}$ (T₉₀=10.3 h) and $\lambda = 0.0296 \text{ h}^{-1}$ (T₉₀=33.78 h) according to wet and dry weather conditions and also varying temperature. The very low salinity concentrations of 0.5 - 1.5 PSU in the Oder mouth area (Bangel et al. (2004)) together with the overall high water turbidity, due to nutrient loads, favour E. coli growth (Atwill et al. (2004); Anderson et al. (2005)). On the contrary, the high summer temperatures have a negative influence on the survival of these bacteria (Medema et al. (1997); Mallin et al. (2000)). However, E. coli survival experiments with brackish Lagoon water are seldom and no exact mortality rate has been established for such a special environment. Thus, we take three different mortality rates to present worst, mean and best case situations. Schernewski et al. (2012) empirically calculated the die-off rate of $\lambda = 0.0571 \text{ h}^{-1}$ (T₉₀=17.51 h) from laboratory survival experiments. One has to note, these experiments are idealised and contain a high uncertainty. Albeit, we assume this rate to describe the best case scenario in the Oder lagoon. In their microcosm study, Mezrioui et al. (1995) showed survival rates of E. coli in Brackish Thau Lagoon water of $\lambda = 0.009 \text{ h}^{-1}$ (T₉₀=111.1 h) during autumn 1985 and $\lambda = 0.0185 \text{ h}^{-1}$ (T₉₀=54.1 h) as mean of the measurements in summer 1985 and 1986. Both experiments are carried out at temperatures similar to the summer temperature of the Oder Lagoon (18-22 °C, Dueri et al. (2010); Schernewski and Janßen (2007)). As the autumn rate is fairly small compared to other known values from literature, we assume this to be the worst case mortality rate in the Oder lagoon. Considering a more general scenario, the Thau lagoon summer mortality rate of $\lambda = 0.0185 \text{ h}^{-1}$ (T₉₀=54.1 h) is applied to present the mean situation.

In the third scenario experiment flow fields computed with the climatological summer minimum, summer maximum and summer mean run-off, respectively, are used to force the particle tracking model in the third steady state scenario. In the fourth steady state experiment three different emission amounts of E. coli are used to evaluate the impact of waste water treatment. If we further consider a future scenario where the river water is additionally UV-disinfected as in the Isar river (Bavaria, Germany, Wasserwirtschaftsamt München (2012)) a 99% reduction of *E. coli* load would be possible $(2 \cdot 10^{12} \text{ cfu/m}^3 \text{ per day})$. Due to vegetative filter strips along the Oder river coast, cattle treading and agriculture inflows into the river can also be reduced (Kistemann et al. (2009)). We assume again a 99% reduction of *E. coli* load $(10^{12} \text{ cfu/m}^3 \text{ per day})$. Hence, in this future scenario each of the 10.000 particles emitted would carry 10^8 E. coli bacteria.

GETM flow fields of the summer season in 2006, based on realistic meteorological and river forcing, serve as forcing for a realistic *E. coli* transport scenario, where 10^3 particles have been emitted daily and tracked for 7 days. In this scenario each m³ water of the sewage treatment plant contains 10^{12} *E. coli* bacteria (10^8 cfu/100 ml in untreated sewage (Mehlhart and Klaus (2002))). Hence, $2 \cdot 10^{16}$ E. coli bacteria enter the river off the treatment plant per day. Measurements off Szczecin indicated E. coli concentrations of $2 \cdot 10^{16}$ per day (personal comment IMGW). The background river load concentration plays thus a minor role in both cases. That means $2 \cdot 10^{16}$ bacteria need to be emitted per day at both emission locations. As 500 particles have been emitted at each of both release points, every particle represents $4 \cdot 10^{13}$ bacteria.

An overview of all scenario parameters can be found in Table 2.3. Please note, all following concentration maps in this study show the mean concentration in the whole water column.

scenario	$egin{array}{c} {f mortality} \ [{f h}^{-1}] \end{array}$	wind $[ms^{-1}]$	${f river} \ [{f m}^3{f s}^{-1}]$	<i>E. coli</i> amount [cfu/100 ml]
wind (W)	0.0185	N, NO, ,NW: 3, 6	414	10^{6}
mortality (M)	$0.009 \\ 0.0185 \\ 0.0571$	SW 3	414	10^{6}
river (R)	0.0185	SW 3	$64 \\ 414 \\ 1606$	10^{6}
emission (E)	0.0185	SW 3	414	$10^8 \\ 10^6 \\ 10^4$
real 2006	0.0185	measurement	smeasurement	$s 10^8$

Table 2.3: Parameter sets for the different particle tracking scenarios.

2.5 Results

2.5.1 Wind scenarios

The prevailing wind conditions and resulting flow fields mainly control the transport distance and concentrations of *E. coli* bacteria. According to the dominant wind conditions (Schernewski et al. (2012)), GETM simulations with constant 10 meter wind speeds of 3 ms⁻¹ and 6 ms⁻¹ were carried out for 8 different wind directions.

In terms of the particle tracking, the influence of the wind speed is mainly visible in the spatial distribution of high flow velocities (Figure 2.6). The typical wind situation in the Oder lagoon area is represented with a 10 meter south-west wind of 3 ms^{-1} . The surface flow (Figure 2.6) shows a complex flow pattern of the Oder mouth region with strongly varying surface velocities. At the Oder entry in Dabie and even in the deep channel-like area north of the Lake (shipping channel) these are higher than 0.15 ms⁻¹ whereas the velocities are smaller in shallow waters close to the coast (Figure 2.6) (a)). Particularly in



Figure 2.6: Surface flow fields in the Oder mouth area for a steady south-west wind at a speed of 3 ms^{-1} (a) and 6 ms^{-1} (b).

the small coves along the east cost of the river the velocities are less than 0.02 ms^{-1} . In contrast, at wind speeds of 6 ms^{-1} higher velocities occur even in the small, shallow coves along the east cost, in the Dabie lake and in the north Oder mouth (Figure 2.6 (b)).

The wind scenario shows that variabilities of the *E. coli* concentrations depend more on wind direction than on the wind speed (cp. Figure 2.7(a,c) and 2.7 (b,c,d)). Northern winds lead to the development of reduced concentrations at the eastern coast of Dabie lake (2.7 (b,d)), where the concentrations are equally distributed under south-west winds (2.7 (a,c)). These favour the bacterial upriver transport. However, all scenario simulations show equally high likelihoods for hazardous *E. coli* concentrations near the emission locations namely, in the central Dabie lake and in the west branch of the Oder river. The main plume of the *E. coli* bacteria is, in general, transported along the west coast of the Oder river, next to the shipping channel. Bacteria originating from Szczecin are pressed through a small straight into the lake. These flow downriver through central Dabie lake together with the bacteria originating from the Oder river entry. The EU threshold for sufficient bathing water quality of 500 cfu/100 ml is exceeded in whole Dabie lake and Trzebiez for all simulations. The north-east coast of the Oder mouth (Stepnica, Czarnocin) is not at risk in most of the wind situations.

2.5.2 Mortality scenarios

The very low salinity concentrations and overall high water turbidity of the Oder lagoon favour *E. coli* survival (Atwill et al. (2004); Anderson et al. (2005)). Given that, to our knowledge, there are no valid survival times for this special environment stated in the



Figure 2.7: *E. coli* bacteria concentration pattern at: south-west wind at speed of 3 ms^{-1} (a), north-east wind at speed of 6 ms^{-1} (b), south-west wind at speed of 6 ms^{-1} (c) and north-west wind at speed of 6 ms^{-1} (d). The black line within the colour scale shows the EU threshold of 500 cfu/100 ml.

relevant literature, extreme and most probable values need to be taken into account to evaluate their impact on the *E. coli* concentration level. The general climatological summer situation without any extreme wind or discharge events is assumed for these experiments. It is computed with the parameters given in scenario M (Table 2.3).

Taking the worst case survival rate of $\lambda = 0.009 \text{ h}^{-1}$ (Figure 2.8 (a)), hazardous *E. coli* concentrations of more than $10^{4.5}$ cfu/100 ml are possible at all coasts in Dabie lake and alongside the Oder river until Trzebiez. Even in the northern Oder mouth close to the Oder lagoon high concentrations of more than $10^{3.5}$ cfu/100 ml are possible. The most dangerous concentrations (more than 10^5 cfu/100 ml) occur close to the emission locations.

Applying the mortality rate of $\lambda = 0.0185 \text{ h}^{-1}$ (Figure 2.8 (b)), the whole Oder river and Dabie lake are likely contaminated (more than $10^{3.5}$ cfu/100 ml). Although high concentrations (of more than $10^{3.5}$ cfu/100 ml) enter the Oder lagoon via the western


Figure 2.8: Risk map of maximal *E. coli* concentration computed with different mortality rates (scenario M). (a) $\lambda = 0.009 \text{ h}^{-1}$, (b) $\lambda = 0.0185 \text{ h}^{-1}$ and (c) $\lambda = 0.0571 \text{ h}^{-1}$. The black line within the colour scale shows the EU threshold of 500 cfu/100 ml.

river flow (Trzebiez), these bacteria will die before they reach the next bathing place at the Oder lagoon coast. Concentrations of less than 500 cfu/100 ml occur in the small branches at the north-east of the Oder river (Stepnica) as well as in the north-eastern Oder mouth. Thus, these areas are not at risk.

With the best case die-off rate of $\lambda = 0.0571 \text{ h}^{-1}$ (Figure 2.8 (c)) no risk can be found at the surveyed bathing areas. Contaminated areas are the south-west coast of Dabie Lake (island) and the complete eastern branch of the Oder river. Even at the beach in Dabie, close to the emission source, a sufficient bathing water quality is likely.

2.5.3 River discharge scenarios

In addition to the wind also the Oder river discharge influences the flow field pattern in the Oder mouth area and thereby the transport of $E.\ coli$ (scenario R, Table 2.3). During minimum river run-off the currents are less than 0.04 ms⁻¹ in the whole Oder mouth (Figure 2.9 (a)). Thus, nearly all of the released bacteria stay in Dabie lake until they become inactive (Figure 2.9 (d)). It takes approximately 6 days before the bacteria reach the beach of Lubczyna. The main $E.\ coli$ plume stays close to the emission location. It scarcely reaches the northern part of the lake. The anti-clockwise flow pattern, established in the north-west Dabie lake, leads to north-eastward directed transport of the emitted bacteria. However, no hazardous concentrations are probable outside Lubczyna. Simulations with the summer mean river discharge (Figure 2.9 (b)) show mean velocities of 0.06 ms⁻¹ which can exceed 0.1 ms⁻¹ in the shipping channel. Hence, the bacteria reach Lubczyna after approximately two days and need additional four days to reach Trzebiez (20 km from Szczecin). The flow field transports $E.\ coli$ bacteria into the Oder lagoon, but these get inactive until the next bathing place is reached due to their mortality rate. As described in detail in section 2.5.2, contaminations of the west coasts of the Oder river as well as Dabie lake are most likely (Figure 2.9 (e)). In contrast, the north-east coast of the river (Stepnica, Czarnocin) is not at risk. This is not the case for summer maximum river discharge (Figure 2.9 (f)). Due to the increased mean flow speed of 0.2 ms⁻¹ the transport time of the bacteria has shorten and it takes only 2 days to reach for example Trzebiez. Active concentrations of more than $10^{3.5}$ cfu/100 ml are probable there. The increased flow speed leads generally to higher mixing in the Oder river which overlaps the influence of the wind. Hence, the *E. coli* concentrations are nearly equally distributed $(10^{3.5} - 10^4 \text{ cfu}/100 \text{ ml})$ elsewhere in the area of interest (Figure 2.9 (c)). Hence, none of the surveyed bathing places is save for bathers under these conditions.

2.5.4 Emissions amount scenarios

Three different emission amounts of *E. coli* bacteria (scenario E, Table 2.3) have been used to show the impact of different sewage treatment on the concentration levels in the Oder mouth area. The waste water treatment and river water quality of the past, present and possible future provide the basis for these scenarios. If merely mechanically treated sewage or even pure effluents enter the Oder river, concentrations of $10^8 E. coli$ cfu/100 ml have been measured (Mehlhart and Klaus (2002)) (past scenario). Assuming a biological treatment of the effluent, $10^6 E. coli$ cfu/100 ml enter the water (Hagendorf et al. (2004); Umweltbundesamt (2011)) (present scenario). Considering the future scenario, where an additional UV-disinfection of the sewage is assumed and vegetative filter strips along the Oder river coast, $10^4 E. coli$ cfu/100 ml can be expected in the water.

In the past scenario hazardous E. coli concentrations are most likely to be found in the whole area of the Oder mouth (Figure 2.10 (a)). They exceed 10^6 cfu/100 ml close to the emission locations and still 10^5 cfu/100 ml in the north Oder river. At Czarnocin, the northernmost place examined in this study, concentrations of $10^{4.5}$ cfu/100 ml are likely. Moreover, E. coli bacteria reach the Oder lagoon most probable in high concentrations of more than $10^{4.2}$ cfu/100 ml. The situation is rectified by modern waste water treatment. As described in section 2.5.2 contaminations of the west coasts of the Oder river as well as Dabie lake are most likely. The north-east coast of the river is not at risk (Figure 2.10 (b)). The future scenario shows that a further enhancement of the bathing water quality is possible (Figure 2.10 (c)). The EU thresholds for a sufficient bathing water quality are exceeded only close to the emission source, in central Dabie lake and in the west branch of the Oder river. All surveyed bathing places can reach excellent water quality.

2.5.5 Realistic simulation in 2006

To present a temporal and spatial picture of *E. coli* bacteria concentrations, dynamic flow simulations have been carried out for the summer season 2006, forced by realistic wind fields, atmospheric and boundary data. Particles are released in two periods. First, every day from 13/07/06 till 18/07/06 at 12'clock tracked until 19/07/06 and second, every day from 10/08/06 till 16/08/06 at 12 o'clock and tracked until 17/08/06. The same emission







Figure 2.10: *E. coli* risk map computed with different *E. coli* emission amounts (scenario E). (a) $10^8 \text{ cfu}/100 \text{ ml}$, (b) $10^6 \text{ cfu}/100 \text{ ml}$ and (c) $10^4 \text{ cfu}/100 \text{ ml}$. The black line within the colour scale shows the EU threshold of 500 cfu/100 ml.

locations as in the former scenarios have been used.

The possible *E. coli* contamination in the Oder mouth area on 18/07/06 and 16/08/06 are presented in Figure 2.11 (a,c). The model results show a general contamination of the whole Oder mouth area for both dates. The bacteria concentration level ranges between 10^4 and 10^6 cfu/100 ml. The EU threshold for a sufficient beach is, thus, exceeded by factors of 20 - 2.000. The highest *E. coli* concentrations ($\approx 10^6$ cfu/100 ml) can be found in west Dabie lake and off the west coast of the Oder river on both dates. The central Oder mouth still hazardous concentrations of $10^{4.8}$ cfu/100 ml occur. In July 2006 the east coast of Dabie lake was polluted with concentrations of 10^4 - 10^6 cfu/100 ml. Figure 2.11 (b) indicates the onshore transport and accumulation of the bacteria off the coast. In contrast, the bacterial plume did not reach the east coast in August 2006 (Figure 2.11 (c,d)). The trajectory pattern shows, that the northward directed flow was more pronounced during this period than in July (Figure 2.11 (b,d)). Generally, the model results are in agreement to the samples which indicate a EU threshold exceedance at Lubczyna in July but not in August.

2.5.6 Scenario summary

All prerequisites and major outcomes of the scenario are collected in the following table 2.4.



Figure 2.11: Possible *E. coli* contamination on 18/07/06 (upper) and 16/08/06 at 12 o'clock (lower). The concentration maps (a,c) are shown in the left column and trajectories of particles (b,d) representing *E. coli* emissions at different days are shown in the right column.

scenario	$egin{array}{c} \mathbf{mortality} \ [\mathbf{h}^{-1}] \end{array}$	${ m wind} \ [{ m ms}^{-1}]$	\mathbf{river} $[\mathbf{m}^3\mathbf{s}^{-1}]$	E. coli amount [cfu/100 ml]	major outcomes
wind (W)	0.0185	N, NO, ,NW: 3, 6	414	10 ⁶	wind direction influences east- west distribution of bacteria; wind speed less influence; SW favours upriver flow of bacteria
mortality (M)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.009 \\ 0.0185 \\ 0.0571 \end{array}$	SW 3	414	10^{6}	key parameter 1 for concentration level
river (R)	0.0185	SW 3	64 414 1606	10 ⁶	influences bacteria distribution to the north; if increased overlap wind influence
emission (E)	0.0185	SW 3	414	$10^8 \\ 10^6 \\ 10^4$	key parameter 2 for concentration level
real 2006	0.0185	measure	measure	10 ⁸	coastal pollution in Dabie lake in July, but not in August

Table 2.4: Prerequisites and major outcomes of the scenarios.

2.6 Conclusion and discussion

In the present study we have presented a 3D model system and its potential to serve as a tool for coastal water management. We used a 3D model system to simulate different scenarios with varying wind direction and speed as well as with different mortality rates, river run-off and emission accounts. Their analyses identify the wind direction to be the environmental key parameter controlling the east-west bacteria distribution. The variabilities of the *E. coli* concentrations depend less on the wind speed. The prevailing wind direction (south-west) favours the bacterial upriver transport. However, the northeast coast of the Oder mouth (Stepnica, Czarnocin) is not at risk. If the river run-off is additionally increased, the increased current velocities transport the microorganisms

towards the north. Active bacteria can enter bathing areas 20 km downriver from the pollution sources (Trzebiez) in high concentrations as well as the Oder lagoon. Also the north-east Oder mouth area is affected by too high E. coli concentrations since the bacteria are equally distributed in the whole domain and even in shallow areas. Contrarily, there is only a risk for the south Dabie lake under low river discharge. Hence, we can conclude the river run-off controls the northward expansion of the bacteria transport. The steady state scenario results show moreover, that E. coli mortality rate and emission intensity are key parameters for concentration levels at downstream beaches. However, these factors are highly uncertain. On the one hand the concrete survival time of E. coli bacteria is unknown in such special environments as the Oder river mouth and Oder lagoon. The high turbidity and low salinity of the water are known to be survival favouring parameters where the high temperature counteracts. The insufficient information about the E. coli survival times in such a special environment could be compensated if additional mortality experiments with the microorganisms were carried out. On the other hand, not all households of Szczecin are connected to sewers so far (more than 80%) and hence the actual release of untreated water in the city is unknown. This could be changed if additional water quality measurements would be taken outside the city. These should also be carried out off the sewage treatment plant. The measurements could assess the existing emission situation and allow a successive elimination as required in Article 6 of the new bathing water quality directive (2006/7/EC). However, the EU project Water quality improvement in Szczecin (European Comission (2000)) was an important step to reduce pollution sources and improve the water quality. However, studies from Kistemann et al. (2009) and Kistemann et al. (2008) showed that the development of central sewage treatment plants lead to a reduction of the hygienic-micro-biological water quality. Besides these authors also Graw and Borchardt (1995); Hagendorf et al. (2004) and Riegler (2002) concluded, that further national and international methods are required to reduce the micro-biological load from sewage treatment and hence to ensure the EU threshold compliance. According to Kistemann et al. (2009) three different techniques are possible: to increase the sewer or sewage treatment plant volume, to use membrane- or retention-filtration (Gimbel (1998)); Schilling and Kollbach (1998)) or to use disinfection techniques (chlorine, UV or ozone) as described by McNair-Scott and Lesher (1963); Chang et al. (1985); Hunt and Mariñas (1999); Papiri et al. (2003); Field et al. (2004). Although the latter method is laborious, its effect is promising. As reported by Wasserwirtschaftsamt München (2012) the ultraviolet radiation damages the genetic material such that the bacteria die quickly. In the Isar river (Bavaria, Germany) a 99% reduction of the bacterial load could be achieved with this method. However, we could show that the insufficient sewage treatment in Szczecin upstream is the major source for faecal pollution. Nevertheless, the Oder river is a pollution source itself. As especially meadows and grasslands dominate the landscape around the Oder river entry into Dabie lake. These are mainly used as pastures for cattle breeding (Schernewski et al. (2012)). Vinten et al. (2002) and Kistemann et al. (2009) have shown the importance of grazing animals and cattle slurry application as

an E. coli pollution source for surface waters. Vegetative filter strips are a promising possibility to hinder the cattles from going into the river and further to reduce surface washes (Kistemann et al. (2008)). Particularly after heavy rainfalls, which are often described as major source for bacterial influxes (Rechenburg et al. (2006); Kistemann et al. (2009)), these surface washes provide a high amount of bacterial load (Kistemann et al. (2009)). In our future scenario experiment, we assumed both techniques, the vegetative filter strips and the UV-disinfection of the sewage water. The results indicate an increased water quality everywhere in the Oder mouth. With this full implementation of the sewage treatment in Szczecin new bathing places could be established close to the city in north Dabie lake and along the east coast of the Oder river mouth.

Total coliform bacteria have been the indicator organisms for faecal pollution in the directive 1976/7/EEC. These form a heterogeneous group of enterobacteria. They include *E. coli*, but also microorganisms that do not origin from faeces and, hence, do not present any health risk (Auchenthaler and Huggenberger (2003)). Thus, under the "old" directive a faecal pollution could only be conjectured. Consequently, the water quality benchmark was too strict in the past. Beaches have been closed although no hazard was existent for bathers e.g. in summer 2006. The reputation of the bathing area suffered and economic damages could be the consequence. In contrast, taking *E. coli* as an indicator only leads to beach closings if a justified possibility of faecal pollution (World Health Organisation (2003)) exists. Thus, the new EU-Bathing Water Quality Directive (2006/7/EC) reduces the risk of beach closings. A simulation covering July and August 2006, when several beaches had to be closed according to the old directive (1976/7/EEC), confirms that no beach closing would have been necessary according to the new directive (2006/7/EC).

Assuming a sewage treatment plant blackout or future contamination events, it is important to have an organised management, which can fast react and promptly notify the public. Our steady state simulations can support the authorities. The computed steady state simulations provide a management and risk assessment tool for future pollution events and can help to reduce the risk for bathers. For example, our analyses show that under prevailing summer conditions and increased Oder run-off the authorities need to close or at least warn the people on the beaches of Lubczyna and Trzebiez for approximately 16 hours and 2 days, respectively, to guarantee the safety of the bathers. This fast bacteria transport underlines the importance of article 12 of the bathing water quality directive (2006/7/EC) (European Union (2006)) which calls to "... use appropriate media and technology, including the Internet, to disseminate actively and promptly the information concerning bathing waters...". Besides this study, the authors have made their contribution to this task implementing the applied model system into the public information system "GENeric European Sustainable Information Space for Environment (GENESIS)". This is a web-based solution for monitoring air quality, fresh and coastal water quality, and the impact on health. GENESIS helped to developed an environmental management and health services in Europe and shall support public information according to Article 12 of the bathing water quality directive (2006/7/EC).

Although former studies about coastal management in the Oder lagoon area have used particle tracking together with circulation models, most of the studies are computed with 2D model systems (Schernewski and Jülich (2001); Schernewski et al. (2002)). These are not able to fully reproduce the three dimensional flow and transport patterns as it is now possible with our model system. Furthermore the advantages of our model set-up, compared to the recently used one in Schernewski et al. (2012), are the high resolution on the one hand and the increased number of particles on the other hand. We are therewith able to assess the risk even at single beaches and can give a better spatial distribution of the *E. coli* bacteria than in former studies. However, the high resolution means high computational coasts while producing. The possibility to run the circulation model on supercomputers of the HLRN (2007) reduces the effort immensely. Unfortunately, the tracking model cannot be scheduled in parallel, but Lévy et al. (2012) found out that a grid degradation of the circulation results does not decrease the particle tracking result quality. Nevertheless, this approach was not applicable in our study, since we wanted to follow the coastline in high resolution what makes it hardly feasible to degrade the grid.

Chapter 3

A model tool for bathing water quality management: A case study on *Salmonella* occurrence at the southern Baltic coast

3.1 Introduction

High bathing water quality is of outstanding importance for tourism all over the world. Deterioration of bathing water quality and the subsequent closing of beaches can have serious economic consequences for seaside resorts and may include a loss of reputation. Salmonella spp. is an important and wide-spread human pathogenic microorganism which can cause typhoid and paratyphoid fever (Baggesen et al. (2000); Polo et al. (1998); World Health Organisation (2003)). Its load in surface waters (by e.g. effluents) is very important for public health and environmental issues (Baudart et al. (2000)). Today, however, 92% of all bathing waters in Europe comply with the minimum water quality standards set by the bathing water directive (European Environment Agency (2012a)). The old Directive 1976/7/EEC (European Union (1976)) included physico-chemical and microbial indicators, such as total and faecal *coliform* bacteria, in the assessment of water quality. For cases where water quality showed deterioration, tests on faecal Streptococci, Salmonella and entero viruses were deemed necessary. It was a requirement that 80% of all samples taken during bathing season had to be free from Salmonella (Mansilha et al. (2010)). At present most European Union member states implement the new simplified Directive 2006/7/EC (European Union (2006)), which includes only two indicators, intestinal Enterococci and Escherichia coli (E.coli), with no additional tests.

Does this mean that *Salmonella* problems in European bathing waters do not exist anymore or that intestinal *Enterococci* and *E.coli* are sufficient indicators for *Salmonella* appearance? Can we be sure that bathing waters compliant with the quality standards

are without any risk for human health? The recent publication by Mansilha et al. (2010) already suggests that there is no significant correlation between the presence of Salmonella and the guide values of indicators. Often, high concentrations of faecal indicators are correlated with Salmonella occurrence. However, many examples suggest that faecal indicators are insufficient in natural waters (Polo et al. (1998); Dionisio et al. (2000); Lemarchand and Lebaron (2003); Efstration and Tsirtis (2009); Mansilha et al. (2010)). Salmonella concentrations have also been found in the absence of classical indicator microorganisms (Moriñigo et al. (1990); Galeés and Baleux (1992); Mansilha et al. (2010)). In several cases Salmonella was found in a concentration of more than 10^3 per litre in samples although faecal *coliform* levels met the strictest bathing quality threshold of Directive 1976/7/EEC (Tobias and Heinemeyer (1994)). One important reason is the different behaviour and survival of different microorganisms in the natural aquatic environment (Mansilha et al. (2010)). We can conclude that problems with Salmonella have been and are still being reported and that, very likely, many other pollution events escaped and continue to escape our notice. The new European Directive 2006/7/EC will hardly change the situation.

The primary source of Salmonella is the gastrointestinal tract of humans and many animals (Bell and Kyriakides (2002)). It enters surface water through sewage, animal excreta (Clark et al. (1996)) and sediment (Ferguson et al. (1996)). It can survive several weeks in the natural environment while still maintaining its pathogenicity (Rhodes and Kator (1988)). However, salinity and low temperatures do not allow a reproduction in natural waters (Rhodes and Kator (1988)). Often Salmonella are attached to particles, where they can reach high concentrations and increase the infection risk for bathers, who swallow these particles. Resuspended near-shore sediments are of particular importance in this respect (Moore et al. (2003)) and the bathing zone remains a focus region for potential infections. We present a model system which combines a three-dimensional hydrodynamic model with a Lagrangian particle tracking model. By applying this system to a precise, exemplary case study we will demonstrate its potential for not only scientific analyses but also as a tool capable of answering questions of practical relevance. Furthermore, we show that the model system can act as a general tool for bathing water quality management (assuming a point source at the beach). In our case study we present a Salmonella pollution event in coastal waters of the Polish seaside resort Miedzyzdroje (Island of Wolin at the German/Polish border in the southern Baltic Sea (Figure 2.1)) during the major bathing season in August 2008. The consequences include the closing of the beaches as well as extensive media coverage. The authorities faced a lot of pressure, but it became obvious that knowledge, experience and tools were lacking to manage the problem effectively. We analyse the pollution event with the objectives to: a) spatially locate possible Salmonella pollution sources, b) obtain a full impression of the spatial transport pattern and the temporal spreading of Salmonella, c) provide a management tool for future pollution events and d) give recommendations towards an improved monitoring and management. For this purpose, we carry out varied wind scenarios as well as forward and backtracking



Figure 3.1: (a) Satellite picture of the Western Baltic (Flash Earth). Selected: area of Pomeranian Bight and Oder Lagoon. (b) Topography of entire model set-up area with grid outline showing every 20-th grid box, and a map of Poland indicating the study area location.

simulations for the pollution event.

3.2 Study site and measurements

Miedzyzdroje is a seaside resort located at the German/Polish border at the island of Wolin in the southern Baltic Sea (Figure 3.1). It comprises an area of 110 km² with 6.570 inhabitants. The city is coveted as holiday destination and the most important bathing place on Wolin (≈ 473.000 overnight stays in 2010 (Statistical Government Poland (2012)). The beach is approximately 4 km long and is separated by a pier into a west and east beach. Close to the tourist bathing area, located at the eastern end of the beach, a fisher base had been developed (Figure 3.2). The related fishery activities provide a potential source of pollution.



Figure 3.2: The situation at Miedzyzdroje beach. Long sandy beach (left) with fisher boats docking close to the tourists bathing area (middle) and the shops at the beach (right).

The shallow Pomeranian Bight is characterised by water depths less than 20 m. Generally, the 20 m isobath separates the Pomeranian Bight from the large-scale circulation of the Baltic Sea. Water depths shallower than 10 m at the Oder Bank divide the bight into an eastern and a western part. The coastal area of the bight is well mixed and has a mean salinity concentration of less than 7 PSU (Siegel et al. (1999)). The dynamical processes in the Pomeranian Bight are driven by local winds and controlled by the earth's rotation, bathymetry and coastal alignment. The response patterns are characterised by horizontal scales down to a few hundred metres and time scales between a few hours and days (Siegel et al. (1999)). The system is dominated by an Ekman current in the surface layer and a compensating current in the deep layer. It is initiated by the constraint of the coastal boundary condition with respect to the offshore component of the barotropic flow (Lass et al. (2001)). The current is rectified within a coastal boundary layer (width of \approx one baroclinic Rossby radius) (Lass et al. (2001)). Easterly winds, occurring frequently in spring, produce an offshore transport associated with upwelling at the Polish coast (Siegel et al. (1999)). Colder bottom water is upwelled to the surface and transported into the bight. Under westerly winds warm surface waters are driven onshore and sink down at the coast (downwelling). Vertical current shear, established by the surface Ekman current and the compensating bottom current (Lass et al. (2001)), causes vertical mixing by differential advection (Aken van (1986)) outside the coastal boundary layer. A relatively weak longshore current establishes off the coast of Usedom, as well as near the Swina river mouth (Lass et al. (2001)).

The islands Usedom and Wolin separate the Baltic from the Oder lagoon. Water exchange happens pulse-like via the Swina channel (Mohrholz (1998)). It carries $300 - 500 \text{ m}^3 \text{s}^{-1}$ and hence plays only a minor role for the dynamics in the study area.

All bathing water quality measurements are provided by the Institute for Meteorology and Water Management Krakow. All measurements have been taken qualitatively (presence/absence) according to the old EU bathing water directive EU 1976/7/EEC (European Union (1976)). According to European Environment Agency (2010) Member States of the EU have until December 2014 to implement the new Directive 2006/7/EC, with the option to report either under the old or the new directive until 2012. During this transition period, samples are reported under the Directive 2006/7/EC but assessed according to the rules of Directive 1976/7/EEC (European Environment Agency (2010)). Since 2011 Poland has been reporting under Directive 2006/7/EC.

During the major bathing season in August 2008 insufficient bathing water quality, due to *Salmonella* occurrence, led to a bathing prohibition for more than 4 weeks. However, the measured *E. coli* concentrations did not exceed the threshold values of the EU Directive 2006/7/EC (Figure 3.3) at the entire period.

The first samples, wherein *Salmonella* were detected, were taken at the end of July at the pier, at rescue towers 7-12 (distance of 300 m; fixed station off Hotel Amber Baltic = tower 10), but no sampling was conducted at the fisher base (Figure 3.4). However, the beach closing started one week later on 2008/08/07 and was imposed to only the east



Figure 3.3: In-situ measurements of *E.coli* concentrations and *Salmonella* presence at all sampling stations divided in stations west (light grey) and east (dark grey) of the pier during the bathing season 2008. EU Bathing Water Directive threshold values for *E.coli* (cfu/100 ml) for sufficient (based upon a 90-percentile) and excellent (based upon a 95-percentile) quality are shown as dashed and dashed-dotted lines.



Figure 3.4: Measurement locations (a) and occurrence of Salmonella in summer 2008 (b).

beach (1.3 km long). The beach west of the pier (2 km) remained open to bathers and was frequently used. On 2008/08/05 no *Salmonella* was detected between rescue tower 8 to the fisher base, but no measures were taken west of tower 8. The observations from 2008/08/08 indicated a bacterial contamination from the pier towards the fisher base (distance 600 m), where again no measurements were carried out west off the pier. Since from mid July to mid August low/no *E.coli* concentrations were measured at the sampling stations west of the pier, a eastward directed flow might have been dominant during this period. In contrast from mid August to September, the water quality measurements indicated westward transport. *Salmonella* bacteria as well as increased *E.coli* concentrations were detected at westerly stations, whereas at easterly stations decreased *E.coli* concentrations were measured and no *Salmonella* was present (Figure 3.3). At the beginning of September

no Salmonella had been detected off Miedzyzdroje, but the threat was determined in Swinoujscie. In October 2008 the sources had not been found. The media suggested several possible sources: septic tanks or leak in sewers at the fisher beach, dredging in the Swina river, deliberate release at the beach to hinder the establishment of new hotels and apartments (ANONYMOUS (a) (2008); ANONYMOUS (b) (2008); ANONYMOUS (c) (2008)). The closing of the beach had severe economic consequences for Miedzyzdroje including the drop of the total summer season income by 50% compared to previous years (pers. communication Institute for Meteorology and Water Management Krakow).

Since the water quality measurements have only a low temporal resolution (3-7 days during the bathing prohibition) the actual transport direction is not certain. The application of the model system allows the interpolation of the in-situ measurements and therewith provides a spatio-temporal picture of the *Salmonella* distribution.

3.3 Scenario application

In this chapter we applied the same model setup as in chapter 2, but the study area is in the Pomeranian Bight here.

The entire model system, with realistic forcing, was applied to the described case study to prove its suitability as well as its capability and practical relevance. Four different sets of experiments were performed. In the first set we reconstructed the situation at the second Salmonella measurement on 2008/08/08. Particles were released one week earlier on 2008/07/31 (the first day of contamination) to obtain a temporal and spatial picture of the distribution. In the second experiment different release locations were tested according to the assumed sources: east pier, fisher base, sampling station tower 12 and in northern Swina river (off the sewage treatment plant in Swinoujscie). The third experiment is a backtracking scenario which allows the evaluation of potential emission sources. For this purpose, particles were continuously released every day at the sampling station tower 12 from 2008/08/08 to 2008/08/15 and tracked backward in time. In the last experiment daily released particles were tracked forward in time to present a possible spatial-temporal distribution of Salmonella in August 2008. In these sets, $5 \cdot 10^3$ particles were released and realistic flow fields were used, based on realistic meteorological forcing. The last scenarios are idealised model application, where 16 steady state flow fields (according to the 8 cardinal wind directions and two different wind speeds) were taken to force the particle tracking model. Within these scenarios transport times and distances were derived. $5 \cdot 10^4$ particles were released at Miedzyzdroje beach. For all simulations particles were released in one surface grid cell to model a point source pollution.

In the first and and last experiment density maps were computed under the assumption of a sewer induced contamination (according to media reports (ANONYMOUS (a) (2008); ANONYMOUS (b) (2008); ANONYMOUS (c) (2008))). Hence, an emission of 10⁸ Salmonella per day would have been possible (Baudart et al. (2000)). Releasing 10⁸ bacteria into the surface layer at the source point leads to a Salmonella concentration of



Figure 3.5: Daily mean surface (a) and above-bottom (b) flow field pattern of the southern Pomeranian Bight on 2008/08/08.

 $4 \cdot 10^7$ bacteria per litre. Each particle represents 2.000 (real case) and 20.000 (steady state case) bacteria, respectively. The mortality rate of *Salmonella* spp. in seawater has been studied in numerous papers (e.g. Rhodes and Kator (1988); Mezrioui and Baleux (1992); Wait and Sobsey (2001); Moore et al. (2003)). All of them report a high correlation between survival rate and salinity and temperature. Low salinity concentrations as well as low temperatures increase the survival time, and hence reduce the mortality (Nabbut and Kurayiyyah (1972); Wait and Sobsey (2001)). The summer mean temperature and salinity, estimated from the Oder Bank Buoy is 18°C and less than 7 PSU. This is in accordance with Siegel et al. (1999). For our experiments we use a mortality rate of 0.0086 h⁻¹ (T₉₀= 116 h, the time needed to reduce the initial bacterial population by 90 %) computed from the results of Mezrioui and Baleux (1992) via linear regression. It is applicable since the area of interest is well mixed. The used die-off rate corresponds with results of e.g. Wait and Sobsey (2001), who observed a mortality rate of 72 to 240 h at temperatures between 6 °C and 28 °C.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Realistic model simulations

During the contamination at the beginning of August 2008 a north-eastward directed surface flow was dominant off the coast (Figure 3.5 (a)) while a weak onshore directed flow dominated close to the bottom (Figure 3.5 (b)). Strong winds (winds speeds > 12 m s⁻¹ = 6 Bft) led to increased current speeds of more than 0.5 m s⁻¹ in the vicinity of the beach. The model results indicate a strong water mass transport along the coast. Under the eastward directed current (mean speed of 0.12 m s⁻¹), transport from Miedzyzdroje to Swinoujscie (17 km) takes about 2 days (\pm 0.5 days), and 5 days (\pm 2 days) from Miedzyzdroje to Dziwnow (25 km).

Forward tracking (single release)

Four different emission locations were used in this set of experiments to study the fate of point releases (Miedzyzdroje pier, the fisher base, tower 12 and the northern Swine river). The simulation results indicate a transport time of three days from the source towards the eastern boundary of the domain if particles were emitted off Miedzyzdroje. In contrast, it takes only two days if particles were released in the Swina river. Particles were carried with the river water plume offshore into the Pomeranian Bight. The transport is faster with offshore water masses than with those close to the coast.

Particle emissions at the pier in Miedzyzdroje indicate a possible partial contamination of the west beach (Figure 3.6(a)) the like of which has not been measured. After four days particles remain close to the emission point. A pollution source at the fisher base did not indicate the observed beach contamination close to the pier (Figure 3.6(b)). The pollutants would have probably stayed at the beach for only one day before they were transported eastward. Releasing the particles at sampling station tower 12, only resulted in the east beach being contaminated with a high likelihood. The west part was likely not affected. This is in accordance with the measurements. Particles stayed at the beach for about three days (Figure 3.6(c)). Particles emitted in the Swina river were transported into the Pomeranian Bight with the Swina river outflow. Some particle were carried onshore towards the beach off Miedzyzdroje and farther east until Dziwnow (Figure 3.6(d)). All release scenario results show: particles were transported eastward along the coast. There was a high probability in the results that the entire beach up to Dziwnow was contaminated. Furthermore, a continuous emission seems highly probable in this scenario.

Backtracking

With the help of backtracking simulations source regions can be identified in the form of probability or likelihood maps (Batchelder (2006)). The particle distribution probability diagram (histogram, Figure 3.7) indicates the most likely pollution source points for the Miedzyzdroje case study. The highest probability (> 10%) of the source location is close to the release point due to the continuous emission (Figure 3.7). Particles were drifting onshore towards the east beach of Miedzyzdroje after three days (Figure 3.7) (c)). The Pomeranian Bight can be neglected as a source due to the small distribution probabilities in that area (< 0.4%). Similarly, the Swina river can be excluded as a source since there is no indication of particles being transported westward. A source at the west beach can also be excluded with high probability because our scenario results indicate a permanent eastward transport. Emission experiments with different start dates (2008/07/30, 2008/07/31, 2008/08/01) and end dates (2008/08/03 - 2008/08/08) show the distributions are similar and thus independent from the starting date (not shown).



Figure 3.6: Trajectories of 5.000 particles emitted (a) east of the pier at Miedzyzdroje beach, (b) at the fisher base, (c) at tower 12 and (d) in front of sewage treatment plant in Swinoujscie (Swina river). For better visualisation the figure show only a limited region of the domain.

Forward tracking (continuous release)

A possible temporal and spatial picture of *Salmonella* bacteria concentrations during the bathing period in August 2008 is provided by a continuous release of particles every day at 12:00. They were emitted in two periods. First, from 2008/07/31 till 2008/08/08 (tracked until 2008/08/15), and second, from 2008/08/30 till 2008/09/07 (tracked until 2008/09/09). The assumption for calculating concentration maps (Figure 3.8) is a sewer induced pollution (10^8 *Salmonella* per day) at sampling station tower 12 in both experiments.

As within the single release experiment, all bacteria were transported onshore eastward with the flow (Figure 3.8 (a)). The western beach was most likely not affected. The bacteria accumulate at the release point and concentrations of 10.000 Salmonella per litre are possible. The density map indicates that concentrations of 100 - 1.000 Salmonella per litre could also be found 10 km east of Miedzyzdroje. During the second simulation period Salmonella were transported alongshore and westward (Figure 3.8 (b)). There is a high probability of them arriving at the east coast of Swinoujscie beach and the Swina channel after 3 days. The density map indicates that concentrations of 250 - 500 Salmonella per litre could partially occur at the beach of Swinoujscie, 17 km away from the source.



Figure 3.7: Percentage particle distribution after 1 (a), 2 (b), 3 (c), .. and 6 (f) days of backtracking. The values are clustered in boxes of size of 300 m x 300 m.

According to the infection dose of $2 \cdot 10^5$ (Briese and Heinemeyer (1989); Havemeister (1989)) and to the assumed emission amount, likely no risk for bathers occurred during August 2008. If the emission had been higher than that assumed one cannot exclude a possible risk for bathers.

3.4.2 Idealised simulations

Based on the prevailing wind conditions in the area of interest (Schernewski et al. (2012)), GETM simulations with constant 10 meter wind speeds of 3 m s⁻¹ and 6 m s⁻¹ were carried out for the 8 cardinal wind directions (N, NE, E,..., NW). During calm wind conditions mean flow velocities of 0.02 m s⁻¹ is suggested. This leads to mean transport times of 10 days (\pm 2 days) between Miedzyzdroje and Swinoujscie, and 14 days (\pm 3 days) between Miedzyzdroje and Dziwnow. Increased wind speeds of 6 m s⁻¹ reduce the transport time by a factor of two.

Independent from the wind condition, to the west of Miedzyzdroje surface flow velocities tends to increase whereas 5 km to the east they decrease (Figure 3.9 (a, b)). Eastern/western winds lead to offshore (onshore) directed surface flows caused by Coriolis force (Ekman transport). A clockwise (anti-clockwise) flow circulation develops in bottom



Figure 3.8: Possible Salmonella contamination on (a) 2008/08/08 and (b) on 2008/09/07 at 12 o'clock with an emission source in Miedzyzdroje. Shown are the concentrations integrated over the entire water column. The black line in the colorbar indicates the infection dose rate of an adult according to Briese and Heinemeyer (1989) and Havemeister (1989). The small panel in the upper left corners shows the wind direction and speed during the simulation periods.

water layers (Figure 3.9 (c, d)).

Tracking simulations, assuming a sewer induced emission, were carried out with a continuous release of $5 \cdot 10^4$ particles for two weeks. Salmonella density maps for different wind conditions are presented in Figure 3.10. Bacteria were transported westward/eastward and offshore (onshore) with the current flow under easterly/westerly winds, driven with the Ekman transport. Wind from north drove the flow offshore, while south winds lea to particle transport along the coast (Figure 3.10(d,e)). As assumed, forcing the setup with calm wind of 3 m s⁻¹, the bacterial plume has a smaller dispersion than under increased winds (not shown). Hazardous concentrations of more than 200.000 Salmonella per litre (Briese and Heinemeyer (1989); Havemeister (1989)) could be found



Figure 3.9: Modelled steady state surface flow fields (upper) and bottom flow fields (lower) forced with constant 10 m wind of 6 m s⁻¹ from east (a,c) and west (b,d).

in a radius of at most 5 km around the source. During stronger winds of 6 m s⁻¹ hazardous concentrations were dispersed about 10 km east/west under westerly/easterly winds (Figure 3.10(a-c, f-h)). Although particles were also transported into the Bight, the main plume stays onshore. Prevailing south-west winds led to a bacterial distribution along the entire coast of Wolin to Dziwnow (Figure 3.10(c)). For all wind scenarios the highest *Salmonella* concentrations of 1000.000 germs per litre appeared close to the release point due to continuous emission.

Often, *Salmonella* pollution results from single releases for example via accidental events. The measurement data are limited both spatially and temporally (single spot observations). Idealised simulations, in combination with the observation, can expand the measurement from a single position within the water column to a spatio-temporal picture of the bacterial distribution in the coastal zone. It acts as an addition to the measurements.

Simulations with single Salmonella release were carried out to show probable transport ranges. Again the 8 main wind directions with a speeds of 6 m s⁻¹ were used as forcing. During the first day after emission, particles are transported to within 1 km around the source, independent of the wind direction. After 1 day the maximal transport distance of the pollutants was 5 km west/east under east/west winds. However, bacteria were transported about 20 km west/east after only four days and hence left the model domain (Figure 3.11 (a, b, c, f, g, h)). Under north and south winds, the dispersion is slower than under east and west winds (Figure 3.11 (d, e)). After 1 day the pollutants stay close to the source. Northern winds lead to an offshore particle transport with a 4 km radius around the source after 4 days where after it remains unchanged. Bacteria were equally

days	$\begin{array}{ll} {\rm distance} \\ {\rm in} & [{\rm km}] \\ {\rm at} & {\rm wind} \\ {\rm speed \ of \ 3} \\ {\rm m \ s}^{-1} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{ll} {\rm distance} \\ {\rm in} & [{\rm km}] \\ {\rm at} & {\rm wind} \\ {\rm speed \ of \ 6} \\ {\rm m \ s^{-1}} \end{array}$	
1	2.5	5	
2	5	9	
3	7	13	
4	9	17.5	
5	10	21	
6	10.5	24	
7	11.5	> 24	
8	13.5	> 24	
9	15.5	> 24	
10	17.5	> 24	

Table 3.1: Transport ranges in km towards east according to south west winds for two wind speeds 3 and 6 m s⁻¹ after 1, 2, ... until after 10 days. The western dispersion is about 1 km for both wind speeds and all days.

dispersed 8 km (16 km) to east and west during south winds after 4 (9) days.

Table 3.1 contains transport ranges of bacteria according to the predominant wind direction (south west). In this experiment no specific emission amount was assumed and hence the number of particles emitted was not related to any concentration. Thus, we give here no risk radii, in terms of hazardous concentrations, as in Figure 3.8, but only transport distances.

Bacteria are dispersed two times farther under increased winds than under calmer winds. Within the first four days, released bacteria drifted more than 15 km at wind speeds of 6 m s⁻¹. The fast transport goes on for the following days and hence pollutants were dispersed wider than 24 km (out of the domain) already after seven days. In contrast, emitted bacteria drifted less than 2.5 km per day at wind speeds of 3 m s⁻¹. They reached Dziwnow (17 km away) after ten days.

3.4.3 Recommendations towards an improved management and monitoring

According to our knowledge the sources of the contamination in Miedzyzdroje in summer 2008 has not been identified. Our model results suggest that the source was most likely in

town, but we were unable to identify the type of emission. For this reason future pollution events cannot be excluded since a similar emission may occur. Our study results give clear evidence of areas at risk and transport ranges in case of a future contamination with Salmonella in Miedzyzdroje. If Salmonella germs are again detected, information about wind conditions should be collected to use the right scenario map (see Table 3.1and Figure 3.11) and derive the related transport ranges: 5 km to the west/east under easterly/westerly winds after the first day, and up to 20 km to the west/east after four days. The east-west dispersion is not wider than 4 km during north winds, where it is 8 km (16 km) during south winds after four (nine) days. The predominant south west wind (6 m s^{-1}) forces a fast, alongshore, eastward directed transport. Therefore, for each day elapsed after detection, the monitoring should be extended 5 km to the east. Independent from the wind direction, bathing areas 1 km away from the first detection location are affected by pollution, due to dispersion, and therefore sampling should be conducted there. Possible sources for a future contamination, e.g. sewers along the coast, the fisher base, the sewage treatment plant in Swinoujscie or local events at the beach should also be analysed. If the source is pinpointed and identified, the monitoring can be adapted to this location and further samples should be taken with respect to wind and flow field direction (see Table 3.1 and Figure 3.11). Moreover, selective measure should be carried out to close the source preventing a further contamination.

In general, we can derive supra-regional recommendations from the model application to the precise case study in Miedzyzdroje. The results indicate that pollutants are driven by the flow field, which is forced by the wind itself (assuming no higher, dominant flow). Hence, fast action is generally recommended. According to Figure 3.12 the following steps are recommended after the detection of a Salmonella contamination: The foremost step would be to repeat the analysis to make sure that no errors occurred during the initial analysis. Subsequently, the following steps should be carried out. A bathing prohibition should be imposed (1), if threshold values (e.g. infection dose according to Briese and Heinemeyer (1989); Havemeister (1989)) are exceeded. Since the main pollution has been found to drift with the flow direction, which is forced by wind direction and speed, the next step would be to get information about the wind condition (2). According to our results, the drifting speed of pollutants is at least 1% of the wind speed. That means even under calm winds transport ranges of 2 km per day are possible. Under increased winds transport ranges of more than five kilometre per day are common (cf. Table 3.1). A wind parallel to the coast favours an alongshore pollution transport. Independent of the wind direction, bathing areas 1 km from the initial detection location might be affected by the contamination due to dispersion. The next step should be to conduct sampling at these locations and impose a bathing prohibition if threshold values are exceeded (3). Simultaneously, the fourth action should be to locate possible Salmonella sources (4). These could be all locations where faecal matter occurs, such as sewage treatment plants, sewers, animal farms or meadows as well as cropland (fertilised with slurry). Following precise source identification, sampling should be adapted/shifted to this position. As

discussed before, samples should be taken in a 1 km radius surrounding the source and in relation to the wind direction (same is valid as above). Finding the origin of the pollution allows action to be taken in consideration for the health of bathers (warning, bathing prohibition) or alternatively enables the closing off of the source. The latter could stop the pollution, reduce the bathing prohibition time and could prevent further pollution. In the event that the pollution source cannot be found or closed off and an emission is continuous, a model study, as shown in the presented case study, is helpful to derive concrete action recommendations for the local situation. However, it is important to run steady state simulations first, obtained with constant wind forcing. These provide rapid information regarding transport ranges and beaches at risk under different wind scenarios. The mortality rate of the microorganisms is therefore needed. Values from past research should be used as an approximation related to the underlying water conditions (salt, temperature). At the same time, it is important to collect the meteorological data. This is a necessary input for realistic simulations which can help find or at least localise the pollution source (backtracking).

3.5 Discussion and conclusion

In the present study we have applied a 3-D model system to an exemplary case study -aSalmonella pollution event in the coastal waters of the Polish seaside resort Miedzyzdroje. Our results showed that the pollution covered the entire beach 10 km east of the resort at the beginning of August 2008. Furthermore, there is a high probability that the city was the source for a Salmonella pollution at Swinoujscie beach at the beginning of September. The extensive transport distances due to the fast water mass transport and long survival times are in accordance with the results from Rhodes and Kator (1988) and Moore et al. (2003). Backtracking simulation results showed that a continuous emission in town was very likely in Miedzyzdroje during 2008. In addition, other possible sources, as for instance the sewage treatment plant in Swinoujscie, could be excluded. Although backward-in-time Lagrangian modelling is still a fledgling field to marine science (Breivik et al. (2012), reverse-time models of passive tracers exist (see, e. g., Callies et al. (2011)) and have been used for tracking near-shore sources of hazardous materials to their origins (Havens et al. (2009)). Nevertheless, backtracking is an established scientific discipline in atmospheric research (e.g., Flesch et al. (1995); Stohl (1996, 2002); Rao (2007)), all related atmospheric and marine science have a similar goal: to identify the source of pollutants, when measurements are sparsely available. The benefit of backtracking simulations is that the resulting probability maps contain valuable information about source regions which may refer to a spatial distributions of organisms at an earlier time (Batchelder (2006)).

The detection of *Salmonella* bacteria in Miedzyzdroje during summer of 2008 was possible only because the Polish ministry analysed their bathing water quality according to the old Directive 1976/7/EEC (European Union (1976)). In the recent Directive 2006/7/EC only two indicator organism, intestinal *Enterococci* and *E.coli*, are used,

the latter of which did not exceed the threshold values during the pollution event in Miedzyzdroje. A bathing prohibition would consequently not have been imposed according to the new Directive. Moreover, several studies showed that there is no sufficient correlation between *Salmonella* occurrence and the two indicator organisms (Moriñigo et al. (1990); Galeés and Baleux (1992); Mansilha et al. (2010)). One possibility for the reduction towards the two indicator organisms can be the low concentration of the organisms and the high cost and effort involved in the current detection technologies (Lemarchand and Lebaron (2003)). However, a faster, more cost effective method for the detection of *Salmonella* is available (Mansilha et al. (2010)). Since *Salmonella spp.* are wide spread human pathogens, which are known to cause problems in European waters, their detection is still necessary (Lemarchand and Lebaron (2003)). They can enter the water environment via effluent, sewers, infected animals through run-off, pet waste in storm-water run-off (Lemarchand and Lebaron (2003); Battenberg (2007)). Thus, waters compliant with the new Directive 2006/7/EC can still contain a risk to human health.

The sources of the contamination in Miedzyzdroje in summer 2008 had not been found through in-situ measurements. Further, the real emission amount had not been determined due to qualitative sampling analysis (presence/absence). Hence, our results could neither identify the type of emission. Hence, the sources could not be closed off and a future *Salmonella* contamination is possible. The results of our study can improve the management and response procedure in Miedzyzdroje in case of a future pollution event. The risk and scenario maps, produced within the steady state simulations with a constant wind forcing, provide clear evidence for places at risk during a contamination event under different wind conditions. These provide results comparable to realistic model results regarding transport ranges. Knowing these ranges, the total sampling amount can be reduced to locations in critical areas. For instance, the predominant south-west wind will favour an alongshore transport of pollutants towards the east. Under this wind condition the monitoring should be expanded to bathing areas 20 km away from the town and also to locations 1 km west of the town.

Salmonella pollution events will be detected by chance in the future, as has been the case in Miedzyzdroje in the past. Therefore, only short-term measurements will be available. This provides a challenge for the management of the region since short-term observations neither give information about the possible source nor about regions affected by the contamination. However, if the measurements are supported by model applications, concrete action recommendations can be derived. The results of this case study suggest that pollution events occur not only spot-like, but affect a wide area along the coast. Generally, pollutants are transported with the flow field, which is forced by the wind itself making the wind the most important factor during a contamination event. It is the main driver of transport ranges if no higher, dominant flow is present. Hence, fast progress of work is recommended as it is necessary to guarantee the health of bathers. The presented workflow, developed throughout our study, supports this task. It is a tool which provides clear recommendations for consecutive actions in case of a pollution event. For example a bathing prohibition is recommended if threshold values are exceeded. This is a difficult task since there is a) no threshold for Salmonella bacteria in the recent Directive 2006/7/EC and b) no correlation between the presence of Salmonella and the guide values of indicators (Mansilha et al. (2010)). Assuming a mean water swallow of an adult of 50 ml water per bath, it needs $10^3 - 10^6$ germs as infection dose (Poremba (1991)). Thus, it requires $2 \cdot 10^5 - 2 \cdot 10^7$ germs per litre water for enough pathogens to survive through the human intestinal tract (Briese and Heinemeyer (1989); Havemeister (1989)). This values could be used to derive thresholds instead of applying the presence/absence method of the old Directive 1976/7/EEC. Further, we suggest in our workflow the rapid acquirement of information about the wind condition as well as the rapid identification of the pollution source through in-situ measurements. However, during continual long-term pollution, if the source cannot be found or closed off, we recommend the computation of an entire model study similar to what is presented here. It expands the observations from single part measurements to a spatio-temporal picture of the bacterial distribution in the coastal zone. Concrete sampling locations are suggested, based on regions most affected by the pollution event. This reduces the effort and costs of the monitoring program. Since this is generally a task being performed by the public authority, money and time are often lacking and measuring water quality at bathing places with a high temporal resolution, as demanded by the EU directive 2006/7/EC during pollution events, is unattainable ("[...] timely and adequate management measures [...]", European Union (2006)). Notwithstanding, a model study is expensive in labour as well. Therefore, we recommend a collaboration of the public authorities with scientific institutes which could accomplish the model studies and use them for further studies. For example, there is an existing collaboration between the Governmental Institute of Public Health and Social Affairs of Mecklenburg- Western Pomerania (LAGUS) and the Leibniz Institute for Baltic Sea Research Warnemünde to study the increased occurrence of Vibro spp. in the Bay of Greifswald, southern Baltic Sea.







Figure 3.11: Salmonella tracks according to the forcing with steady state flow fields from the 8 cardinal wind directions with speed of 6 m s^{-1} after 1 (purple), 4 (red) and 9 days (orange).



Figure 3.12: Schematic workflow for management and monitoring. A detailed description can be found in the text.

Chapter 4

Recurrence of potential human pathogenic *Vibrio* in a western Baltic Sea bay: analysis with a 3-D ocean model system

4.1 Introduction

Several Vibrio outbreaks were reported in Europe, including France, Spain, and the neighbouring countries of Baltic and North Sea (cf. Frank et al. (2006); Baker-Austin et al. (2010), during the last two decades (Baker-Austin et al. (2012)). In the last decade twelve infections (four lethal) were reported in the German Baltic Sea region with the highest number of infections having occurred in the Bay of Greifswald in the western Baltic Sea, Germany (seven infections, at least one lethal) (Robert Koch-Institut (2012)). The area around the bay has been a tourist centre for decades with more than 15 million overnight stays in 2010 (Statistisches Amt Mecklenburg Vorpommern (2011)), and is also known for high quality rehab hospitals. Particularly, the long and sandy beaches at the 12 EU- registered bathing places with their shallow water body were famous for their very good bathing water quality in 2010-2011. However, the unpredictable but recurrent occurrence of potentially human pathogenic Vibrio spp. (e.g. Vibrio cholerae, Vibrio parahaemolyticus, and Vibrio vulnificus) presents a potential risk for tourists with predisposing factors for *Vibrio* infections (e.g. pre-existing diseases like diabetes mellitus, liver diseases and heart diseases as well as a general low immunity, (Robert Koch-Institut (2012); Oliver (2013)). An infection with Vibrio taken up orally (via contaminated water or raw seafood) is generally marked by gastrointestinal symptoms and represents one of the main causes of food-born diseases worldwide (cf. Su and Liu (2007); Jones and Oliver (2009). An infection following contact with sea water (bathing, handling of raw fish and seafood (Dechet et al. (2008))) is associated with ear and wound infections which can lead

to septicaemia and eventually even death, whereas food poisoning leads to death more often. However, the risk from Vibrio for human health is usually ignored in recreational waters. They are neither registered in the EU bathing water Directive 2006/7/EC nor in local directives of the federal states of Germany. One reason for this could be that the organisms are a natural component of the bacterial flora in the salty water of oceans, estuaries and lakes (e.g. Kirschner et al. (2008); Böer et al. (2012)) and thus there are no measures to hinder Vibrio occurrence. A second reason could be that bathing water related infections with Vibrio are relatively rare. Due to the lack of field data in the Baltic Sea, the research in this field is in its infancy and little is known about the effects of environmental parameters on the species' specific growth and mortality rates (Chase and Harwood (2011)) or potential reservoirs of Vibrio bacteria. For instance some studies indicate that the microorganisms occur not only in the water column, but also in sediments, on plankton, sea fish, crustaceans and shellfish (Hauk (2012); Rehnstam-Holm and Godhe (2012); Oberbeckmann et al. (2012)). Moreover, a strong correlation is suggested between the relative abundance of Vibrio and an increased annual-mean sea surface temperature (Baker-Austin et al. (2013); Vezzulli et al. (2012)). The highest concentrations of potential human pathogenic Vibrio in water were observed during months with increased temperatures of more than 20° C (cf. Pfeffer et al. (2003); Parvathi et al. (2004)). Besides this, in the recent study of Böer et al. (2013) the measurement of pathogenic Vibrio in the North Sea suggested a seasonal difference and inter-annual cycle in the presence of the bacteria. The results of an epidemiological study showed further that climate change and the expected increase in temperature are believed to favour Vibrio occurrence and infections in coastal areas of the mid and southern Baltic Sea (Baker-Austin et al. (2013)). However, standardised monitorings are lacking to understand the ecological connection and not much is known about the environmental factors influencing the Vibrio community.

Generally, monitoring programs are time and coast intensive and show only an incomplete picture of the bacterial distribution. Thus, a model study can add to the measurements by expanding the observations from single part measurements to a spatio-temporal picture. It allows the analysis of the impact of single parameters which can influence the bacterial behaviour and distribution. Therefore, we combine information about measured *Vibrio* concentrations with a model system, consisting of a three-dimensional circulation model and a three-dimensional Lagrangian particle tracking model which can act as a management tool for authorities (c.f. Schippmann et al. (2013b)). Within our study we focus on the Bay of Greifswald, an semi-enclosed embayment in the southern Baltic Sea, because seven infections with human pathogenic *Vibrio* occurred there during the last years and in addition, the bacteria were recurrently detected. Since this area gains increasing interest of tourism there is consequently a potential risk for further infections. The aim of this study is to find possible reasons behind the recurrent presence of human pathogenic *Vibrio* in the Bay of Greifswald and to help the authorities identifying future monitoring sites and parameters. Therefore the manuscript addresses the following questions: a) Are the seasonal cycle of *Vibrio* presence and the inter-annual differences in *Vibrio* occurrence in the bay and in the southern Pomeranian Bight attributed to water temperature and depth? b) Can the sediment of the Bay of Greifswald present a possible reservoir for pathogenic *Vibrio* and if so is the resuspension of sediments the cause of *Vibrio* recurrence? c) Is the seasonal large shoal of herrings a possible explanation for the *Vibrio* occurrence? d) Can external sources, as the Baltic Sea or the Peenestrom, and spatial transport patterns in the bay explain the recurrence of *Vibrio spp.*?

4.2 Area of interest and measurements

The Bay of Greifswald (GWB) is a semi-enclosed embayment located in the western Baltic Sea at the Pomeranian Bight (Figure 4.1). With an area of 510 km², it is the largest bay of the Baltic Sea. The main tourism attractions in the GWB are water sports and nature (Robakowski (2012)), but beach tourism is an increasing sector. In particular, the long, sandy beaches and the shallow water body are well suited for children and gain a still growing interest. Overall, there are 12 EU-registered bathing places at the bay (Figure 4.2 (a)) with very good bathing water quality according to the EU Bathing Water Directive 2006/7/EC (European Union (2006)). Moreover, there are many unrecorded bathing places, and thus not monitored, frequently used by tourists searching for untouched beaches.

The mean and maximum water depths of the GWB are 5.8 m and 13.5 m, respectively (Hupfer (2010); Statistisches Amt Mecklenburg Vorpommern (2011)). The western part of the bay is a shallow sag with depths of 6-8 m. The embayment has a small volume of approximately 3.000 million m³ (Hupfer (2010); Statistisches Amt Mecklenburg Vorpommern (2011)). It has two connections to the Pomeranian Bight: one in the East and the other in the North-west via the Strelasund (Figure 4.2 (a)). Water exchange with the Baltic Sea occurs approximately eight to twelve times a year (cf. Schiewer (2007); Burchard and Schernewski (2008). Water dynamics, flow and mixing conditions, inflow and outflow of Baltic Sea water mainly depend on wind conditions (Burchard and Schernewski (2008). The prevailing south west wind direction leads to water inflow into the bay via the Strelasund and an outflow via the eastern outlet (Schiewer (2007)). The flow direction changes frequently across time and leads to an oscillation of water masses at the outlets (Bauer et al. (2013)) resulting in a transition zone between the bay and the Baltic Sea (Lampe (1994)). Consequently, most of the same water mass is involved in the water exchange process (Bauer et al. (2013)). The temporal variations in wind stress suppress the formation of a constant flow regime within the bay (Miller et al. (1990); Smith (1994)).

The water body of the bay contains freshwater from precipitation, the river Ryck (1 m^3s^{-1} , 0.2%) off Greifswald and the Peenestrom (23 m^3s^{-1}), and salty water from Baltic Sea (87%, Burchard and Schernewski (2008); Landesamt für Umwelt, Naturschutz und Geologie Mecklenburg-Vorpommern (2008)). The bay has a mean salinity level of 6-8 PSU

whereas in the Peenestrom mouth 3-8 PSU are common (cf. Bachor (2005); Landesamt für Umwelt, Naturschutz und Geologie Mecklenburg-Vorpommern (2008)). The mean pH-value lies between 7 and 8 (Ministerium für Arbeit, Gleichstellung und Soziales Mecklenburg-Vorpommern (2012)). High temperature variations, but weak temperature stratification, can be found in the GWB because of its shallowness and small volume. In contrast to the open Baltic Sea, increased sea surface temperatures can be measured in the GWB in comparison to the Baltic Sea (Figure 4.1) whereas inter-annual differences are common. Temperature increases strongly in summer and decreases in winter, often followed by ice coverage. Water temperature measurements taken by the *Federal Ministry* of the Environment, Nature and Geology Mecklenburg West-Pomerania from 1997 – 2010 show that temperatures above 10° C were rarely found before May and that summer temperatures higher than 20° C did occur not before the end of June.

Bathymetry and wind driven flow patterns strongly influence the sediment distribution



Figure 4.1: Satellite image of the July-mean sea surface temperature in 2010 (left) and 2011 (right) produced with the sensor NOAA-AVHRR with 1 km resolution (source: *Bundesamt für Seeschiftfahrt und Hydrographie*). The black rectangle marks the location of the GWB.

in GWB. Generally, the sediment in the GWB is polymorphic. In the homogeneous west basin, in areas where the depth exceeds 6 m (Lampe and Meyer (1995)), silt is the dominant sediment (nearly 30% of the GWB area, Eidam et al. (1997)). The areas of the breaker zone and shallow waters are dominated by sandy sediment (Coastal Information System Oder Estuary (2004-2007)). A characteristic attribute of silt is its general high amount of

organic carbon (up to 10 % of the dry matter) (cf. Schwarzer and Diesing (2003)). This is in accordance to the study of Leipe et al. (2011), who found up to 8% total organic carbon (TOC) in the GWB sediment. Additionally, the silt in the GWB is characterised by a high amount of silicate phases (silica, ternary feldspar and clay mineral) (Eidam et al. (1997)).



Figure 4.2: Maps of the GWB showing the bathymetry, beaches and surf areas (upper panel) as well as sediment distribution (lower panel).

Wind measurements

Since most infections with the human pathogen *Vibrio* occurred in the GWB in 2010 and 2011, these years were chosen for the model applications. In the following we will analyse the environmental parameters for the summer seasons of these periods. During both summers, 2010 and 2011, a south west wind was prevailing (763 and 1124 measurements

of SW wind), where it was predominantly in 2011. In general, the wind direction varied mainly between south west and northerly winds in 2010, whereas during the first period of July easterly winds prevailed (Figure 4.3). In 2011, south west winds dominated the entire June, middle of July and the entire August. The mean wind speed accounted for 4.2 and 5.4 m s⁻¹, respectively. However, the maximum wind speed was reached only 14 days in 2010 whereas in 2011 wind speeds higher than 11 m s⁻¹ were predominant for more than three weeks all over the summer.



Figure 4.3: Wind speed and direction in summer 2010 and 2011.

Vibrio measurements

All data shown in this subsection are only parts of unpublished Vibrio measurements sampled by the Governmental Institute of Public Health and Social Affairs of Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania (LAGUS) and the Federal Institute of Hydrology (BfG) Koblenz.

Despite potential human pathogenic Vibrio spp. not being indicators of the EU hygienic Bathing Water Directive 2006/7/EC, the LAGUS established a biweekly Vibrio sampling campaign during the bathing seasons since 2004 (starting in July assuming the water temperature to be the most important factor driving Vibrio growth) based on the Vibrio infections in the past. Within this campaign samples were taken at several stations along the German Baltic Sea coast. The two stations, where human pathogenic Vibrio were measured recurrently are Lubmin (GWB) and Karlshagen (coast of Usedom, Pomeranian Bight, Figure 4.9). In 2010 and 2011 infections occurred after patience went bathing in the GWB and at the coast of Usedom. According to the measurements (Figure 4.4) both V.vulnificus and V. cholerae were found in Lubmin and in Karlshagen during both summer seasons. The number of positive samples changed between the years in Karlshagen whereas it stayed constant in Lubmin. In 2010, Vibrio were more dominant in Lubmin (75%) than in Karlshagen (50%). The number of Vibrio detections increased at both stations when the water temperature exceeded the 20° C threshold value, except in July 2010 and August 2011 in Karlshagen and August 2011 in Lubmin. However, at the end of the seasons the bacteria were detectable at temperatures below this threshold.



Figure 4.4: Positive *Vibrio* samples detected in Karlshagen and Lubmin and measured water temperature during the summer seasons 2010 and 2011.

Within the research programme KLIWAS further Vibrio measurements were carried out in the GWB. These include not only water samples but also sediment measurements. The samples were taken from October 2010 until April 2012 along a transect through the GWB (Figure 4.5). Due to ice coverage no samples were taken in winter 2010/2011. In October 2010 seven positive samples (water + sediment) were detected in the GWB whereas in April 2011 the total number was less than half as high (Figure 4.6). The closer the water temperature got to the threshold value of 20° C the more positive samples were detected in both water and sediment. Therefore, all together 9/ 7 positive Vibrio samples (water + sediment) were found in July/ August 2011. This number decreased again in October. Generally, Vibrio were detected in higher concentration in the sediment than in the water column (in October 2010 and August 2011 more than twice as high as in the water samples). In April 2011, when no Vibrio were detected in water samples, three sediment samples were positive. However, the concentrations of Vibrio per 100 ml water (data not shown) were in summary nearly five times higher than in the sediment. Vibrio were most frequently detected at the western stations (see Figure 4.5), which have
a mean TOC between 2.6 and 4.6% according to the measurements (not shown) and are covered by silt and clay. These sediment can be resuspended into the water column during mixing events (forced by i.e. heavy wind) and might hence present a reservoir for *Vibrio* (cf. Randa et al. (2004)). Therefore, we hypothesise that *Vibrio* mainly occur in the silty sediment of the GWB where they find good nutritional conditions due to the high TOC content. The eastern sampling stations were located in areas where sand dominates the sediment content structure. Although *V.parahaemolyticus* and *V.alginolyticus* were known to also occur in sandy sediments (c.f. Böer et al. (2013)), we neglect their presence here because these agents play only a minor role in the GWB.

During both sampling campaigns, LAGUS and KLIWAS monitoring, *V.vulnificus* and *V.cholerae* were the main agents found in the GWB.



Figure 4.5: *Vibrio* sampling stations in the GWB of the research programme KLIWAS (light grey) and the two stations of the LAGUS monitoring (dark grey).

4.3 Methods and model scenarios

In order to simulate the transport of *Vibrio* bacteria they were assumed to act like passive drifters in the water column. These can be simulated as hypothetical particles in a particle tracking model forced by pre-simulated flow fields of a circulation model. With this model system the particle transport in the water can be reproduced and several hypothesis can be tested, as for example temperature dependence. The applied model system has already been successfully applied to model the transport of microorganisms in coastal waters (Schippmann et al. (2013a,b)).

4.3.1 Setup information and validation

The raw bathymetry is a combination of several data sets (Glockzin (2006), Bundesamt für Seeschifffahrt und Hydrographie (2010), pers. comment K. Buckmann) and has an overall resolution of less than 50 m. It was interpolated to the numerical grid with a spatial grid resolution of 100 m. The vertical water column was always subdivided into 10 layers with



Figure 4.6: Water temperature and numbr of positive Vibrio samples (V. vulnificus, V. cholerae, V. alginolyticus, V.parahaemolyticus) in sediment and water summed up over the five GWB monitoring stations (Figure 4.5). The grey background marks the sampling time. Water temperature data, depicted as black line, were taken from the Landesamt für Umwelt, Naturschutz und Geologie Mecklenburg Western Pomerania sampling station in the central bay, empty spaces are times when no data were available. The black squares with the error bars show the temperature measurements taken during the KLIWAS monitoring averaged over the five sampling stations.

a similar thickness (sigma levels). Consequently, a high vertical resolution was obtained also in coastal waters. The whole area covered by the model-grid (domain) contains 793 \times 630 \times 10 (x, y, z) grid points (land inclusive) with 36.3% active water points on which the hydrological calculations were accomplished. The domain was decomposed into 115 active sub domains of 48 \times 48 \times 10 (x, y, z) grid-points and the setup ran in parallel on



Figure 4.7: Model domain and bathymetry of the Bay of Greifswald model setup. The red lines depict the three open boundaries. The grid is outlined in grey showing every 5-th grid box.

a super computer at the North-German supercomputing Alliance (HLRN (2007)). The realistic simulations started in January with a constant initial temperature of 0° C and the initial salt was given as a 3-D concentration field constant in depth. The initial velocities were set to zero. Realistic meteorological forcing with a spatial resolution of 7 km and temporal resolution of 6 hours, taken from the operational model of the German National Meteorological Service, was applied when computing the realistic flow fields. Prescribed were the air temperature, humidity, cloud cover, air pressure, precipitation and wind fields taken at 10 meters above the mean sea level.

The riverine freshwater fluxes within the bay are generally weak with only the Peene River being of great importance. Its freshwater river discharge was given to the setup as constant value of 20.6 m³s⁻¹ (summer median) for all simulations. GETM was forced with two and three-dimensional fields along the open boundaries in the Strelasund, Oder lagoon and Pomeranian Bight (Figure 4.7). The two-dimensional forcing included sea surface elevation and depth averaged currents in combination with Flather boundary conditions (Flather (1976)). The three-dimensional forcing included salt and temperature. The twoand three-dimensional fields have a temporal resolution of 4.5 and 4 hours, respectively. All boundary information were taken from a 600 m Baltic Sea simulation model (Gräwe et al. (2013)). Calculated sea surface elevation, vertical and horizontal velocity fields as well as salt and temperature fields were stored on an hourly basis for further analyses. The steady state simulations were conducted with constant wind speeds from south west with 10 metre wind speed of 3 m s⁻¹.

Due to the correlation between water temperature and *Vibrio* growth, it is necessary to take this dependence into account when computing the bacterial concentrations. However, not much is known about mortality and growth rates of *Vibrio* (Chase and Harwood (2011)). The study of [McFeters et al.] (1974) showed that *Vibrio cholerae* is able to

survive more than seven hours in fresh water, but nothing is known about its die-off in salty water. Vibrio growth experiments of Chase and Harwood (2011) indicated that the organisms were able to nearly duplicate per hour in water with pH value 5 and 25° C. Growth experiments at different water temperatures are rare and hence the results of Robert Potau Núñez (2011) for V.vulnificus, conducted with water sample isolates taken in the North Sea at the BfG Koblenz were used to calculate the temperature-dependent division rate λ , via linear regression (standard error of slope value< 0.021) (Equation 4.1).

$$\lambda(T) = 0.103T - 1.027 \tag{4.1}$$

This approach was applicable due the linear behaviour of the measurements and is in accordance with the results of McFeters et al. (1974) and Chase and Harwood (2011). It allowed the reproduction and die-off of the simulated particles per hour according to equation 4.2, where T presents the temperature, C_0 is the initial particle concentration and C the new particle concentration.

$$C(T) = C_0 \cdot 2^{\lambda(T)} \tag{4.2}$$

In general, particle concentration was calculated by dividing the particle numbers per grid cell by the volume of the cell and no *Vibrio spp.* concentrations, but the particle concentrations integrated over the entire water column are shown in the scenario maps. These shall indicate areas within the GWB in which an increased *Vibrio spp.* occurrence is highly probable.

4.3.2 Model validation

The tracking process in GITM is dominated by advection, whereas diffusion plays only a minor role. Therefore reliability of the advection process is guaranteed via the GETM validation. The circulation model has only a few degrees of freedom and was fed with reliable boundary information from both meteorological forcing from the German National Meteorological Service and boundary conditions (sea level, velocities, salt and temperature) the latter of which were used to force the model from the open boundaries of our model domain (the area of interest). This "outer model" which produced the boundary information was successfully validated against measurements. At the Oder Bank Buoy, located at the eastern boundary of our model setup, modelled salinity has a small Bias of -0.07 PSU and a root mean square error (RMSE) of 0.73 PSU. The temperature Bias was about -0.01 K and the RMSE was 0.56 K (correlation of 90%).

The validation of the applied model setup was accomplished by comparing the modelled results with measurements of water gauges and sea surface temperature. The former were kindly provided by the *Bundesamt für Schifffahrt und Hydrographie*, the *Wasserand Schifffahrstverwaltung des Bundes* (WSV, www.pegel.online.de). The sea surface temperature data were kindly provided by the *Landesamt für Umwelt*, *Naturschutz und*



Figure 4.8: Left: Time series of measured sea surface elevation (blue lines) against the model results (red lines). Right: Time series of measured sea surface temperature (blue squares) against modelled sea surface temperature (red line) from January to November 2010.

Geologie Mecklenburg Western Pomerania, and the Johann Heinrich von Thünen-Institut für Ostseefischerei, Bundesforschungsinstitut für Ländliche Räume, Wald und Fischerei. The time series of the modelled sea surface elevation were compared to the corresponding water gauge measurements at Stralsund, Greifswald, Wolgast, Thiessow (not shown), Ruden (not shown) and Greifswalder Oie between January and November in 2010 and 2011 (not shown). GETM reproduced the observations with high accuracy (left column in Figure 4.8). Especially, the inner bay dynamics were very well captured. This can also be found in the statistics. The mean root mean square error (RMSE) is 8 to 9 cm (Table 4.1) in both years. In comparison with the mean standard deviation of the measurements (20.6 cm) this is comparatively small. The mean coefficient of determination (\mathbb{R}^2) of 0.84 and 0.78, respectively, shows that the modelled sea surface elevation was in good agreement with the observations (Table 4.1). The time series of the modelled sea surface temperature

2010	mean	max	min
RMSE	0.09(1.28)	0.09(1.69)	0.07(0.74)
\mathbb{R}^2	0.84(0.84)	0.89(0.99)	$0.55\ (0.91)$
2011			
RMSE	0.08(0.98)	0.11 (1.56)	0.07 (0.54)
\mathbf{R}^2	0.78(0.96)	0.86(0.99)	$0.61 \ (0.91)$

Table 4.1: Mean, maximum and minimum root mean square error and coefficient of determination computed from the modelled sea surface elevation and modelled sea surface temperature (in brackets) in 2010 and 2011.

were compared with the corresponding water temperature measurements (right column in Figure 4.8) in Lubmin, Stralsund, GB19, the western bay (not shown) and in the Pomeranian Bight between January and November 2010 and 2011 (not shown). GETM reproduced the seasonal temperature increase in summer with high accuracy. The mean temperature deviations (RMSE) of the simulation are 1.3° C which is small in comparison with the mean standard deviation of the measurements (5.3° C). The mean R² of 0.96 proves the high agreement of model results and observations (Table 4.1). Since there were no data available for the second half of the years, our model results could not be compared with observations during this period. The validation of the 600 m Baltic Sea model, in which our model was nested, showed high accuracy of the temperature (as mentioned before) for two consecutive annual cycles. Thus, we expect our results also to be in coincidence for the second half of the year.

Scenarios

The Vibrio measurements shown in section 4.2 have demonstrated parameters (temperature, sediment) which potentially influence the Vibrio abundance in the GWB. Based on this information we developed two model scenarios which allow the simulation of the correlation between the bacteria and these parameters in the GWB. Furthermore, a literature review (see 4.3.2) indicates the potential impact of sea fish on the Vibrio abundance. Although this has not been verified with measurements in the GWB we developed a hypothetical scenario 3 to test this hypothesis. The last scenario described in this section assumes the impact of long-distance transport dynamics on Vibrio presence in the GWB.

Scenario 1 water

Water temperature and *Vibrio* abundance are strongly correlated (c.f. Tamplin et al. (1982); Høi et al. (1998)). The highest *Vibrio* concentrations in environmental waters and the highest number of *Vibrio* infections were observed during warm months (cf. Parvathi et al. (2004); Baker-Austin et al. (2012); Böer et al. (2012); Vezzulli et al. (2012)). High temperatures lead to an increase in bacterial replication, e.g. *Vibrio vulnificus* abundance peaks at seawater temperatures > 19 °C (cf. Oliver (2005)). Therefore, it is proposed that water temperature is one of the main parameters correlated to *Vibrio* growth (Drake et al. (2007); Böer et al. (2013)). During colder months, when water temperatures are below 13°C, the bacteria change their status to the "viable-but-not-culturable"- state (cf. Oliver (2000)). However, once present, the bacteria were suggested to remain culturable for several months even at lower temperatures (Böer et al. (2013)).

Assuming that Vibrio spp. are a natural component of bacterial flora in oceanic, coastal and estuarine saline water (Böer et al. (2012)) and lakes (Kirschner et al. (2008)), hypothetical particles, representing Vibrio bacteria, were released at 300 m intervals into the surface layer (overall 8.563 particle) (Figure 4.9a), while the particle numbers were integrated over the entire water column to get an equal distribution in the GWB independent of the water depth $(10^{-5}$ particles per 100 ml). Released particles were tracked from 19.06. to 19.07.2010 and from 06.06. to 06.07.2011, the periods during which sea surface temperatures of 20° C were reached for the first time and were shown to be favourable for the presence of Vibrio (Hauk (2012)).

Scenario 2 sediment

Previous studies from other regions showed that sediments can harbour high amounts of *Vibrio* (Blackwell and Oliver (2008); Vezzulli et al. (2009)) and it was further suggested that *Vibrio* are active members of the benthic bacterial community (Böer et al. (2013)). Moreover, their is evidence that if the bacteria are colonising in a thin floc zone just above the sediment-water interface during winter (Williams and LaRock (1985); Vanoy et al. (1992)), the resuspension, forced by e.g. storm events, and subsequent transport of *Vibrio* from the sediment presents a significant source of the bacteria to the water column (cf. Friesa et al. (2008)). In June 2010 and 2011 wind events (with wind speed larger than 5 Bft.) occurred in the GWB which might have caused a resuspension of sediment. In 2010, a strong wind event with speeds of 8 m s⁻¹ (5 Bft) took place on the 18.06., whereas in 2011 the event took place earlier on the 06.06. and was stronger (12 m s⁻¹ (6 Bft)). The wind direction was south-west in both cases and therefore a mean eastward flow field pattern developed (Figure 4.3).

The silty sediments in the GWB contain a high amount of TOC (pers. comment T. Leipe, (2013)) and therefore present a possible reservoir for *Vibrio*. Thus, particles were released in these areas (Figure 4.9b) at 300 m intervals into the layer above the bottom (1.624)

particles; particle numbers are five times less than in scenario 1 according to measurements; initial concentration 10^{-4} - 10^{-5} particles per 100 ml (depth dependent)). The particles were tracked from 19.06. to 19.07.2010 and from 09.06.to 06.07.2011 when strong wind events occurred in the GWB at the starting dates which probably led to the resuspension of particles.

Scenario 3 herring

Beside their presence in the water column, potential human pathogenic Vibrio were also found e.g. in several coastal sea fish species with a prevalence of 17% when the concentrations in surrounding seawater and sediment were low (Brennholt et al.) (2010); Alter et al. (2011); Rehnstam-Holm and Godhe (2012)). Fish stocks present a reservoir for Vibrio bacteria (Janssen (1996); Novotny et al. (2004)) especially during winter, when the water temperature is below 13° C and the bacteria change their status to the "viable-butnot-culturable" - state (Oliver et al. (1995); Oliver (2000)). Vibrio bacteria taken up by fishes might grow faster within the fish body and could be deposited in high concentrations (e.g. by faeces). This fact could be of importance for the *Vibrio* occurrence in the GWB, as it is one of the biggest bays along the German coast and therefore presents an important fishing area (Froelich and Sporbeck (Institut für Angewandete Ökologie) (2008)). The period from February to May is the main fishing season, with maximum fishing rates obtained in April. During this time the herrings seek the macrophyte covered areas for their spawning. Since the GWB is considered the main spawning area of the Western Baltic Spring-Spawning herring (WBSSH, Bauer et al. (2013)) immense amounts of herrings were fished there every year. In 2007 alone 30% of the fisheries of the Baltic Sea were achieved in the GWB (Froelich and Sporbeck (Institut für Angewandete Ökologie) (2008)), whereas in 2010 more than 42 kilo tons of the WBSSH (Clupea harengus) were fished in the GWB (ICES (2011)). Unfortunately, there are only few samples from the KLIWAS research programme indicating Vibrio occurrence in the sediment in April 2010 during the WBSSH spawning period, but no measurements were carried out from LAGUS before July. Therefore, no concrete correlation between *Vibrio* and WBSSH can be derived for the GWB from the measurements so far. However, according to literature the huge amount of herrings in the GWB presents a potential source of Vibrio transport into the GWB. The main pathways of herring stocks to the spawning areas, based on experience of the fisher men, are from the west via the Strelasund and from the east via the edges of Ruden. The fish remain in the central bay initially before they swim into the shallow spawning areas at the coasts (pers. comment Dr. Zimmermann Johann Heinrich von Thünen-Institut für Ostseefischerei, Bundesforschungsinstitut für Ländliche Räume, Wald und Fischerei). Therefore an equal distribution of the herrings in the GWB can be assumed which led to a comparable particle release as in scenario 1 (without the emission in the Pomeranian Bight). Again the number of particles was integrated over the water column due to the well mixed water column. Even though the herrings mainly occur in April, the low water

temperature (< 10 °C) would not allow a bacterial reproduction but, a strong die-off. Therefore, particles were released one month later on 01.05.2010/2011, when the GWB has water temperatures between 10 and 15 °C and thus favour *Vibrio* reproduction. The simulation period ends at 31.05.2010/2011.

Scenario 4 external/internal sources

Although pathogenic *Vibrio* bacteria were known to be a natural component of salty water they could be transported in higher concentrations from external sources into the GWB leading to the positive detections. Flow field patterns mainly influence the transport direction and distance of microorganisms as they act like passive tracers. As shown in section "Study site" the prevailing south-west winds lead to water mass transports into the Baltic. However, the flow direction changes frequently leading to an oscillation of water masses at the outlets. Assuming that *Vibrio* can be transported from the Baltic Sea via the Strelasund, or from Karlshagen, or from the Oder Lagoon via the Peenestrom into the GWB, 1.000 particles were released at these stations (Figure 4.9c) in the surface layer. Additionally, the same number was emitted off Lubmin, where *V.vulnificus* were recurrently measured, to assume a source in this area. Particles were tracked during two periods, from 19.06. to 19.07.2010 and from 06.06. to 06.07.2011 and again particle numbers were integrated over the entire water column due to the well mixed water body.

4.4 Results

Modelled temperature variations in 2010 and 2011

In general, summer 2010 was warmer than summer 2011 (more than 20° C occurred in July 2010, but were seldom reached in 2011). This is reflected by the sea surface temperature statistics (Table 4.2). The mean daily-mean sea surface temperature/maximum temperature in summer 2010 was about $3^{\circ} C/4^{\circ} C$ higher than in 2011. In 2010 a constant warm water condition occurred, whereas this was not the case in 2011 due to recurrent high wind speeds (more than 8 m s⁻¹) and flow currents which transported colder Baltic Sea water into the bay and hindered a constant warming. However, the critical temperature for increased Vibrio reproduction occurred in June shortly before the initial Vibrio were detected in Lubmin. The daily-mean sea surface temperature alternated in July and August between 19 and 22° C. Besides the temperature differences between the two years, the areas where temperatures had the propensity to increase early Vibrio reproduction were similar (Figure 4.10). The model results suggest that in both years the first critical warming $(> 20^{\circ} \text{ C})$ took place in June in the southern Strelasund, the southern coasts of the bay and in the northern Peenestrom. In these areas water depths do not exceed 2 m up to 1 km off the coast which means they heat up very fast. The Vibrio detections coincide with the warm periods in both years and an increased Vibrio reproduction might therefore be favoured especially in these domains. The model results suggest further that CHAPTER 4. RECURRENCE OF POTENTIAL HUMAN PATHOGENIC VIBRIO 81



Figure 4.9: Particle release points for scenario 1 (a), 2 (b), 3(c) and 4 (d).

the warmed water was mainly transported along the shallow south coast within the bay. Water transport into the Pomeranian Bight happened rarely via the outlet north of Ruden and less southward along the coast of Usedom. The simulation results showed furthermore



Figure 4.10: Modelled sea surface temperature in June and July of 2010 (left) and 2011 (right).

	2010	2011
Mean	20.17	17.51
Std	2.96	1.53
Min	10.67	11.87
Max	25.55	21.90
90-perc	21.42	19.33
95-perc	22.29	19.88

Table 4.2: Statistical evaluation of the daily-mean sea surface temperature in ° C from June to September in 2010 and 2011. Std: Standard deviation, Min: Minimum, Max: Maximum, 90-perc: 90 percentile, 95-perc: 95-percentile.

a frequently occurring cold water front off the coast of Usedom due to up-welling events at easterlies (Siegel et al. (1999)).

Modelled particle tracking simulations

Despite high water temperatures across the shallow coasts of the bay even in early summer the entire GWB has been identified as having a high *Vibrio* occurrence risk, with higher



Figure 4.11: Exemplary daily-mean flow field patterns in the surface for different dates. (a) Currents on 2010/06/19 and (b) on 2010/07/19 12 forced with a variable, realistic wind.

concentrations in the western part decreasing to the east (Figure 4.12(a,b)). However, higher concentrations occurred in the western part, while the concentrations decrease to the east. The temperatures in 2010 favoured an increased Vibrio presence compared to 2011 (Figure 4.12(a,b). The second hypothesis to test was the transport of *Vibrio* bacteria resuspended from sediment (Figure 4.12(c,d)). Although the emission areas were mainly located in the central basin, particles were nearly equally distributed at the end of simulation. This was caused by the anti-clockwise circulation which developed in the central bay during the simulation periods (Figure 4.11). The particle distributions did not differ much between the years, but again in 2010 higher concentrations occurred in the western bay, as in scenario one, due to the higher water temperature. As in the first scenario, a general concentration decrease was visible from west to east, whereas no particles reach the Pomeranian Bight (or the coast of Usedom) after the simulation periods. Furthermore, particles entered the Peenestrom only in 2011. Assuming that Vibrio were carried by/ in herring into the GWB, the third scenario comprises the period of WBSSH spawning from May to June 2010 and 2011, when the water temperature exceeded 10° C which allowed *Vibrio* growth. The particle concentration within the bay was similar to

scenario one, although the water temperatures were lower. However, only a few particles enter the Pomeranian Bight. Due to the lower water temperature these cannot reproduce properly and consequently lower concentrations occur there. Again higher concentrations could be found in the western part of the bay whereas the concentrations decreased to the east. No particles entered Usedom's coasts or farther south into the Peenestrom during either year, but high concentrations were transported towards the east coast of Rügen.



Figure 4.12: Transport and reproduction of particles with *V. vulnificus*-temperaturedependent division rate released in the water column (a,b) and above the sediment (c,d)in summer 2010 (left) and 2011 (right). (c,d) shows the transport and reproduction assuming the WBSSH to be the source of emission in May 2010 and 2011.

In order to figure out whether the recurrence of *Vibrio* in the GWB is caused by a long distance transport from external/internal sources simulations were conducted using different emission sources within and outside the bay during 2010 and 2011 (Figure 4.13). Based on the assumption that the Peenestrom with its low salinity and high water temperatures is the source and thus releasing the particles off Peenemuende (Figure 4.13(a,b)) a possible transport both into the bay towards Lubmin and Thiessow, but also along the coast of Usedom towards Karlshagen could be suggested. During the simulation period in 2010 the reproduction was faster, due to increased water temperatures, and hence higher concentrations were possible in the outlet of bay than during 2011. Directly at the coasts, however, the concentrations were reduced and no particles occurred in

the west where measurements indicated Vibrio presence. Contrarily, no risk could be derived for the beaches of the GWB from the scenario results in which particles were released in the Strelasund (Figure 4.13(c,d)). The main numbers of particles stayed in the Strelasund and were transported east-and-westward in the back and forth flow (c.f. section 4.2). Therefore, it can be excluded that Vibrio germs were transported via the Strelasund into the GWB. Hypothesising that Vibrio spp. might be transported from the coast of Usedom into the GWB can also be excluded because particles emitted off Karlshagen (Figure 4.13(e,f)) were mainly driven with the flow into the Pomeranian Bight and rarely into the Bay. The high water temperatures at the shallow coasts favour the fast reproduction of the Vibrio germs which led to increased concentrations in these areas especially in 2010. Since Vibrio were recurrently detected in the coastal waters off Lubmin this area might present a potential source. The results of this scenario (Figure 4.13(g,h)) indicated that this assumption could be realistic. The released particles were transported from Lubmin through the entire lagoon and reached the northern coasts as well as the Peenestrom during both simulation periods, while no particle entered the Strelasund. The highest concentrations occurred close to the coast, due to the increased water temperature and in the central bay, where the currents are low. However, this potential source can be excluded as well since no concentration gradients were visible from West to East as it was measured.

Similar to other scenarios, the particle concentrations were higher in 2010 than in 2011 due to the generally higher water temperatures.



Figure 4.13: Transport and reproduction of particles with V. vulnificus-temperaturedependent division rate released at Peenemünde (a,b), Strelasund (c,d), Karlshagen (e,f) and Lubmin (g,h) in summer 2010 (left) and 2011 (right).

4.5 Discussion and conclusion

The potential human pathogenic *Vibrio*, an important bacteria within the GWB, has caused seven infections over the last years. That is why the LAGUS have been carried out a biweekly sampling campaign since 2004 where *Vibrio* were recurrently measured. High infection numbers were recorded in 2010 and 2011. Four infections (2 lethal) were counted in 2010 and one in 2011. Based upon results from several studies revealing correlations between human pathogenic *Vibrio* and temperature as well as between *Vibrio* and sediment (cf. Vezzulli et al. (2009); Böer et al. (2013)), a monitoring program was established within the research project KLIWAS in order to study these correlations in the GWB. Based on these measurements and literature reviews model scenarios were developed and simulated in this study using a three dimensional model system, consisting of a 3-D circulation model and a 3-D Lagrangian particle tracking model.

The results of the monitoring showed that *Vibrio* occurrence was strongly correlated to increased temperature (20° C) (cf. Oliver (2005); Baker-Austin et al. (2013)) which

commences in late June in the GWB. Assuming that water temperature is the most important factor driving Vibrio growth, the monitoring program of the LAGUS starts In 2010 Vibrio were detected twice as often in Lubmin when a constant in July. warming period developed until the end of August (water temperature up to 23° C). Contrarily, no such warming occurred in 2011 and hence less Vibrio were probably detected. This effect was also visible in the particle tracking results. In general, due to higher water temperatures in 2010 compared to 2011, higher concentrations were obtained in simulations of summer 2010. However, a more pronounced growth of the organisms was suggested by the model in the west bay whereas a concentration decrease was visible eastward until the Pomeranian Bight in both years due to lower water temperature in the bight. The simulation results are in accordance with the KLIWAS measurements which indicated higher concentrations at the west stations (data not shown). The analysis of the modelled sea surface temperature indicated that high water temperatures of more than 20 °C occurred at the shallow coasts especially in the south-west areas of the bay where the water depth does not exceed 2 m during early summers of 2010 and 2011. They heat up fast, early and continuously and hence present hotspot regions where an increased Vibrio growth can be assumed. Therefore, these areas could act as "regions of origin" from which the organisms might disperse into the bay starting in early summer. The alternating detection numbers of Vibrio in Karlshagen occurred due to upwelling events and therewith changing water masses off Usedom. These events happen frequently at the coasts of Usedom and Wolin under easterlies through the year (cf. Siegel et al. (1999)).

The results of the sediment samples suggested a high TOC content ($\geq 2.5\%$) in conjunction with Vibrio detection. This is in accordance with the results of Williams and LaRock (1985) and Vanoy et al. (1992) who found the colonising of bacteria in a thin floc zone just above the sediment. However, despite more positive samples being counted in the sediment, higher concentrations of Vibrio were found in the water column (data not shown). A possible reason could be an accelerated reproduction in the water column after the resuspension favoured by the warm water temperature. Moreover, the high TOC content in the GWB sediment might enhance Vibrio survival in winter (cf. Randa et al. (2004)) and could lead to increased initial bacterial concentrations in summer due to sediment resuspension during storm events. This hypothesis is supported by the particle simulation results of scenario 2, in which a particle density increase was visible in the entire bay after emitting the particles in the bottom layers with high TOC content. As in scenario 1 the highest concentrations were found in the western bay, which were not as pronounced as in scenario 1.

Several climate change studies did not show an increase of days with strong winds in the Baltic region (Nikulin et al. (2011); Lehmann et al. (2011)) and hence, an increased risk for *Vibrio* resuspension cannot be derived for the GWB in the future. Generally, climate change is believed to increase the sea surface temperature in the Baltic Sea (cf. Theede et al. (2008); Baker-Austin et al. (2013)) and therefore probably favours increased *Vibrio* reproduction also off-season in the GWB.

A further hypothesis of recent studies was that there is a correlation between *Vibrio* and sea-fish abundance (Brennholt et al. (2010); Alter et al. (2011)). As the GWB is one of the main fishing grounds of the WBSSH, large shoals of herring, originating e.g. from the Atlantic can be found there every year (ICES (2011)). The bacteria can be deposited here in higher concentrations into the water column by the large fish stocks where they can further reproduce. However, up to now no studies have been undertaken in the GWB which analyse WBSSH with respect to *Vibrio* bacteria. Nevertheless, Janssen (1996) found in his experiments that 25.5% of different seafood samples (e.g. fermented products from herrings) were tested positive for pathogenic *Vibrio* germs. Although the large shoals of herring could not be neglected as a potential source of *Vibrio* in the GWB, the scenario assumption could not be verified with the measurements which showed only small *Vibrio* concentrations in April 2010 and 2011. Thus, further analyses of the WBSSH are necessary to quantify their shares in the overall bacterial occurrence.

The scenario results from the simulations assuming long-distance transports from the Strelasund and Peenemuende suggested the exclusion of these source areas as an intake path for potential human pathogenic Vibrio into the GWB. No explanation was found for the high concentrations in the western bay, where measurements indicate Vibrio presence. Moreover, a Vibrio transport from Lubmin to Karlshagen and vice versa can be excluded from the simulation results. Particles entering the transition zone between the GWB and the Pomeranian Bight were driven back and forth with the flow but did only rarely drifted towards either Lubmin or the coast of Usedom. Therefore, we can exclude external sources in general and conclude that Vibrio are probably present in the water column of the GWB all year. According to other studies (Oliver (2005)), the bacteria are likely in a "viablebut-not-culturable"-state if they cannot be detected during the monitoring. We conclude further: there is only a small correlation between the Vibrio occurrence and the seasonal cycle of the water temperature, and the inter-annual difference of the Vibrio presence in the GWB. A certain temperature threshold of more than 20° C enables an increased growth of potential human pathogenic *Vibrio* (usually in mid to late June) (Oberbeckmann et al. (2012), but organisms were detectable below this temperature afterwards (until October and later) (Böer et al. (2013)). Hence, in years with a strong varying water temperature (2011) Vibrio bacteria can be detected in similar concentrations as in years with a constant water warming period (2010).

The coupling of the particle growth with the water temperature was done via an equation which respects the temperature-dependent devision rate computed from the results of a *Vibrio* growth experiment (Robert Potau Núñez (2011)). The experiment was accomplished with North Sea isolates and hence might not represent the reproduction in the GWB correctly due to the lower salinity. Therefore, we recommend to verify our division function by a growth experiment with GWB isolates to develop a more appropriate temperature-dependent growth function. However, to our knowledge the described experiment has been the best attempt so far to implement this dependence into a model.

In general, potential human pathogenic Vibrio were suggested to be present particularly in the west of the GWB and not only there where the LAGUS monitoring takes place each year. Consequently, we recommend to expand the monitoring to the beaches in the west to verify our model results. Assuming the model results are correct, it would be necessary to continue elucidating the responsible on-the-spot physicians in the future about the Vibrio presence and its risks. Additionally, a short interview of patience (including for example questions like: Are there any open wounds?/Did you went for bathing during the last days?/If so, where and when?) could be helpful to narrow down the search for possible Vibrio infections. This would facilitate an appropriate medical care which is essential to safe human lives (Alter et al. (2011); Oliver (2013)). Informing patients at health resorts located along the coasts of the GWB as well as tourists visiting the affected beaches in the west about predisposing factors for infections with Vibrio could furthermore prevent infections.

Despite it being known that the GWB is a *Vibrio* hotspot and that recent studies in Europe have shown a correlation between the organisms and environmental parameters, no previous attempt has been made to fully understand the situation in the bay. This work contributes tremendously to the understanding of the dynamics of *Vibrio* communities harbouring potentially pathogenic species in the GWB. We can conclude that several factors favour the recurrent presence of *Vibrio* in the GWB all of which require more attention. In addition, recent studies showed a correlation between algae abundances and *Vibrio* occurrence (Stauder et al. (2010); Rehnstam-Holm and Godhe (2012)) and hence further analyses should be accomplished regarding this relation since cyanobacteria blooms occur regularly in the GWB. The KLIWAS monitoring measurements present a promising data base for this purpose.

Chapter 5

The bathing water quality information system

In the EU-project "GENeric European Sustainable Information Space for Environment (GENESIS)" 29 European partners worked together to develop a web-based solution for monitoring air quality, fresh and coastal water quality, and the impact on health. GENESIS helped to developed an environmental management and health services in Europe and shall support public information according to Article 12 of the bathing water quality directive (2006/7/EC). The information system used public open standards (W3C, CEN, ISO, OGC, OASIS, ...) which are in strong synergy to the major European initiatives (cf. GEOSS and INSPIRE). The project mainly addressed the health related impact of environmental issues conforming to the existing regulations and European Directives related to air and water quality. By providing generic services, portal components, information models, an application toolkit and related documentations, the system enabled users to develop their own regional and thematic information system all over Europe. Within GENESIS the 3-D model system, described and applied in this study, was

implemented for the Oder estuary as a new online bathing water quality information system to support regional authorities. It combines a model and simulation tool with an alerting and improved communication system. The work was carried out in co-operation with the Institute of Meteorology and Water Management Poland which provided the necessary background information.

5.1 The implementation

The project GENESIS provided web portal software and a set of distributed secured web services, including interfaces and adaptable web service clients that can be employed at the web portal. Typical services include data access services, catalogues services, viewing services, geo-information processing services, alert services as well as a workflow management component. To implement GETM and GITM in the GENESIS Internet portal, the toolbox, the viewing and geo-information services (Geoserver) had to be installed on the local IOW server. It allowed to run the model system online, link them to the GENESIS system and to visualise the results. Since space and calculation speed limitations do not allow in-situ flow simulations, pre-simulated steady state flow fields were stored and provided for online-users on the IOW server. The connection of the model to the GENESIS system worked via a workflow WPS service in the toolbox. It was defined as a bash shell script which called the necessary input files from the IOW server and ran GITM (a Fortran executable), ran a Python script to post-process the model results and converted this output via a Perl script into a gml output for visualising the particle movement. Both, input and output were defined by the service provider in the DescribeProcess.xml. It is imported into the toolbox when creating the WPS service. If end-users called the service on the portal, it was executed at the local toolbox. The graphical visualisation was done using the GeoServer on the local server by adding new layers from GIS shape files.

5.2 The application

The online simulation tool of the GENESIS service is only a simplified version of the 3-D model system which allows the fast and flexible computation of emission scenarios within the Oder estuary after e.g. high microorganism concentration at the beaches (Figure 5.1). The system used pre-simulated steady state flow fields computed according to the 8 cardinal wind directions. According to the prevailing wind condition one of these needs to be chosen for the successful service application as a first step. In the second step the user chooses the number, type and properties of particles (e.g. *E.coli* were defined by a specific die-off rate) and the simulation period. In the third step the emission locations were chosen by clicking at the positions in the GIS maps.

The service results could be displayed as a movie with a time line to start and stop at different steps. Further tools to control and display the results could be found in the toolbar of the platform.



92

Chapter 6

Summary and conclusion

This dissertation focused on the application of a three-dimensional model system to improve the understanding of bacterial transport in coastal waters and to identify the environmental key control parameters and their effect on the transport pattern. Additionally the system was shown to act as an addition to bathing water quality measurements enhancing the coastal management in the region of the southern Baltic Sea. The system was used to generate spatio-temporal pictures of E. coli bacteria. Salmonella and potential human pathogenic Vibrio spp. distributions (hygienic water pollution events) in recreational waters of the southern Baltic Sea. In order to obtain spatially, highly resolved model results in the shallow coastal areas, two model setups were generated in this project and constituted the main innovation of this study. The first one is a large setup comprising the area from the city of Szczecin to the Pomeranian Bight. The numerical grid was placed parallel to the coastline of the Oder river (curvilinear grid) to obtain a high horizontal resolution particularly in the region of the Oder river mouth (50 m). With this toll it was possible to zoom in on single beaches. This model setup was used to run the simulation for the first two chapters of this dissertation. The second model setup comprises the area of the Bay of Greifswald and has an equidistant horizontal resolution of 100 m.

The first chapter of this thesis dealt with the problematic of insufficient water quality and consequent bathing prohibitions in the Oder river estuary due to inadequate sewage treatment in the catchment area. It was evaluated during this chapter that E. *coli* mortality rate and emission intensity were key parameters for concentration levels downstream, while the wind and river discharge play a modifying role. The prevailing south-west wind conditions cause E. *coli* transport along the eastern coast and favour high concentration levels at the beaches. The simulations further indicated that beach closings in 2006 would not have been necessary according to the new EU-Bathing Water Quality Directive (2006/7/EC). The implementation of the new directive will, very likely, reduce the number of beach closings, but not the risk for summer tourists. The model results suggest, that a full sewage treatment in Szczecin would allow the establishment of new beaches closer to the city.

The second chapter, prepared during this doctoral research study, focused on the distribution of *Salmonella* bacteria in the well mixed coastal zone of the Pomeranian Bight and additionally on the development of supra-regional recommendations towards improved monitoring and management. The analyses were conducted at an exemplary case study analyse in the Pomeranian Bight where a *Salmonella* pollution event led to bathing prohibition for several weeks in summer 2008. The main innovation of this study was the application of the particle backtracking technique which allowed the location of possible sources. Together with forward scenario simulations a continuous pollution source in town was identified as the most likely origin of bacterial occurrence. Varied wind scenario results provide concrete *Salmonella* transport ranges and therefore the potential to improve the managerial response during a future *Salmonella* pollution event in that region. This cannot be excluded since the real source for the contamination has not yet been identified. Supra-regional recommendations were summarised in a generic workflow. It presents first action recommendations, aimed at safeguarding the health of bathers, in the event of a contamination event without implementing a model study.

In the third chapter, the recurrence of potential human pathogenic Vibrio spp. in the Bay of Greifswald was analysed with the help of the model system. Coupling the particle growth with the water temperature presented a further innovation within this study. It allowed to define areas within the Bay with a high potential of increased occurrence of potential human pathogenic Vibrio spp.. Particularly, the shallow western parts of the Bay of Greifswald present hotshot regions where an increased Vibrio growth can be assumed. Moreover, a Vibrio transport from the inner bay into the Pomeranian Bight and vice versa can be excluded from the simulation results. In general, there is only a small correlation between the Vibrio occurrence and the seasonal cycle of the water temperature, and the inter-annual difference of the Vibrio presence in the Bay of Greifswald. A certain temperature threshold of more than 20° C enables an increased growth of potential human pathogenic Vibrio, but organisms were detectable below this temperature afterwards (until October and later). These might stay in the nutrient rich sediments (high content of total organic carbon) which might enhance Vibrio survival. Hence, in years with a strong varying water temperature Vibrio bacteria can be detected in similar concentrations as in years with a constant warming period.

The last chapter of this dissertation demonstrated the way a simplified version of the applied model system was implemented into a web-platform of the EU-project "GENeric European Sustainable Information Space for Environment (GENESIS)" as a new online bathing water quality information system used to support regional authorities. It combines a model and simulation tool with an alerting and improved communication system.

To summarise, the overall impact of hygienic water pollution shows the necessity

of new management instruments. The results of my dissertation gave evidence that pollution events and the occurrence of microorganisms do not happen spot like, but affect a wide area along the coast. This makes it impossible to gain information about spatial transport patterns or possible bacterial sources from single point measurements. The application of a three-dimensional model system as an addition to the observations presents a good and promising tool to analyse the bacterial distribution and moreover to support coastal management. The simulation results showed that microorganisms are generally transported with the flow, which is forced by the wind itself making the wind the most important factor. It is the main driver of transport ranges if no higher, dominant flow is present as i.e. river run-off. Knowing the wind conditions during a pollution event and adapting the monitoring according to the water flow direction can, thus, reduce the effort and costs of the monitoring program. Using the model system as an addition to water quality measurements, management and risk assessment tools for future pollutions were derived for the different case studies presented in this thesis.

The results of my analyses, in particular those about different parameters influencing the bacterial transport and behaviour, improved the understanding of bacterial distribution in sea water. Furthermore, the results could be used to support authorities in expanding the monitoring programs in terms of sites and parameters. Generally, a microbial pollution of recreational waters can have a strong economic impact. For the Baltic coastal regions of Germany and Poland tourism has become the most crucial economic factor. The deterioration of bathing water quality and the subsequent closing of beaches can have serious economic consequences for seaside resorts and may include a loss of reputation. This is true, however, not only for the Baltic Sea coast, but also for other bathing destinations. For example, investigating in environmental improvements that increase the swimming period in the Great Lakes region by 20% would generate 2–3 billion dollars in direct economic effects (Kinzelman and McLellan (2009)).

This dissertation has proven the ability of numerical models to successfully reproduce bacterial transport patterns in sea water. They allow the detailed analyses of the bacteria distribution and can help to identify the environmental key control parameters and their effects on the transport patterns. This might be of further importance for different questions in microbiology, for example by answering the question where thermophilic bacteria in the Arctic have their origin since scientists assume these bacteria to originate from warm ocean areas (Max-Planck-Institute for Marine Microbiology (2009)). Another possible application of the model system would be to find areas in the oceans where marine litter accumulates. This topic gained heavy interest in several projects as e.g. MARLISCO Project Office (last visit 2013/07/29) or United Nationes Environment Programmes (last visit 2013/07/29) since marine debris becomes a major threat for the marine and coastal environment.

The application of particle tracking models in combination with ecology and microbiology can generally improve the research in the field of marine biogeography, which is the investigation of patterns in the geographical distribution of organisms (Golikov et al. (1990)). The bacterial distribution does not only depend on the organisms ability to spread, but also on prevailing hydrographic conditions. These can nowadays be easily modelled, even for large areas, with the help of circulation models due to the still growing computational power (as presented in this thesis). The successive application of a particle tracking model can gain further insights in the distribution of marine organisms, as i.e. bacteria, if their properties and behaviour in changing environments are considered (by e.g. mortality or replication rates). This approach cannot replace the measurements and monitorings since these deliver necessary input variables. However, the model system application provides a time and cost effective addition and can shed new light on one of microbiology's great hypotheses: "Everything is everywhere, but the environment selects" (Baas Becking, 1934).

Bibliography

- Aken van, H., 1986. The onset of stratification in shelf seas due to differential advection in the presence of a salinity gradient. Continental Shelf Research 5, 475–485.
- Alter, T., Appel, B., Bartelt, E., Dieckmann, R., Eichhorn, C., Erler, R., Frank, C., Gerdt, G., Gunzer, F., Hühn, S., Neifer, J., Oberheitmann, B., Strauch, E., 2011. *Vibrio*-Infektionen durch Lebensmittel und Meerwasser. Das Netzwerk *VibrioNet* stellt sich vor. Bundesgesundheitsblatt 54, 1235–1240.
- Anderson, K. L., Whitlock, J. E., Harwood., V. J., 2005. Persistence and differential survival of fecal indicator bacteria in subtropical waters and sediments. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 71 (oalition), 3041–3048.

ANONYMOUS (a), 2008. online.

URL http://www.gs24.pl/apps/pbcs.dll/article?AID=/20081020/AKTUALNOSCI/ 119114031

ANONYMOUS (b), 2008. online. URL http://www.rmf24.pl/fakty/polska/news-salmonella-w-mie% dzyzdrojachna-prawo-od-mola,nId,181953

ANONYMOUS (c), 2008. online. URL http://www.gp24.pl/apps/pbcs.dll/article?AID=/20080807/POMORZE/ 410921325

Arnold, L., 1974. Stochastic differential equations. Wiley, New York.

Atwill, R., Lewis, D., Pereira, M., Huerta, M., Bond, R., Ogata, S., Bass, P., 2004.
Characterizing freshwater inflows and sediment reservoirs of fecal coliforms and *E. coli* at five estuaries in Northern California.

URL http://ucce.ucdavis.edu/files/filelibrary/2161/41255

Auchenthaler, A., Huggenberger, P., 2003. Pathogene Mikroorganismen im Grund- und Trinkwasser: Transport - Nachweismethode - Wassermanagement. Birkhaus Verlag Basel - Boston - Berlin.

- Bachor, A., 2005. Nährstoff- und Schwermetallbilanzen der Küstengewässer Mecklenburg-Vorpommerns unter besonderer Berücksichtigung ihrer Sedimente. Ph.D. thesis, Landesamt für Umwelt, Naturschutz und Geologie M-V.
- Baggesen, D. L., Sandvang, D., Aarestrup, F. M., 2000. Characterization of Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhimurium DT104 Isolated from Denmark and Comparison with Isolates from Europe and the United States . Journal of Clinical Mircobiology 38(4), 1581–1586.
- Baker-Austin, C., Stockley, L., Rangdale, R., Martinez-Urtaza, 2010. Environmental occurrence and clinical impact of Vibrio vulnificus and Vibrio parahaemolyticus: a European perspective. Environmental Microbiology Reports 2, 7–18.
- Baker-Austin, C., Trinanes, J. A., Taylor, N. G. H., Hartnell, R., Siitonen, A., Martinez-Urtaza, J., 2012. Warming Seas and Vibrio disease. In: International Symposium on pathogenic Vibrio spp. in Northern European Waters.
- Baker-Austin, C., Trinanes, J. A., Taylor, N. G. H., Hartnell, R., Siitonen, A., Martinez-Urtaza, J., 2013. Emerging Vibrio risk at high latitudes in response to ocean warming. Nature Climate Change 3, 73–77.
- Banas, N. S., Hickey, B. M., Newton, J. A., Ruesink, J. L., 2007. Tidal exchange, bivalve grazing, and patterns of primary production in Willapa Bay, Washington, USA 341, 123–139.
- Bangel, H., Schernewski, G., Bachor, A., M.Landsber-Uczciwek, 2004. Spatial pattern and long-term development of water quality in the Oder Estuary. In: Marine Science Reports No 57. Institute for Baltic Sea Research.
- Batchelder, H. P., 2006. Forward-in-Time-/Backward-in-Time-Trajectory (FITT/BITT) Modeling of Particles and Organisms in the Coastal Ocean. Journal of Atmosphereic and oceanic Technology 23, 727–741.
- Batchelor, G. K., 2000. An Introduction of Fluid Dynamics. Cambridge University Press, ISBN 0-521-66396-2.
- Battenberg, L., 2007. Versuch der Eintragsquellenanalyse von Salmonellen in ausgewählten bayerischen Schweinehaltungsbetrieben. Ph.D. thesis, Tierärztlichen Fakultät der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München.
- Baudart, J., Grabulos, J., Barusseau, J.-P., Lebaron, P., 2000. Salmonella spp. and Fecal Coliform Loads in Coastal Waters from a Point vs. Nonpoint Source of Pollution. Journal of environmental quality 29, 241–250.
- Bauer, R., Stepputtis, D., Gräwe, U., Zimmermann, C., Hammer, C., 2013. Wind-induced variability in coastal larval retention areas: a case study on Western Baltic springspawning herring. Fisheries Oceanography published online 2013/04.

- Bell, C., Kyriakides, A., 2002. Salmonella- A practical approach to the organism and its control in foods. Blackwell Science Ltd.
- Blackwell, K., Oliver, J., 2008. The ecology of *Vibrio vulnificus*, *Vibrio cholerae*, and *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* in North Carolina estuaries. J Microbiol 46(2), 146–153.
- Breivik, Ø., Bekkvik, T. C., Wettre, C., Ommundsen, A., 2012. BAKTRAK: backtracking drifting objects using an iterative algorithm with a forward trajectory model. Ocean Dyamics 62(2), 239–252.
- Brenner, D. J., Krieg, N. R., Staley, J. R., Garrity, G., 2005. The proteobacteria, the gammaproteobacteria. In: Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology. 2. Auflage. 2, Nr. B. Springer US.
- Brennholt, N., Bartelt, E., Gerdts, G., Hauk, G., Luden, K., Oberbeckmann, S., Ramdohr, S., Reifferscheid, G., Strauch, E., Wehrmann, A., Böer, S., 2010. Bericht über den Workshop "Pathogene Vibrionen in der marinen Umwelt"- Bundesanstalt für Gewässerkunde (BfG) am 14./15. April. Tagungsbericht.
- Briese, H., Heinemeyer, E. A., 1989. Badewasserhygiene an der niedersächsischen Nordseeküste. Niedersächsisches Ärzteblatt 5, 12–14, for details please contact: ernst-august.heinemeyer@nlga.niedersachsen.de.
- Bundesamt, U., 2012. Beherrschung der Gewässereutrophierung. online. URL http://www.umweltbundesamt.de/wasser/themen/trinkwasser/ eutrophierung.htm
- Bundesamt für Seeschifffahrt und Hydrographie, 2010. Small craft charts. URL http://www.bsh.de/de/Produkte/Kartenkatalog/Katalog.jsp
- Burchard, H., Bolding, K., 2002. GETM a general estuarine transport model. Scientific documentation. Technical Report EUR 20253 EN. Tech. rep., European Commission. URL www.getm.eu
- Burchard, H., Janssen, F., Bolding, K., Umlauf, L., Rennau, H., 2009. Model simulations of dense bottom currents in the Western Baltic Sea. Continental Shelf Research 29 (1), 205–220.

URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6VBJ-4PW5XRG-1/2/ 7d2ac276b491066ae796353632cb620a

- Burchard, H., Schernewski, G., 2008. Physikalische und Ökologische Auswirkungen einer Kühlwasserausbreitung im Greifswalder Bodden. Kühlwasserstudie – Endbericht, Leibniz Institut für Ostseeforschung.
- Böer, S., Hauk, G., Duty, O., Luden, K., Heinemeyer, E. A., Brennholt, N., 2012. Pathogenic *Vibrio* species in German coastal waters of the North Sea and the Baltic

Sea - a comparison. In: International Symposium on pathogenic *Vibrio spp.* in Northern European Waters.

- Böer, S., Heinemeyer, E., Luden, K., Gerdts, R. E. G., Janssen, F., Brennholt, N., 2013. Temporal and Spatial Distribution Patterns of Potentially Pathogenic Vibrio spp. at Recreational Beaches of the German North Sea. Microb Ecol 65, 1052–1067.
- Callies, U., Plüß, A., Kappenberg, J., Kapitza, H., 2011. Particle tracking in the vicinity of Helgoland, North Sea: a model comparison. Ocean Dynamics 61(12), 2121–2139.
- Chang, J., Ossoff, S., Lobe, D., Dorfman, M., Dumais, C., Qualls, R., Johnson, J., 1985. UV inactivation of pathogenic and indicator microorganisms. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 49 (6), 1361–1365.
- Charles, W., van den Berg, E., Lin, H., Heemink, A., 2009. Adaptive stochastic numerical scheme in parallel random walk models or transport problems in shallow waters. Mathematial and Computer Modelling 50, 1177–1187.
- Chase, E., Harwood, V. J., 2011. Comparison of the Effects of Environmental Parameters on Growth Rates of *Vibrio vulnificus* Biotypes I, II, and III by Culture and Quantitative PCR Analysis. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 77(12), 4200–4207.
- Chick, H., 1908. Investigation of the law of desinfection. Journal of Hygiene 8, 92–158.
- Clark, R., Geldreich, E., Fox, K., Rice, E., Johnson, C., Goodrich, J., Barnick, J., Abdesaken, F., 1996. Tracking a *Salmonella serovar typhimurium* outbreak in Gideon, Missouri: role of contaminant propagation modeling. Journal of Water Supply: Research and Technology - Aqua 45, 171–183.
- Coastal Information System Oder Estuary, 2004-2007. Sedimentart (substrat / korngröße der oberflächensedimente). online. URL http://www.ikzm-oder.de/en/steckbrief_sedimentart.html
- Council of Ministers Republic of Poland, 2008. The National Environmental Policy for 2009-2012 and its 2016 outlook.
- Dechet, A., Yu, P., Koram, N., 2008. Nonfoodborne Vibrio infections: an important cause of morbidity and mortality in the United States, 1997–2006. Clin Infect Dis 46, 970–976.
- Depellegrin, D., 2008. GENESIS GENeric European Sustainable Information Space for Environment Proposal 223996 - DG-INFSO Call FP7-ICT-2007-2 Thematic / IT Convergence workshop WQ1: Pilot Oder/Odra estuary.
- Dionisio, L., Joao, M., Ferreiro, V., Fidalgo, M., Rosado, M., Borrego, J., 2000. Occurence of *Salmonella* spp. in estuarine and coastal waters of Portugal. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek 78, 99–106.

- Drake, S., Depaola, A., Jaykus, L., 2007. An overview of Vibrio vulnificus and Vibrio parahaemolyticus. Comprehensive Reviews. Food science and Food Safety 6(4), 120– 144.
- Dueri, S., Marinov, D., Fiandrino, A., Tronczyński, J., Zaldívar, J.-M., 2010. Implementation of a 3D Coupled Hydrodynamic and Contaminant Fate Model for PCDD/Fs in Thau Lagoon (France): The Importance of Atmospheric Sources of Contamination. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 7(4), 1467–1485.
- Duwe, K., 1988. Modellierung der Brackwasserdynamik eines Tideästuars am Beispiel der Unterelbe. Ph.D. thesis, University Hamburg.
- Dworkin, M., Flakow, S., Rosenberg, E., Schleifer, K.-H., Stackebrandt, E., 2006. Proteobacteria: Gamma Subclass in The Prokaryotes A handbook on the biology of bacteria Volume 6. Springer Science and Business Media, LLC.
- Efstratiou, M., Tsirtis, G., 2009. Do 2006/7/EC European union bathing water standards exclude the risk of contact with *Salmonella* or *Candida albicans*? Marine Pollution Bulletin 58(7), 1039–1044.
- Eidam, J., Lehmann, J., Puff, T., 1997. Einfluß des Phasenbestandes von Schwebstoffen und Sedimenten des Odermündungsgebietes auf die Bindung und Mobilisierung von Schwermetallen – Beitrag zur Bilanzierung von Stoffaustauschprozessen. In: Greifswalder Bodden und Oderästuar – Austauschprozesse (GOAP) Abschlußbericht 1997 Teilprojekt 4. Institut für Geologische Wissenschaften, Ernst-Moritz-Arndt-Universität Greifswald.
- Ellermeier, C., Slauch, J., 2006. The Prokaryotes A handbook on the biology of bacteria Volume 6 Proteobacteria: Gamma Subclass. Springer Science and Business Media, LLC, Ch. The Genus Salmonella, pp. 123–158.
- European Comission, 2000. Water quality improvement in Szczecin, Stage I. URL http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/funds/download/ispa/poland/pol_ watszczecin_en.pdf
- European Environment Agency, 2010. Quality of bathing water 2009 bathing season. EEA report No 3/2010.
- European Environment Agency, 2012a. European bathing water quality in 2011. EEA Report No 3/2012.

European Environment Agency, 2012b. Maps and data. online. URL http://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/figures/ modelled-conditions-for-summer-tourism

European Environment Agency, 2013a. European bathing water quality in 2012. online. URL http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/european-bathing-water-quality-2012

- European Environment Agency, 2013b. Eye on earth water watch. online. URL http://eyeonearth.org/map/WaterWatch/
- European Union, 1976. Directive 1976/7/ECC of the European Parliament and the Council. Council Directive of 8 December 1975 concerning the quality of bathing water. URL http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/site/en/consleg/1976/L/ 01976L0160-20030605-en.pdf
- European Union, 2006. Directive 2006/7/EC of the European Parliament and the Council. Official Journal of the European Union.
- Ferguson, C., Coote, B., Ashbolt, N., Stevenson, I., 1996. Relationships between indicators pathogens and water quality in an estuarine system. Water Research 30, 2045–2054.
- Fiandrino, A., Martin, Y., Got, P., Bonnefont, J. L., Troussellier, M., 2003. Bacterial contamination of Mediterranean coastal seawater as affected by riverine inputs: simulation approach applied to a shellfish breeding area (Thau lagoon, France). Water Research 37 (8), 1711–1722.
- Field, R., Sullivan, D., Tafuri, A., 2004. Management of Combined Sewer Overflows. lewis Publishers.
- Flather, R. A., 1976. A tidal model of the northwest European continental shelf. Memoires de la Societe Royale de Sciences de Liege 10 (6), 141–164.
- Flesch, T. K., Wilson, J. D., Yee, E., 1995. Backward-time Lagrangian stochastic dispersion models and their application to estimate gaseous emissions. J. Appl. Meteor 34, 1320–1332.
- Foundation for Environmental Education, 2012. Blue flag. online. URL http://www.blueflag.org/Menu/Awarded+sites
- Frank, C., Littmann, M., Alpers, K., Hallauer, J., 2006. Vibrio vulnificus wound infection after contact with the Baltic Sea, Germany. Eurosurveillance 11, 8.
- Friesa, J. S., Characklisb, G. W., Noblea, R., 2008. Sediment-water exchange of Vibrio sp. and fecal indicator bacteria: Implications for persistence and transport in the Neuse River Estuary, North Carolina, USA. Water Research 42, 941–950.
- Froelich and Sporbeck (Institut f
 ür Angewandete Ökologie), 2008. UVU zur Errichtung und Betrieb des Gas- und Dampfturbinenkraftwerks Lubmin III EWN, Anlage 30: Fischereigutachten Greifswalder Bodden.
- Fuhrman, J. A., Hewson, I., Schwalbach, M. S., Steele, J. A., Brown, M. V., Naeem, S., 2006. Annually reoccurring bacterial communities are predictable from ocean conditions. PNAS 103(35), 13104–13109.

- Galeés, P., Baleux, B., 1992. Influence of the drainage basin input on a pathogenic bacteria (Salmonella) contamination of a Mediterranean lagoon (the Thau lagoon-France) and the survival of this bacteria in brackish water. Water Science Technology 25, 105–114.
- Gimbel, R., 1998. Neue Erkenntnisse zur weitergehenden Partikelentfernung. gwf Wasser Abwasser 139(13), 43–50.
- Glockzin, M., 2006. Dependency of the benthic colonisation of selected areas in the Pomeranian Bay (Southern Baltic Sea) on selected environmental factors. Master's thesis, Leibniz Institute for Baltic Sea Research Warnemünde.
- Golikov, A. N., Dolgolenko, M. A., Maximovich, N. V., Scarlato, A., 1990. Theoretical approaches to marine biogeography. Marine Ecology Progress Series 63, 289–301.
- Grant, W., 2004. Life at low water activity. Phil Trans R Soc B 359, 1249–1267.
- Graw, M., Borchardt, D., 1995. Hygienerelevante Belastungen von Fließgewässern -Bewertung und Sanierungsmöglichkeiten am Beispiel Lahn. gwf Wasser Abwasser 136(11), 567–571.
- Gräwe, U., 2011. Implementation of high-order particle-tracking schemes in a water column model. Ocean Modelling 36(1-2), 80-89. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6VPS-51921D4-1/2/ 60d44421013d174da110122758c89004
- Gräwe, U., Deleersnijder, E., Shah, S., Heemink, A., 2012. Why the the Euler scheme in particle tracking is not enough: the shallow-sea pycnocline test case. Ocean Dynamics 62, 501–514.

URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10236-012-0523-y

- Gräwe, U., Friedland, R., Burchard, H., 2013. The future of the Western Baltic Sea: two possible scenarios. Ocean Dynamics accepted.
- Gräwe, U., Wolff, J.-O., Ribbe, J., 2010. Impact of climate variability on an east Australian bay. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 86 (2), 247-257. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6WDV-4XSJVTB-1/2/ b9c2cdd85e6f1db7bdd2846caa0987db
- Hagendorf, U., Bartocha, W., Feuerpfeil, I., Diehl, K., Hummel, A., Lopez-Pila, J., Szewzyk, R., 2004. Mikrobiologische Untersuchungen zur seuchenhygienischen Bewertung naturnaher Abwasserbehandlungsanlagen. KA Korrespondenz Abwasser Abfall 51 (5), 500–510.
- Hauk, G., 2012. Vibrio-Infektionen und Ergebnisse von Badewasser-Untersuchungen in MV. In: Symposium Vibrionen als mögliche Krankheitserreger in der Ostsee – Bedeutung für Klinik und Praxis.

- Havemeister, G., 1989. Natürliche Badegewasser unter hygienisch-mikrobiologischen Gesichtspunkten. In: K. 0. Gundermann (Hrsg) (Ed.), Baden in Nord- und Ostsee: Eine Bestandsaufnahme aus medizinischer und ökologischer Sicht. Heilbaderverb. Schleswig-Holstein e. V. Kiel, 5-22.
- Havens, H., Luther, M. E., Meyers, S. D., 2009. A coastal prediction system as an event response tool: Particle tracking simulation of an anhydrous ammonia spill in Tampa Bay. Marine Pollution Bulletin 58, 1202–1209.
- HELCOM Helsinki Commission, 2006. Less intense algal blooms likely this summer in the northern Baltic Sea. online. URL http://www.helcom.fi/press_office/news_helcom/2006/en_GB/

AlgalBlooms2006/

- HELCOM Helsinki Commission, 2013. The marine environment. online. URL http://www.helcom.fi/environment2/nature/en_GB/nature/
- HELCOM Helsinki Commission, Baltic Marine Environment Protection Commission, 2010. Ecosystem Health of the Baltic Sea 2003–2007 HELCOM Initial Holistic Assessment. HELCOM.
- HLRN, 2007. North-German Supercomputing Alliance (HLRN). URL www.hlrn.de
- Hofmeister, R., Burchard, H., Beckers, J.-M., 2010. Non-uniform adaptive vertical grids for 3D numerical ocean models. Ocean Modelling 33 (1-2), 70-86. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6VPS-4Y0T98R-1/2/ 6f4ca54dcbc6bcea4069f6e1cf912a14
- Hofmeister, R., Burchard, H., Bolding, K., 2009. A three-dimensional model study on processes of stratification and de-stratification in the Limfjord. Continental Shelf Research 29 (11-12), 1515–1524.

URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6VBJ-4W38RMG-2/2/ e0b4227e1ea2093c0ab35f9048ae2bc1

- Høi, L., Larsen, J., Dalsgaard, I., Dalsgaard, A., 1998. Occurrence of Vibrio vulnificus Biotypes in Danish Marine Environments. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 64, 7–13.
- Hunt, N. K., Mariñas, B. J., 1999. Inactivation of *Escherichia coli* with ozone: chemical and inactivation kinetics. Water Research 33 (11), 2633–2641.
- Hunter, J. R., Craig, P., Phillips, H. E., 1993. On the use of random walk models with spatially variable diffusivity. Journal of Computational Physics 106, 366–376.
- Hupfer, P., 2010. Die Ostsee- kleines Meer mit großen Problemen. E.Schweitzerbart'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung, 5. Aufl. Stuttgart.

- ICES, 2011. Report of the ICES Advisory Committee, 2011. ICES Advice Book 8, 135 pp.
- IKZM Oder, 2007. Küsteninformationssystems Odermündung. URL http://www.ikzm-oder.de
- Ingraham, J., Marr, A., 1987. Escherichia coli and Salmonella typhimurium. ASM Press Washington DC, pp. 1570–1572.
- Institute for Meteorology and Water Management Poland, 2010a. Development plans for aquatic tourism.

URL http://www.imgw.pl/wl/internet/zz/english/index.html

Institute for Meteorology and Water Management Poland, 2010b. New Bathing Directive in Poland.

URL http://www.imgw.pl/wl/internet/zz/english/index.html

- Jaenicke, R., Sterner, R., 2013. The Prokaryotes Prokaryotic Communities and Ecophysiology. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Ch. Life at high temperature, pp. 337–375.
- Janssen, U., 1996. Investigations on Vibrionaceae in Wholesale- and Retail Seafood and their importance for human health. Ph.D. thesis, University of Hannover. URL http://elib.tiho-hannover.de/dissertations/liste-summary96.htm
- J.J. Farmer III and F.W. Hickman-Brenner, 2006. The Prokaryotes A handbook on the biology of bacteria Volume 6 Proteobacteria: Gamma Subclass. Springer S, Ch. The Genera Vibrio and Photobacterium, pp. 508–563.
- Jones, M., Oliver, J., 2009. Vibrio vulnificus: disease and pathogenesis. Infect Immun 77, 1723–1733.
- Kashefipour, S. M., Lin, B., Harris, E., Falconer, R. A., 2002. Hydro-environmental modelling for bathing water compliance of an estuarine basin. Water Research 36 (7), 1854–1868.
- Kinzelman, J., McLellan, S., 2009. Success of science-based best management practices in reducing swimming bans – a case study from Racine, Wisconsin, USA. Aquat Ecosyst Heal Manag 12(2), 187–196.
- Kirschner, A. K. T., Schlesinger, J., Farnleitner, A. H., Hornek, R., Süß, B., Golda, B., Herzig, A., Reitner, B., 2008. Rapid growth of Planktonic Vibrio cholerae Non-O1/Non-O139 Strains in a Large Alkaline Lake in Austria: Dependence on Temperature and Dissolved Organic Carbon Quality. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 74, 2004–2015.
- Kistemann, T., Christoffels, E., Franke, C., Rechenburg, A., Willkomm, M., Exner, M., 2008. Abschlussbericht zum Forschungsprojekt Mikrobielle Belastung der Fließgewässer aus diffusen Eintragspfaden am Beispiel der Swist.

URL http://www.lanuv.nrw.de/wasser/abwasser/forschung/pdf/ %Abschlussbericht_Swist%20III.pdf

Kistemann, T., Koch, C., Classen, T., Rechenburg, A., Kramer, F., Herbst, S., Franke, C., Rind, E., Höser, C., Exner, M., 2009. Mikrobielle Fließgewässerbelastungen durch abwassertechnische Anlagen und diffuse Einträge. Ministerium für Umwelt, Naturschutz, Landwirtschaft und Verbraucherschutz NRW.

URL www.umwelt.nrw.de/umwelt/pdf/mikro.pdf

- Kreikenbaum, S., 2004. Hygienische Probleme bei Regenwetter. Gas Wasser Abwasser 11, 807 815.
- Kriss, A. E., 1963. Marine microbiology (Deep-Sea). Trans. by J. M. Shewan and Z. Kabata.
- Lamb, H., 1994 [1932]. Hydrodynamics (6th ed.). Cambridge University Press, ISBN 9780521458689.
- Lampe, R., 1994. Die vorpommerschen Boddengewässer- Hydrographie, Bodenablagerungen und Küstendynamik. Die Küste 56, 25–49.
- Lampe, R., Meyer, H., 1995. Sedimentqualität und hydrographische Bedingungen ein Vergleich verschiedener Boddengewässer. BODDEN 2, 7–26.
- Landesamt für Gesundheit und Soziales Mecklenburg Vorpommern, September 2010. Vibrionen - Krankheitserreger in der Ostsee.
- Landesamt für Umwelt, Naturschutz und Geologie Mecklenburg-Vorpommern, 2008. Aktuelle Bewertung der Gewässergüte und Bewirtschaftungsziele für den Greifswalder Bodden. Landesamt für Umwelt, Naturschutz und Geologie Mecklenburg-Vorpommern.
- Lass, H., Mohrholz, V., Seifert, T., 2001. On the dynamics of the Pomeranian Bight. Continental Shelf Research 21, 1237–1261.
- Lehmann, A., Getzlaff, K., Harlass, J., 2011. Detailed assessment of climate variability of the Baltic Sea area for the period 1958–2009. Clim Res 46, 185–196.
- Leipe, T., Tauber, F., Vallius, H., Virtasalo, J., Uścinowicz, S., Kowalski, N., Hille, S., Lindgren, S., Myllyvirta, T., 2011. Particulate organic carbon (POC) in surface sediments of the Baltic Sea. Geo-Marine Letters 31, 175–188.
- Lemarchand, K., Lebaron, P., 2003. Occurrence of Salmonella spp. and Cryptosporidium spp. in a French coastal watershed: relationship with fecal indicators. FEMS Microbiology Letters 218, 203–209.
- Lorrai, C., Umlauf, L., Becherer, J. K., Lorke, A., Wüest, A., 2011. Boundary mixing in lakes: 2. Combined effects of shear and convectively induced turbulence on basin scale mixing. Journal of Geophysical Research 116, C10018, doi:10.1029/2011JC007121.

- Lévy, M., Resplandy, L., Klein, P., Capet, X., Iovino, D., Ethé a, C., 2012. Grid degradation of submesoscale resolving ocean models: Benefits for offline passive tracer transport. Ocean Modelling 48, 1–9.
- Mallin, M., Williams, K., Esham, E., Lowe, R., 2000. Effect of Human Development on Bacteriological Water Quality in Coastal Watersheds. Ecological Applications 10(4), 1047–1056.
- Mansilha, C., Coelho, C., Reinas, A., Mouinho, A., Ferreira, S., Pizarro, C., Tavares, A., 2010. Salmonella: The fogotten pathogen: Health hazards of compliance with European Bathing Water Legislation. Marine Pollution Bulletin 60, 819–826.
- Marler, B., 2011. Everything you wanted to know about *E. coli* But really didn't. online. URL http://www.foodpoisonjournal.com/food-poisoning-inform%ation/ everything-you-wanted-to-know-about-e-coli-but-really-didnt/%23. UdKzLFTc%K_4
- MARLISCO Project Office, last visit 2013/07/29. Marlisco- stopping marine litter together. online. URL http://www.marlisco.eu/index.en.html
- Max-Planck-Institute for Marine Microbiology, 2009. EMBARGO until 17 September 2009 Arctic bacteria — some like it hot. online.
- Mazur, P., 1980. Limits to Life at Low Temperatures and at Reduced Water Contents and Water Activities. Limits of Life 4, 1–23.
- McFeters, G. A., Bissonnette, G. K., Jezeski, J. J., Thomson, C. A., Stuart, D. G., 1974. Comparative Survival of Indicator Bacteria and Enteric Pathogens in Well Water. Appl Environ Microbiol 27(5), 823–829.
- McNair-Scott, D. B., Lesher, E. C., 1963. Effect of ozone on the survival and permeability of *Escherichia coli*. Journal of Bacteriology 85 (3), 567–576.
- Medema, G., Bahar, M., Schets, F., 1997. Survival of Cryptosporidium Parvum, Escherichia Coli, faecal Enterococci and Clostridium Perfringens in river water: Influence of temperature and autochthonous microrganisms. Water Science Technology 35(11-12), 249-252.
- Mehlhart, G., Klaus, U., 2002. Vergleich verschiedener Systeme zur Nutzung von Grauwasser und Regenwasser – bauliche und betriebliche Aspekte, Praxiserfahrungen, Einsatzgebiete und Wirtschaftlichkeit. Technische Akademie Hannover e.V. (Hrsg.), Seminarband: Praxiserfahrungen mit Techniken für abwasserfreie Häuser – Beispiele, Einsatzbereiche, rechtliche und wirtschaftliche Aspekte 1, 2.
- Mezrioui, N., Baleux, B., 1992. Effects of temperature, pH and solar radiation on survival of sanitary interest bacteria, in waste water treated by purifying lagoon. Revue Des Science De L'eau 5, 573–591.
- Mezrioui, N., Baleux, B., Troussellier, M., 1995. A microcosm study of the survival of *Escherichia Coli* and *Salmonella Typhimurium* in brackish water. Water Research 29(2), 159–465.
- Miller, J. M., Pietrafesa, L. J., Smith, N. P., 1990. Principles of hydraulic management of coastal lagoons for aquaculture and fisheries. FAO Fish. Tech. Pap. 314, 88 pp,.
- Miller, S., Pegues, D., 2000. Principles and Practice of Infectious Diseases. Ch. Salmonella species including Salmonella typhi, pp. 2344–2363.
- Ministerium für Arbeit, Gleichstellung und Soziales Mecklenburg-Vorpommern, 2012. Badewasserqualitätsprofile. online.

URL http://www.regierung-mv.de/cms2/Regierungsportal_prod/ Regierungsportal/de/sm/Themen/Gesundheit_und_Arbeitsschutz/Der_ oeffentliche_Gesundheitsdienst/Badewasserqualitaet/Badewasserkarte/ index.jsp

- Mohrholz, V., 1998. Transport und Vermischungsprozesse in der Pommerschen Bucht. In: Marine Science Reports Warnemünde No 33. Institute for Baltic Sea Research Warnemuende.
- Mohrholz, V., Lass, H., 1998. Transport between Oderhaff and Pomeranian Bight a simple bartotropic box model. German Journal of Hydrography 50 (4), 371–383.
- Moore, B., Martinez, E., Gay, J., D.H., R., 2003. Survival of Salmonella enterica in Freshwater and Sediments and Transmission by the Aquatic Midge Chironomus tentans (Chironomidae: Diptera). Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 69(8), 4556–4560.
- Moriñigo, M., Coèrnax, R., Munì oz, M., Romero, P., Borrego, J., 1990. Relationship between Salmonella spp. and indicator microorganisms in polluted natural waters. Water Research 24, 117–120.
- Muhsin Özel, G. (Holland/ Robert Koch Institute), 2012. Electronic microscope picture of Vibrio cholerae. online. URL http://www.rki.de/SharedDocs/Bilder/InfAZ/Vibrio_cholerae/EM_Leo_ 7-02b_Vibrio_cholerae_JPG.jpg%3F__blob%3DpublicationFile%26v%3D3
- Nabbut, N. H., Kurayiyyah, F., 1972. Survival of *Salmonella typhi* in sea-water. Journal of Hygiene Cambridge 70, 233.
- Nagai, T., Yamazaki, H., Kamykowski, D., 2003. A Lagrangian photoresponse model coupled with 2nd-order turbulence closure. Marine Ecology Progress Series 265, 17–30.

- Navas, J. M., Telfera, T. C., Rossa, L. G., 2011. Application of 3D hydrodynamic and particle tracking models for better environmental management of finfish culture. Continental Shelf Research 31 (6), 675–684.
- Nikulin, G., Kjellström, E., Hansson, U., Strandberg, G., Ullerstig, A., 2011. Evaluation and future projections of temperature, precipitation and wind extremes over Europe in an ensemble of regional climate simulations. Tellus A 63(1), 41–55.
- Novotny, L., Dvorska, L., Lorencova, A., Beran, V., Pavlik, I., 2004. Fish: a potential source of bacterial pathogens for human beings. Vet. Med. Czech 49, 343–358.
- Oberbeckmann, S., Fuchs, B. M., Meiners, M., Wichels, A., Wiltshire, K. H., Gerdts, G., 2012. Seasonal Dynamics and Modeling of a *Vibrio* Community in Coastal Waters of the North Sea. Microb Ecol 63, 543–551.
- Oliver, J., 2000. The viable but nonculturable state and cellular resuscitation. In: Proceedings of the 8th International Symposium on Microbial Ecology. Atlantic Canada Society for Microbial Ecology, Halifax, Canada, pp. 723–730.
- Oliver, J., 2005. Wound infections caused by *Vibrio vulnificus* and other marine bacteria. Epidemiology and Infection 133, 383–391.
- Oliver, J. D., 2013. *Vibrio vulnificus*: Death on the Half Shell. A Personal Journey with the Pathogen and its Ecology. Microb Ecol 65, 793–799.
- Oliver, J. D., Hite, F., McDougald, D., Andon, N. L., Simpson, L. M., 1995. Entry into, and resuscitation from, the viable but nonculturable state by *Vibrio vulnificus* in an estuarine environment. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 61, 2624–2630.
- Oren, A., 2007. Physiology and biochemistry of extremophiles. ASM Press Washington DC, Ch. Biodiversity in high saline environments, pp. 223–231.
- Oren, A., 2013. The Prokaryotes Prokaryotic Communities and Ecophysiology. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Ch. Life at high salt concentrations, pp. 421–441.
- Papiri, S., Ciaponi, C., Capodaglio, A., Collivignarelli, C., Bertanza, G., Swartling, F., Crow, M., Fantozzi, M., Valcher, P., 2003. Field monitoring and evaluation of innovative solutions for cleaning storm water runoff. Water Science Technology 47(7-8), 327–334.
- Parvathi, A., Kumar, H. S., Karunasagar, I., Karunasagar, I., 2004. Detection and enumeration of *Vibrio vulnificus* in oysters from two estuaries along the southwest coast of India, using molecular methods. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70, 6909–6913.
- Pernthaler, J., 2013. The Prokaryotes Prokaryotic Communities and Ecophysiology. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Ch. Freshwater microbial communities, pp. 97–112.
- Pfeffer, C. S., Hite, M. F., Oliver, J. D., 2003. Ecology of Vibrio vulnificus in estuarine waters of eastern North Carolina. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 69, 3526–3531.

- Pietrzak, J., 1998. The Use of TVD Limiters for Forward-in-Time Upstream-Biased Advection Schemes in Ocean Modeling. Monthly Weather Review 126, 812–830.
- Polo, F., Figueras, M., Inza, I., Sala, J., Fleisher, J., Guarro, J., 1998. Relationship between presence of *Salmonella* and indicators of faecal pollution in aquatic habitats. FEMS Microbiology Letters 160, 253-256.
 URL http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9532745
- Popoff, M., j. Bockemuhl, Brenner, F., Gheesling, L., 2001. Supplement 2000 (No 44) to the Kauffmann-White scheme. Res. Microbiol 152, 907–909.
- Poremba, K., 1991. Salmonellen im Meer. Biologie in unserer Zeit 2, 81-84.
- Radziejewska, T., Schernewski, G., 2008. The Szczecin (Oder-) Lagoon. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, Ch. Ecology of Baltic Coastal Waters. Ecological Studies 197, pp. 115–129.
- Randa, M. A., Polz, M. F., Lim, E., 2004. Effects of temperature and salinity on Vibrio vulnificus population dynamics as assessed by quantitative PCR. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70, 5469–5476.
- Rao, K., 2007. Source estimation methods for atmospheric dispersion. Atmos Environ 41(33), 6964–6973.
- Rechenburg, A., Koch, C., Claßen, T., Kistemann, T., 2006. Impact of sewage treatment plants and combined sewer overflow basins on the microbiological quality of surface water. Water Science Technology 54(3), 95–99.
- Rehnstam-Holm, A.-S., Godhe, A., 2012. Dynamics of *Vibrio* spp. in relation to phytoplankton community composition and environmental conditions. In: International Symposium on pathogenic *Vibrio spp.* in Northern European Waters.
- Rheinheimer, G., 1977. Bakteriologisch-ökologische Untersuchungen in Sandstränden an Nord- und Ostsee. Botanica Marina XX, 385–400.
- Rhodes, M. W., Kator, H., 1988. Survival of *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella* spp. in estuarine environments. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 54, 2902–2907.
- Riegler, E., 01 2002. Beeinflussung der bakteriologischen Wasserqualität der Isar durch Regenentlastungen. Mitglieder-Rundbrief ATV-DVWK Landesverband Bayern, pp. 40– 41.
- Robakowski, H., 2012. Der Greifswalder Bodden langfristige Entwicklung der Gewässergüte im Hinblick auf Nutzungen. Master's thesis, University of Rostock.
- Robert Koch-Institut, May 2012. Informationsbroschüre zu Nicht-Cholera-*Vibrionen* in Deutschland.

- Robert Potau Núñez, November 2011. Investigations of the impact of temperature and salinity on the growth of pathogenic *Vibrio spp.* isolates from the north sea. Bachelor Thesis, carried out at the Federal Institute of Hydrology, Department 3.
- Rocky Mountain Laboratories, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health, 2005. Color-enhanced scanning electron micrograph showing Salmonella Typhimurium (red) invading cultured human cells. online.
- Roijackers, R. M., Lürling, M., 2007. Climate Change and Bathing Water Quality. URL http://library.wur.nl/way/bestanden/clc/1878877.pdf
- Russell, H. L., 1892. Untersuchungen über im Golf von Neapel lebende Bacterien. Zeitschrift für Hygiene und Infektionskrankheiten 11(1), 165–206.
- Schernewski, G., Fischer, E., Huttula, T., Jost, G., Ras, M., 2012. Model tools to support bathing water quality management: *Escherichia coli* bacteria in a Baltic lagoon. Journal of Coastal Conservation 16 (4), 473–488.
- Schernewski, G., Huttula, T., Jülich, W. D., Podsechin, V., Tejakusuma, I., 2002. Water quality problems in Baltic coastal waters: The Odra river as a source of human pathogenic viruses. In: Proceedings of the International Conference Sustainable Management of Transboundary Waters in Europe, UNECE, 21-24.
- Schernewski, G., Janßen, H., 2007. Climate Change in the Oder Estuary Region: Benefits & Threats. In: Final International ASTRA Conference 10-11 December 2007, Espoo, Finland.
- Schernewski, G., Jülich, W. D., 2001. Risk assessment of virus infections in the Oder estuary (southern Baltic) on the basis of spatial transport and virus decay simulations. International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health 203, 317–325.
- Schernewski, G., Sterr, H., 2002. Tourism and environmental quality of the german baltic coast: Conflict or chance? In: Baltic Coastal Ecosystems Central and Eastern European Development Studies 2002.
- Schiewer, U., 2007. Ecology of Baltic Coastal Waters. Springer.
- Schilling, S. andGrömping, M., Kollbach, J., 1998. Perspektiven und Grenzen der Membrantechnologie für die kommunale und industrielle Abwasserbehandlung. wlb-Wasser Luft und Boden 7/8, 34–37.
- Schippmann, B., Schernewski, G., Gräwe, U., 2013a. Escherichia coli pollution in a Baltic Sea lagoon: A model-based source and spatial risk assessment. International Journal Hygiene and Environmental Health 216 (4), 408–420.
 URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2012.12.012

- Schippmann, B., Schernewski, G., Gräwe, U., Burchard, H., Walczykiewicz, T., 2013b. A model tool for bathing water quality management: A case study on *Salmonella* occurrence at the southern Baltic coast. Ocean and Coastal Management 82, 71–84.
- Schwarzer, K., Diesing, M., 2003. Erforschung der FFH-Lebensraumtypen Sandbank und Riff in der AWZ der deutschen Nord- und Ostsee. FKZ-Nr. 802 85 270, 2. Zwischenbericht. Institut für Geowissenschaften Christian-Albrechts-Universität. Kiel.
- Siegel, H., Gerth, M., 2000. Satellite-Based Studies of the 1997 Oder Flood Event in the Southern Baltic Sea. Remote Sensing of Environment 73, 207–217.
- Siegel, H., Gerth, M., Mutzke, A., 1999. Dynamics of the Oder river plume in the Southern Baltic Sea: satellite data and numerical modelling. Continental Shelf Research 19, 1143– 1159.
- Smith, N. P., 1994. Water, Salt and Heat Balance of Coastal Lagoons. Coastal Lagoon Processes, Elsevier Oceanography Series 60, 69–101.
- Spivakovskaya, D., 2007. Reverse-time diffusion in environmental models. Ph.D. thesis, Delft University of Technology.
- Statistical Government Poland, 2012. Last call 2013/02/07. URL http://www.stat.gov.pl
- Statistisches Amt Mecklenburg Vorpommern, 2011. Statistisches Jahrbuch 2011. Statistisches Amt Mecklenburg Vorpommern Schwerin.
- Stauder, M., Vezzulli, L., Pezzati, E., Repetto, B., Pruzzo, C., 2010. Temperature affects Vibrio cholerae O1 E1 Tor persitence in the aquatic environment via an enhanced expression of GbpA and MSHA adhesins. Environmental Microbiology Reports 2, 140– 144.
- Stohl, A., 1996. Trajectory statistics—a new method to establish source-receptor relationships of air pollutants and its application to the transport of particulate sulfate in Europe. Atmos Env 30(4), 579–587.
- Stohl, A., 2002. Computation, accuracy and applications of trajectories a review and bibliography. Dev Environ Sci 1, 615–654.
- Su, Y., Liu, C., 2007. Vibrio parahaemolyticus: a concern of seafood safety. Food Microbiol 24, 549–558.
- Tamplin, M., Rodrick, G., Blake, N., Cuba, T., 1982. Isolation and characterization of Vibrio vulnificus from two Florida estuaries. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 44(6), 1466– 1470.
- Teske, A., 2013. The Prokaryotes Prokaryotic Communities and Ecophysiology. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Ch. Marine Deep Sediment Microbial Communities, pp. 123–139.

- Theede, K., Pfeiffer, P., Skovbjerg, H., 2008. Septic shock after exposure to Vibrio vulnificus. Ugeskr Laeger 170(21), 1849.
- Tobias, H., Heinemeyer, E., 1994. Occurrence of *Salmonella* in coastal North Sea water and their hygienic relation to indicator bacteria and sources of contamination. International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Medicine 195(5-6), 495–508.
- Umlauf, L., Burchard, H., 2005. Second-order turbulence closure models for geophysical boundary layers. a review of recent work. Continental Shelf Research 25, 795–827.
- Umlauf, L., Burchard, H., Bolding, K., 2005. General Ocean Turbulence Model. Source code documentation. Tech. Rep. 63, Baltic Sea Research Institute Warnemünde, Warnemünde, Germany.
- Umweltbundesamt, June 2011. FAQ-EHEC: Häufig gestellte Fragen zu EHEC im Trinkund Badebeckenwasser. . online. URL www.umweltbundesamt.de/gesundheit/publikationen/faq_ehec.pdf
- United Nationes Environment Programmes, last visit 2013/07/29. Marine Litter. online. URL http://www.unep.org/regionalseas/marinelitter/
- van der Molen, J., Rogers, S. I., Ellis, J. R., Fox, C. J., McCloghrie, P., 2007. Dispersal patterns on the eggs and larvae of spring-spawning fish in the Irish Sea. Journal of Sea Research 58, 313–330.
- Vanoy, R. W., Tamplin, M. L., Schwarz, J. R., 1992. Ecology of Vibrio vulnificus in Galveston Bay oysters, suspended particulate matter, sediment and seawater" detection by monoclonal antibody- immunoassay- most probable number procedures. Journal of Industrial Microbiology 9, 219–223.
- Vezzulli, L., Brettar, I., Pezzati, E., Reid, P., Colwell, R. R., Höfle, M. G., Pruzzo, C., 2012. Long-term effects of ocean warming on prokaryotic community: evidence from the *Vibrios*. The ISME Journal 6, 21–30.
- Vezzulli, L., Pezzati, E., Moreno, M., M., F., Pane, L., C., P., the VibrioSea Consortium, 2009. Benthic ecology of Vibrio spp. and pathogenic Vibrio species in a coastal Mediterranean environment (La Spezia Gulf, Italy). Microb Ecol 59(4), 208–818.
- Vinten, A., Lewis, D., Fenlon, D., Leach, K., Howard, R., Svoboda, I., Ogden, I., 2002. Fate of *Escherichia coli* and *Escherichia coli* O157 in soils and drainage water following cattle slurry application at 3 sites in southern Scotland. Soil Use Manag 18(39), 223–231.
- Visser, A. W., 1997. Using random walk models to simulate the vertical distribution of particles in a turbulent water column. Marine Ecology Progress Series 158, 275–281.

Wait, D., Sobsey, M., 2001. Comparative survival of enteric viruses and bacteria in Atlantic Ocean seawater. Water Science and Technology : a Journal of the International Association on Water Pollution Research 43(12), 139–142.

Wasserwirtschaftsamt München, 2012. online.

URL http://www.wwa-m.bayern.de/wasser_erleben/badegewaesserqualitaet_ isar/index.htm

- Welch, R. A., 2006. The Prokaryotes A handbook on the biology of bacteria Volume 6 Proteobacteria Gamma Subclass. Springer Science and Business Media, LLC, Ch. The Genus *Escherichia*, pp. 60–72.
- Weyland, H., 1967. Beitrag zur quantitativen Verteilung mariner und "terrestrischer" Bakterien im Wasser und in Sedimenten der Deutschen Bucht. Helgoländer wissenschaftliche Meeresuntersuchungen 15(1-4), 226–242.
- Wheeler, E. A., Burke, J., Spain, A., 2003. Faecal indicator bacteria are abundant in wet sand at freshwater beaches. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 69, 5555–5562.
- Whiteman, R., Nevers, M., 2004. Escherichia coli Sampling Reliability at a frequently closed Chicago Beach: Monitoring and Management Implications. Environmental Science and Technology 38, 4241–4246.
- Williams, L. A., LaRock, P. A., 1985. Temporal occurrence of Vibrio species and Aeromonas hydrophila in estuarine sediments. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 50, 1490–1495.
- Wolk, F., 2003. Three dimensional Lagrangian tracer modelling in the Wadden Sea areas. Master's thesis, Carl von Ossietzky University Oldenburg, Hamburg, Germany.
- World Health Organisation, 2003. Guidlines for Safe Recreational Water Environments. Volume 1 Coastal and Fresh Waters. Geneva, Switzerland.
- World Health Organisation, 2009. Environment and health performance review Poland. URL http://www.euro.who.int/_data/assets/pdf_file/0005/9%5333/E92584. pdf

Veröffentlichungen

Schippmann, B., Schernewski, G., Gerhard Hauk, Nicole Brennholt, Simone Böer and Schwarz, F., Recurrence of potential human pathogenic *Vibrio* in a western Baltic Sea bay: analysis with a 3-D ocean model system, in preparation

Schernewski, G., **Schippmann**, **B.** and Walczykiewicz, T., Coastal bathing water quality and climate change – a new information and simulation system for new challenges, submitted to Estuarine and Coastal Shelf Science in March 2013

Schippmann, B., Schernewski, G., Gräwe, U., Burchard, H. and Walczykiewicz, T., 2013, A model tool for bathing water quality management: A case study on Salmonella occurrence at the southern Baltic coast. Ocean and Coastal Management 82: 71-84, doi:10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2013.05.006, impact factor 1.6

Schippmann, B., Schernewski, G. and Gräwe, U. 2013, Escherichia coli pollution in a Baltic Sea lagoon: A model-based source and spatial risk assessment. International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health 216 (4): 408-420, doi:10.1016/j.ijheh.2012.12.012, impact factor 3.0

Schippmann, B. and Burchard, H., 2011, Rosenbrock methods in biogeochemical modelling – A comparison to Runge–Kutta methods and modified Patankar schemes, Ocean Modelling 37: 112-121, doi:10.1016/j.ocemod.2011.01.007, impact factor 2.6

Schippmann, B., 2009, Comparison of Rosenbrock methods with modified Patankar schemes used in biogeochemical modelling, Diploma Thesis, University of Rostock

Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Ich versichere hiermit an Eides statt, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit selbstständig angefertigt und ohne fremde Hilfe verfasst habe. Dazu habe ich keine außer den von mir angegebenen Hilfsmitteln und Quellen verwendet und die den benutzten Werken inhaltlich und wörtlich entnommenen Stellen habe ich als solche kenntlich gemacht.

Rostock, 29.07.2013

Bianca Schippmann